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PREFACE

That this diary has a first part is just plain 1luck.
Before our regiment left Texas for the East Coast on
February 2, 1918, I had purchased a notebook in which I

kept a record of dates and events that were of interest
to me. But the notebook, along with whatever other personal

items I had in my pockets or on my person, were all taken
when my clothing had been cut off after I had been wounded.
I never expected to see any of my belongings again and, in
fact, I had entirely forgotten about them.

Almost a year after I had set aside my notes for
Part Two of this diary, my mother received a letter from
the War Department stating that if she could present proof
that she was .the mother of the deceased, Quiren Groessl,
certain personal belongings would be sent to her. It
didn't take me long to get off a letter to the War Depart-
ment saying that I was very much alive and that the personal
belongings should be sent to me. In due time, the parcel
arrived, It contained a prayer missal, twé letters and a
pocket notebook, all of which had been recovered from the
pockets of my uniform which had been cut off of me after
I had been wounded, and later retrieved by the Salvage
Section.

The two letters also brought back fond memories, as
well as vivid reminders of past fears, pain and sufferings.
One letter from a girl I had dated shortly before I en-
listed was covered with my dried blood. The other letter
was from a girl from my home town. It was not addressed
to me, nor was it intended for me, but by a very remote
chance came into my possession while in France. I was
able to put together Part One of this diary from the notes
and the two letters.

The notes for Part Two of this diary were put down
on paper months after the events occurred. During the
intervening time spent in various hospitals, I had gone
over each incident and every detail hundreds of times in
my mind. I could not close them out of my memory. At
the urging of one of my doctors, I put these thoughts down
on paper hoping that it would act as an escape valve
restoring my peace of mind.

The idea was a good one but carrying it out was some-
thing else. I had completely lost the use of my right hand
and arm and the left arm had only limited function. Each
time I tried to write a word, the paper was pushed away
by the pencil. My determination to learn to write left-
handed, and my ability to do so, were many weeks apart.
Countless hours and innumerable sheets of paper later, I
was tempted to give it up as a bad job. At the continued
urging of my doctor, I decided to stay at it for another
couple of weeks. Finally crude writing began to take
shape and Part Two of the diary was eventually recorded.



The notes were later put aside as more important
things came along. I still had a living to earn and a life
to live. I had my schooling to finish, a business to run
and a family to raise.

Now, at the age of 70, my children raised and gone
from home, and with time on my hands, I began rummaging
through some of my old files and came across my notes of
48 years ago. I decided to spend some of my retirement
time in making the notes readable. Perhaps someday, one
or more of my grandchildren may be interested in reading
one segment of Grandpa's life.

May, 1966
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'QUIREN CROESSL “STRUCK THE 0D
HOWE TOWR'" MONDAY EVENING

Large Number Gather at Depot to Greet First Returned!

Algoma Hero From Battlefieid of France—Is Gradually

Recovering From

Quiren Grossel, among the first of
the sturdy lads of this commumty to
offer their all for the freedom of the
world, is the first to arrive buckh home,
not in the same condition that he left,
but encumliered ULy disal.lity caused
by the bayonet of 4 German .oldier
who paid the penalty almost im-
mediately following the moment he
struck young Groessl down. Quiren
arrived Monday evening and wa- met
at the depot by a large delrgation of
citizenz who were anxious to preet Al-
goma’s first returned hero. Ytepping
off the train he fell intu the fond em-
brace of his mother, was escorted to a
whiting antomobile, all the tirie gragp.
ing hands of friends and grecting then
in the warmest of his good nature.
Flags flew from every mast and van-
tag e point in the city in honor of his
arrival.

The first news of his comng was
Sunday evening when he spoke to one
of his brothers at home by phone from
Milwaukee. He requested that his
coming be kent a secret. However.
Monday morning, the nevz which had
leaked out in some manner, spread
like wildfire about town.

"Tis needless to ray that Quiren is
busy these days rdlating his cxper-[
iences in the war zone to friends. Hel
was virtually beseiged by friends, and|
nore especially by parents of boys who|
are still “o®er there”, who were anx-»

e

Bayonet Wounds.

OcT. 25 ]918

'
It is Quiren's greatest desire to ot
vack to France. Although he is slow-
1y reraining the use of his right arm,
it will take many months, if ever, be-
fore he wiil have fully recoverey and
his hopes are likely never to be ful-
filled He cayy when he reads the
newspaper ieportg of the falling of
towns, which he and his comrade.: had
at one time talked of capturing he
feels a sensation akin to homesickness.
He wants to be with the boys when
they march to Derlin and it is to be re-
gretted that it may not be possible for
sne who has <o signally honored him-
s'If and the community in which he has
hised 1o have that (pporturity ot shur
ing in the glory that he helpea
for American arms.

v win

Quiren’s wound was a Jdeep cu. from
one shoulder across the back just te-
low the neck. Every nerve controlling
his arms was severed and when the
bayonet struck the spinal column, 1he!
concussion caused paralysis of the
lower limbs and this was the reason
for his absolute helplessness for many
hours following his wounding. Ameri-
can doctors pronounced the operation
performed upon the wounds by the
French physicians as the most won-
derful, every nerve being connected,
and thia skill is the only thing that
saved for him the use ¥ his arms.

“At the time when Gen. Ludendorf

ious to get any firct hand infnrma-! c‘ommef:cad hif great drive on the
tion of the condition there with hope,|Somme front in March, we were on

o gaining something re
sun boys,

The experiences through which:«
Quiren had gone were of such a nature,
that is not believed that one of a thou-
sand, could have succeisfully duph-:
cated. His experience of three Ger.
fi woaw =" NZ to induce him to go to,
Rerlin ahead of the rest of the buys,

G, Quiren just naturally determined
dﬁt ‘o go that way, and didn't, speal.;
yuder than words of the qualitie that
~e .ontained in his make-up

warding their||the Lorraine sector. At this 4me we

were ordered to the Somme sront as
reserve. Our work then consisted of
repairing trenches and putting up
barbed-wire in front of the trenches.
During the time our brigade was 1in
reaerve, the communicating trench was
spotted by the enemy and kept umler‘
coustant  shell fire and  destsryed, |
making it impoasible for food and sup-
phes to he curried up $0 tue men in the
front line. That brigade as on
duty ning*~en days without bLeing re-!
e »d ana receiving only the sunplies
that courd be Lrought to them unler



WAR CORRESPONDENT -
TELLS OF “BIG BOY”

“Big Boy” Better Known Locally at
“Squeegee” Groessl—Writer Was
In Same Ward With Groessl]

The following is an article written
by Floyd Gibbons, the famous war cor-
respondent which appeared recently

in The Columbiad. It refers to Quiren'

So he bad struck the man or the'jbgsiges he does not feel sorry for him.
'right and the one on the left and had i self and doesn’t want to feel sorry for
downed both of them, but the German | himself. Self-pity is not to be found
in back of him got him with thejin an American hospital where ow
bayonet. A nerve coenter in his back 'wouuded rest. Each one of th

+was severed by the slash of the steeh wounded men feel particularly lucky

that extended rlmost from onme’tg be alive after what they have gon
shoulder to the other, and "Bxg Boy” through “ and they would greatly
had { ﬁ* prefer.a t's cqngratulations on
‘ Bo," hyﬁ\.re mm u th.h‘ tO b‘ .mong th. hv

o '; e

h@lp,ar Hadilets to smokeend whet Ing. t '
thire did not happen to be a herioan women visitors were

of Columbus work = or repress Je‘ st.andmg by “Big Boy’s” bed one day.
of some other org .ization preuent. to! One of them ccrried a large cluster of
assist him, he had to call upon the||rosed in one arm. She picked one of
services of our very hard working or-i|the flowers and placed it solemnly on

|Groessl of this city, he being lmorwn; derly, Dan Sullivan, Sullivan geemed Bltiw.BﬁY's” defenseless chest. He

as “Big Boy” among the fellows in the'
ward at the hospital where he lay re-
covering from the bayonet wounds.
The article follows:

This happened in the United Stajes
Military Base Hospital at Neuilly sur

to Lnow every time “Big Boy” needed & looked up at her with a smile which
gmoke. The paralized, wounded man’s [she s & token of overwhelm.
bed was placed close to thé door that in¢ geptitude, The wospan walked out
led from the ward to the corridor. We ‘of with the féeling ‘that she

would see the door open four or five ! nad the t bened!eﬁm’& 1]
inches and we would get a half view of dw from tba doing ‘2 B kindly

Seine, on the outskirts of Paris. It
occurred in Ward 160 and took place in

the early days of June of this yu\r"

when ‘the first big flood of wounded

American soldiers began gtnumnm
back from the then flaming fronts.

There were fourteen of us in ward
160. Our wounds were various and

many. The occupants of the ward had “tended until it hovered over
tasted the best that the enemy had to| Boy's”" face.

offer in the form of shell, bullets or
bayonet. Almost every other bed was
urmounted by a tall wooden apparatus
from which the fractured limbs of
those in :the beds beneath were
mmd&Txese wooden stamtutey
'gave our-ward the appearance 61;(;

collection of miniature oil ‘%e‘!'rleﬁ.‘
We‘

N Qur visitors were numerous,

| extract the cigarette from his mouth,

Dan Sullivan, one arm piled high with ¢t -~
a stack of pots and pans, and a |
cigarette hanging from one corner ot ]
_his mouth.

i With his face free hand he would

door closed behind hcr we
#Big Boy's” drawling voice s
led out for the orderly. He said
“Dprp-vzemove the funerel decors-
< ;
Then the hand would be projected
.through the crack in the door and ex-
“Big
Then it would descend
and the cigarette would be stuck in
“Big Boy’s” mouth like a pin-cushion.
Then the hand that had conveyed the
cigarette and the arm attached to it
would be welrdly withdrawn through
the crack in the door.
“Big Boy” would puff away like a
Mississippi steamboat for four or five
minutes. The door would reopen not:

received the best of care. It was| morc than four or five inches, the hand
easy to bear the pain under such' and arm would be inserted again and

circumstances. In addition to the
representatives of, American organi-
zations cspecially engayed in this work
there were many Americans, men and

women who came and sat by our bed-
sides. They brought us cigarettes and ;

chocolates and fruit and wrote letters
home for us.

)C. The Case of “Big Boy”

There was one case in the ward that
received more attention than the
others. He occupled a bed over ir

on
flec ?md becen captured by three Ger-

mans who were marching him back to
their line.
“Big Boy” said:

boy.”

In telling me the Story|Boy’ detested it was io be called “poor
“Mr, Gibbons, I madciboy.” If you feel sorry for an Amer-

the cigarete would be plucked out of
4Bir Boy's” mouth. That was the
that happy suﬂ’erqr enjoy 4 ~

Joa——y

All: women visitors entering

rd or leaving it would stop at *Big

Boy’s” bedside and would learn of his

pitiful condition either from the nu

op from the chart attached to the f

ol gbe bed. They would look into “Big

Big's” face and with eyes wet with!
they would moumfulll shakq»ﬂlgu'

1eads, at’?h!'in! .

MY

Of all things ni the4world that “Big

up my mind as I walked back withjican soldier who has been wounded,
them that I might just as well be dead don’t manifest it by adressing him
as to spend the rest of the war study{ “poor boy.” He won't like it, because
ing German.” it leaves nothing for him to say and




THE MANITOWOC DAILY HERALD /9/¢

ALGOMA BOY WHOBATTLED 3
GERMANS SINGLEHANDIED, HADE
ESCAPE, WELL KNOWN HERE

A graphic aecount of how a Yankee,, In g «hirmish the soldler got in aq | seriously wounded in the hand to hand
formerly of Co. F, heat up three ‘-vr-| ‘anee of the rest of iy oempany and| ercounter. In the fracay he hag re-
man eaptors har reached here. Querin | was beng tehon ivwell as a Gerpan| ccived a deep stab in the hack.

.

Grassel of Aleoma, how o member ot |mnm r o the Goriean tines by throe firagael’s niome appeared in the ens
i(m.- of tha companiey, of the Twoenty :Il;, Huns, aulty Hst Jasvkayeck ag erlously wonnd-
cichth fmantry, is the placky soldier.]  The «izht of o German prison eampj ed. Tha w ombee of the company tiat

irasse {5 well known In Manitowoe wa  pot appeding to Grassel and hej sent the 8tory heme, statee tll.lr lhOl
couttty and ia a first cousin of l-hu, QUL witlt 1he trio and got the bost] ~lueky  Amerfean i« hv.rmn % o'
Kellnep of thig eity o the Keilner: of the ontire three, laying thewm low 1t Apldly, ang will mt cuffer any 1
“at Kel oravite and vetumnine to he Amerlean line - 'mm his wound.

i

e
—_———— e e ————— ——— - S ts b s M it e e dme S on - e .-
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QUIREN GROESSk-~

OUTWITS GERMANS

“Lick 'Em” Against Five to One Oddr

~Escapes with Bayonet Wound
to Owa Trench.

. /979

That the German machine made
eoldier is inferior to the young, virile,
resourcefu]l American was clearly dem-
onsirated in a lone battle made by
Quiren Groessel of this city against;

'e Germans at the time he veceived
the wound that sent him to the hos-
We are glad to note
that Quiren has recovered and is a-
bout ready to get into the fight again,
The dash-
ing spirit, the grit and nerve he dis-
played when cornered in an apparent-
1y hopeless position, corroborates the

pital for repairs.

if he is not already there.

late newspaper dispatches that
Americans are fighting - dewd,
fear j1 not incorporated h i
uwp., "~ _
The heroimm, { young Groesst
degcribed in twa  tters that heve beew
received. One »
Kashik ta-his psrents and the other
from Allen MacMillan to his'e
at Sturgeon Bay. Urban in describ-
ing Quiren’s brilliant feat says: Quir-
en Groessel ig still in the hospital, but
I have heard that he is expected to be
out soon, and I will be glad to see
him. The Germans made a raid on his

company while I was in a back support!
line, and while he was kept busy withl

three in front of him, two Germans
grabbed him from the rear and tried
to take him prisoner to their lines,
when a shell hit near them and they

dropped him. Quiren picked up a rifle!

and clubbed one, but the other jabbed
him with a bayonet.
get hack to his trench.
him for his gnit.

The McMillan lad in his letter speaks

of his crmrade’s heroism and he says:

“Qne of the hoys who belonged to our|’

old Company F who was from Algoma
by the name of Groessl. was rapture:!

by three Germans and was taken a-)

cross to their lines and there he beat
up the three, but received a stabb in

the back  3ut he got up and beet it

to his company, He is now In the
1 and getting along nicely.”

[ z
/
g

FLERS FROV TR
GERVTAN CAPTORS

Mivaskee [oornal
/27%
BADGER STABBED 1IN BACK
CRAWLS OVER NO MAN'S
LAND TO SAFETY

Is Hero of Company Which Shows

t
%
1 Rent Back Home.
s
|
]

aake™

written by Urban’

He managed to
1 sure admire

Same Fighting Spirit—Now
Unfit for BService, Is

b

BY BPFCIAL CORREEZPONDENT 0OF TIIF JOLRNAL

Sturgeon Bay, Wis.—Several weeks
ago there came back from the
trenches o©f the iwestern front the
story of Corp. Qujren (roessel, Al-
goma, Wir,, who, single handad, ws-
caped from three (iermans who had
captured him, and now Corp. Groes-
,ael himself has returned to this coun-
try, physically incapacitated for fur-
ther actlve service.

i [t was through letters from Ihis com-
rades th.t Groes«el’s feat hecame
bnown, he himselt simply stating =
nis iwatrers +hat he had been wounded
and was ir a hospital. A lettey re-
cofved fraon AL p MceMillan, Stargeon
Day., whps- =8 gl e garm @ ¢ompany
as (ot AI&OM. L man, Love the firet
news T COrP. (jroessel’s oscape from
:-unli‘.t.)'- o

Mr."McMillan stated that the story
uud hecome known throughout the
entire regiment and that Quiren was
the hero of the company. While the

Giermans were vainly trying to satem
the tide of allled victory., a party ot
Germans madera raid on the Ameri-
{ can trenches. .

' During the hand to hand fighting
which ensued, Corp. Groessel was <uv-
1aunded and cutnumbered by the Ger -
mang, and nithough he put up an
cxcellent fight, he was finally forced
to give in. Three of the rajding party
were detuiled to take the American
biuck to the enemy trenchee.

Unable, because of hils exhausted
rondition to resist. Guiren was car.

ried over 10 the ¢nemy lines., Upnn
reaching the German trenches, he
put up a eapirited fAght and, ns his
comrade wrote home “beat up the
three of his captors and. although
~tabbed in the back escaped”
Crawling acruoss no man's land,

the \iig onsin lid finollv reached the
American trenches and, thoroughly
e\ hausted. found his own company.
For a time, bec2ure of the gerious
nsture of his wouanrds hi. life was des-
paired of, but prompt medical treat-

| ment s¢ ved it.

Dect red { ntit for Service.

To the infimite discust of Corp
Groesrel, tho army niedicos declired
| him unfit for further active meivi o
i and, despite his protesta at being un
vhie ta take another creck at I'vi
hinmesd Lisy hoanls o e mtatag Ne
Having fuily recotsrer yrom L e effed ¥
of his wounds he was sent to the
military hospital at Fort Dodge, la,

Corp. Groesxel's original companv
was the Figiting ¥ of the Fifth Wis.
convin, composed of Door county and
Algomy men which was formed hers
in the <pring of 1917. He was among
the first froin the latter place tu en
list.

Ttis company was in training here
for a few weeks in July and Augus
and p*nt the remairder of the vear
at Camps Douglas and Macd thur,
While at the Texas cantnnment, the
original eompany was split up to fil
the ranks of otiier outtits and at this
tima Corp. CGroess»' wai ass 'ned to
the Ore (luwdred Twentvelahth an.
fantry It was wi, e wit'y thig regi
irent that he performed ¢ feat W hich
will g0 down in tl+ | tory of the
state.

Other Herces in Samme Company.

However, Coip. Groessel {8 not the
only wember of the Dour ecounty Al
goma compiny 1o uphold its reputa.
tion. John Waszerbacl,, another Com-
pan: I man, has been awavded the
Croix de Guerre for bravery in action,
He was reported sevirely wounidel
several weeks ago; it is thought that
it w18 in the same action that he was

inded th t he won the nighest

= that KFrance can award. Joseph
vho later died of wounds, was
1 for bravery.

Lapany F o has been hit, with the

s=<fble exception of the ¥ond .du lLac
company, as hard as any mnational
guard organization (rom the state,
Ton of the men who left laat August
' ve been killed and t irty wounded.

lv one-thhrd of 1t names of the
who left hers li  August have

eared in the casua: - list.
The Hghting sphit hich enahiled
Quiren Groessel 10 «scape, sing'e

handed, f{rom three Ge nans is tyii-
»al of the ‘Thirtyse nd division,
which, comyosed of Mic ijgan and W\ is
ousin troups, s amasuing the 1hn:
ienburg liae under the leadership of
Jen Haaa. 7These Yanks from the
mniddle west haie Wwen named by
‘heir Trench comren *s. “t;¢ terrible
mee" ag the German its “;"‘1' r unabi
s ‘tacka,
L0 4top th_lh'_—ﬂﬂ'.(‘-e’_l._“_.—)



29 remain from original Company F

By KETA STEEBS

The war to end all wars began for Door
county soldiers Aug. 17, 1917 when they
with their Kewaunee county comrades
shipped out for Camp Douglas.

They still talk about that sunny sum-
mer day, the Company F boys still living,
and although their voices no longer carry
the vibcant assurance of youth their
recollections are distinct, their words
resolute.

Ask Grover Stapleton, or Ed Reynolds,
o J. C. Weitermann or any of the other
remaining veterans, 29 in all, how it felt
to be part of that proud company on that
heautiful August day when they, like

Johnnys all over the land, went marching

1 to war.

You can't ask Archie Lackshire. He:

#as the first to die And you can’t ask any

of his 24 comrades whe were killed in
trenches or surcumbed to tear gas or the
men who breathed their last in veterang
hospitals but you can still get the story
from Company F's dwindling survivors
and it’s a story worth hearing.

The bands were playing spiritedly that
day, they tell us, and men, women and
children from the length and breadth of
the peninsula lined Cedar street waving
their country’s flag. The crowd was
large, probably the largest ever to gather
in Door county’s short history, and
emotions were mixed. Pride, joy, sad-
1ess, sceplicism and criticism were the
order of the day depending on the age,
sex and political views of the spectators.

Not all Door countyites lining Cedar
avenue that day believed America’s
entry into World War I was justified.
Many of those who did believe it was time
for this country to iritervene also belleyed
the holochust which had been raging in
Eurcpe since 1914 would end once
America’s night was felt, Those
adhering to the latter view doubted if the
boys would ever get farther than Camp
Douglas. ,

The majority of Ameficans, however,
believed the only wuy to prevent future
wars from erupting v'as to eifectively put
an end to this particular conflict no
matter how long it 1aight take. Those
voluntcers making up the ranks of
Company F were not only doing {ueir
duty as they saw it they were also
heeding President Woodrow Wilson's
rallying cry to “make the world safe for
democracy” thus ending world wars
forever.

History would prove ‘hem wrong but ne
man alive on Aug. 17, 1917 could foresee
Dec. 7, 1941.)

Men who just a few monihs before had
labored on farms, clerked in stores, fitted
shipbeams, taught school, fixed motors,
attended school or fished for a livinw

found themselves leading dual lives in
May of 1617. On Apr. 6 of that year the

" United States declared war on Germany

and the men of Door county were quick to
respond. Although they worked at
civilian jobs by day, nights were spent
drilling at Market Square.

The gymnasium of Sturgeon Bay high
school doubled as a dormitory for the
benefit of out-of-town soldiers who were
encouraged to Jook upon the makeshift
barracks as their home away from home.

Each member of Company F was the
praud possessor of a soldier’s kit com-
plete . with toilet articies and sewing
supplies, courtesy of the local chapters of
the American Red Cross. Rookies their
men might Le but the women were
making sure they were well-equipped
rookies.

During the latler part of July Capt. Ed
Reynolds, 1st Lt. Ralph Perry and 2nd Lt.
Haney Thlenfeidt, both of Algoma, were
appointed as company commanders,
replacing Watson whose departure was
not noticeably lamented.

Trained at Fort Sheridan's officer
training school, the three local officers
were greeted warmly by their troops.
Reynolda. newly married and just
finished with the Reynold's Preserving
Cornpany'’s pea canning for the summer,
already had his men's good will and he
los! no time gaining their respect as well.

His old soldiers still chuckie when they
recall the morning the youthful captain
spotted an unsteady rockie who,” when
accused of being drunk by his perceptive
commanders, answered sheepishly,

“Aw, cap’n, you should’'ve seen mas last
night.” This same man later suffered
severe wounds in battle.

o -



Upon arriving at Camp Douglas, &*
check of the company's rolls revealed
three under-age soldiers who were
prompily weeded cut. Lester J. Leitl,
another young man eligible for
discharge, was hidden in a tent untfl his
18th birthday arriveu. His accomplices
tell us ihat all important birthday was

Intact until they reached Texu, it took
no more than a week at Camp MacAr-
thur for the Doar-Kewaunee mon to be
assignad to other regiments. Company F
men found themselves serving with the
1st Company, 121st Machine Gun Bat-
talian, Company G of the 128th Infantry
and the 57th Depot Brigade.

The three officers, Reynolds, Perry
and Ihlenfeldt, were also given
assignments separating them from men
of their own cornpany. Sgt. John Acker of
Sturgeon Bay was immediately
promoted to sergeant mazjor and
assigned t0 an ammunition train com-
manded by Major Imhoff (the same
officer who had sworn him in at the
Opera House.)

Stapleton and Charles Nelson, the {irst
two men to joun the company, were sent
back to Sheridan where they quickly
earned their lieulerunit's bars. ©

rupt. Reynolds was placed jn com-
mand of the 1215t machine gun battation
(nicknamed Les Terribles) and sfter one
pitched battle, earned the Croix de
Guerre proving to the French the ap-
propriateness of their haslily bestowed
nickname. F (. Langemak, another
noted Door o unty soldier, was awardea
the Distinguished Service Cross.

This, of course, is jumping ahead of the
story. Firsat the men had to get 1o France
~ & lourney wnich, {or many, offered
one-way-passage only. Spl t by now into
many dfferent corapanies e Door-
Kewaunee soldiers lefit Waco {or Camp
Merritt, N. J., sn Feb 2, 1918 and 18 days
later set sail for the bhattlefielkds of
Europe

They made toeir mark at places like
Chateau Thierry, the Marne, Soissns,
St. Michel and the Argonne. Twenty-five
young men of the 155 who had answered
roll call that hot departure day in August
were killed in action and twice that
number were wounded. Lackshire was
the first to die from Door county and
Ernest H. Haucke was the first
Kewaunee counly man to be killed. Hix

- name and Lackshire’s were . ier

adopted by their respective American
Le Posts.
o _story of Company F would be

complete without mentioning the by now
quww Teat of a certain Kéomu
soldier named Querin Groessl. Capturec

/by the Germans after he had beer
wounded, Groess], despite being stabhe«
in the back managed to escape and rejoir
his company. He is also credited witl
having the satisfaction of beating up tw

his captors before taking leave.

Company F returned to Sturgeon Ba,
on April i1, 1919 with 8 physicalls
unscathed soldiers. Today’s roll call, i1
addition to listing *ue before-mentione.
Groesgl, Stapleton, Weitermann an
Reynolds, reads as follows:

William Burlo, Ole M. Christensor
Howard Collard, N. J. DeJardine, Grove
Eiclinger, Charles Ellis, George Feller
George Fellows, (lyde Helgeson, E¢
ward F. Jennerjohs, Jerry J. Jerabeh
Urban Kashik, Car] Koutnik, Henr
Kugler, Lester Leitl, David lessard
Allen MacMillis.

Also, Glibert J. Monty, Paul Mueller
Charles Nelson, Melvin Petcrsc1, Flme
Smith, Edward Torstenson, Anton Vertz
Clarence Zastrow and Williarn Zivney




PART ONE



CHAPTER ONE

AN EARLY MORNING RIDE IN A CLOSED TRUCK

A brief summary of my first notes show that after
Christmas, 1917, troop movements at Camp McArthur, Texas,
were being closely guarded. The Division Commander and
his staff tried to keep everyone from knowing that our
Division was about to depart for overseas. We could
see, however, that what had been company streets and
lines of tents the day before were now open spaces.
These changes were taking place slowly and quietly, but
the size of the camp began changing on January 2, and
from then on the movement of troop trains was steady.
When our turn came to leave on February 2, only the
artillery batteries were left in camp. A day or two
later on the train to Camp Merritt, New Jersey, we
learned from a newspaper that the Steamship Tuscania
which was carrying 32nd Division ammunition and supply
trains had been torpedoed and sunk by a German submarine.
No account of the number of casualties was carried in
the paper. We knew that the Division had suffered its
first losses, and it had a sobering effect. It brought
the war that much closer to us.

February 5, 1918

Camp Merritt is an embarkation camp. The next move
from here will be to the docks of some large city along
the Hudson River. Then onto a troop ship which will
evidently be joined by other ships, to form a convoy
for crossing the submarine-infested Atlantic, for France
and the battle fields.

Unlike Camp Douglas, Wisconsin, or Camp MacArthur,
Texas, where we slept in tents on army cots, we are housed
in long low one story wooden barracks equipped with metal
beds and soft mattresses. It is quite an improvement.

But like the other camps, "Taps', or lights out
are sounded by the Regimental bugler at 10:00 PM and
"Reveille'", or time to get up, is sounded at 5:00 AM and
by now it had become second nature to be in bed before
Taps sounded, and out of bed seconds after the first notes
of Reveille are heard.

February 10

So far we haven't been doing much in the way of
drilling, but we have had a few equipment inspections to
see what, if anything, we were short of. We were also
told, in a round about way, that if we had any cherished
possessions that would not be essential to us overseas,
now was the time to send them home or to get rid of them




if we couldn't get them in our barracksb ags. The bags
we had wouldn't hold much more than our blankets, extra
uniform, underwear and socks, and a few personal toilet
articles such as a razor and shaving cream, tooth brush
and paste, and a few other small items.

February 12

The latest latrine news is that we will be here for
several weeks to undergo some special type of training.
But, rumors are flying so thick and fast that one can

only hope some of them are true, and that others are not
true.

February 14

I am making this entry in my notebook down in the
hold of a ship after a really hard day, and an exciting
one. I heard Taps last night at 10:00 PM, but I did not
hear Reveille this morning.

I was awakened from a sound sleep by someone shaking
me by the shoulder. It was too dark to make out more
than the dim dark shadow of a form bending over me, and
before I could say, '"Who are you, or what do you want?"

a hand was firmly clamped over my mouth and a low voice
whispered in my ear, "Don't try to talk, and listen care-
fully. Get dressed, pack all of your belongings including
your blankets in your barracks bag. Do not waken anyone
in the barracks and be out on the Company street in ten
minutes." Then he was gone.

I lay there still half asleep trying to figure out
if I had been dreaming or if what seemed to have happened
really happened. Slowly I turned back the blanket, sat
up on the edge of the bed, and when my feet touched the
cold floor I was wide awake.

The barracks was a long one room wooden building
capable of sleeping 75 men on either side, with a narrow
aisle between. My bed was the third one from the front
on the right side. A narrow shelf above each bed had
space for a razor, shaving cream, toothbrush and paste,
and a very few other items., The rest of our belongings
such as underwear, socks, extra shoes, uniform, poncho
and books and writing material all had to be kept in our
barracks bags, which stood on the floor in the aisle
between the beds, along with our rifles.

Overhead, running down the center of the main aisle
and suspended from the cross-bracing of the roof rafters,
were electric light wires from which at regular intervals
a drop cord with a lightbulb was suspended. They were
all turned on or off by a single switch at the front of
the barracks. I didn't dare turn on the lights or every-
one in the barracks would be awake in an instant.

As I dressed in the dark, I could hear the slow
measured breathing of the boys on either side of me and
the gentle snoring of some who were farther away. 1
was tempted to awaken one of the boys next to me and ask
if he knew what this was all about, but I realized that he




wouldn't know any more than I did, and our whispering
might awaken others.

After nearly eight months in Uncle Sam's Army, I
was accustomed to taking orders without asking why, but
this order in the middle of the night had me a bit con-
cerned. The latest latrine news in the camp was that
our outfit would be at Camp Merritt for several weeks
undergoing special training. Could this be a part of
that training? Or could it be something worse? Had
some member of my family met with a serious accident or
severe illness? I was searching my mind for a reason why
I alone out of my Company of 150 men should be stealthily
awakened in the dead of night, and just as stealthily
taken from my comrades and my Company.

The contents of several letters I had received from
my mother while I was still at Camp MacArthur, Texas,
came to mind. I hadn't considered their contents seriously
at the time, but now as I continued to dress, they seemed
to take on an ominous meaning. From those letters I had
learned that in time of war there were those who con-
sidered themselves 100% Americans and who became sus-
picious of everyone else. They were the super-Patriotic
who could do no wrong, but believed that everyone else
could.

Our community, a typical small town made up of ordi-
nary people from all walks of l1life, whose ancestors had
migrated to America from Belgium, England, France,
Holland, Germany and many other countries, had been a
very happy community. All nationalities blending to-
gether, inter-marrying and working and playing together
to make a better life for all.

But, America's entry into the war had changed all that.
The first change was not too noticeable, but gradually
like a cancer it grew insidiously from a whisper here,
and a subtle remark there. A name mentioned in an under-
tone, and gradually more names spoken of derisively.

A can of yellow paint thrown and splashed across the front
of the store of one citizen whose parents had come from
Germany many years before. And before very much longer
many more people of German ancestry were automatically
suspect in the warped minds of the few. And as time went
one, the few grew in numbers.,

Among those who became suspect was my father. He had
come over to America from Germany with his father, mother,
brothers and sisters in 1867, at the age of 11, It made
no difference to those super-Patriots that he had been
just a boy when he came to this country and was now past
60 years old. That he had lived a decent life, married
an American girl and raised a good Christian family. It
didn't matter to them that up to now he had been one of
them and that he was well liked in the community. It
hadn't even been of any concern to them that one of his
sons had voluntarily enlisted in the army and was even
then on his way over to France to fight the Germans. Or,



perhaps that was one of the reasons that he, among others,
were summoned to the Kewaunee County Courthouse to be
questioned as to his citizenship and as to his loyalty

to his country.

At 11 years of age, a boy in a strange land has so
much to see and to learn and do that he wouldn't have much
time to think or to be interested in whether his father
had become an American citizen. He would just take such
things for granted, if they even entered his mind at all.

Most of these things I knew or learned from mother's
letters, but up to now hadn't thought too much about it
because I couldn't believe that things could be as bad
as her.letters intimated. Nor had I, up to now, learned
the outcome of the investigations. Could it be possible
that my grandfather for some reason, or no reason at all,
had failed to obtain his citizenship and, therefore, my
own father was not a citizen, but an alien who might be
subject to an internment camp?

If that were true, then even I, though born an American
citizen, could be suspect and my volunteering misconstrued
as trying to serve the enemy from within. It all seemed
so far fetched, but at the time it wasn't the least bit
funny to me. I was deeply worried and concerned.

I had never questioned an order before, but I was sure
going to do so now., Fully dressed except for my shoes
which I carried suspended by their laces about my neck,
my barracks bag packed and in my hand, my rifle suspended
by its sling from my shoulder, I stealthily made my way
to the door and out onto the stoop facing the Company
street.

It had been warm in the barracks. Out here on the
street a cold raw wind was flowing, causing me to shiver
as I sat down on the stoop to put on my shoes. It was
quiet here. Light streaks were beginning to make their
appearance in the wintry sky, but it was still too dark
to see any distance along the street. As far as I could
see it was deserted, except for the faint glow of a street
light some distance away. A lonely feeling of anxiety
slowly began to creep over me as I sat there, not knowing
what to expect next.

Then, out of the darkness, a tall solitary figure could
be seen making his way toward me. When he came closer I
recognized my Company "Top Kick", Louis Heinricks. "What
the hell is this all about?" I asked as he came within
whispering distance. I will never forget how relieved I
was at his answer, .

"Groessl", he replied, "You have been chosen for a
special mission, but for security reasons I cannot tell
you more about it at this time. 1In a few minutes a
covered truck will pick you up. There will be a couple of
other boys from other Companies who are on the same mission.
Do a good job, and in a couple of days you will be joined
by the rest of the Company." What Louie had said didn't
tell me much, but it did ease my mind considerably and
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2nd April, 1919.

Mr. Quiren M. Groessl,
: Algoma,
Wiscongin.

Dear "Big Boy",

Pardon this tardy reply to yours of February
1l4th, but they have got me assigned on a desk job away
over here in PFPrance, and I have not had a chance to
answer.

I am certainly glad that you have made the
3 markable recovery from your wounds, and that you are
now wielding the ruler from the teacher's desk in the
city schools of Algoma. I believe you will be able
to maintain diseipline. I surely would like to step
into the school room some day and witness it.

I told the story of "Big Boy" from the
Atlantic to the head waters of the iissouri, and it
knocked them out of their seats every time.

I am expecting to return to Chicago by the
1st Moy, and you hay be sure that, if my way ever leads
up into Wisconsin, I will indeed step in and see the
"Big Boy" "laying down the golden rule".

liost sincerely yours

FLOYD WIBEONS,

Director,
THXY CHICAGO TRIBUNE,
¥ /EC Foreign News Service.
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I felt much better about things in general. I knew now
that the things I had been worrying about had nothing to
do with my being here, at this ungodly hour.

Shortly after, a large covered truck pulled up
and came to a stop. Louie tossed my barracks bag through
the rear flap of the truck. As I climbed into the truck
Louie said, "Good-bye and good luck." I could vaguely
make out the blurred forms of other men seated on the
floor of the truck and could hear their subdued voices.
The rear flap was closed and fastened shut, A moment
later we were on our way.

We had gone only a short distance when the man seated
nearest to me said, "I am Williams from M. Company, what's
your outfit?" I replied, "I'm Groessl from G.Company.

Do you know what this is all about?" "I was just going

to ask you the same question'", he replied. The others

in the truck spoke up. One asked the same question I had
asked my top kick. '"What the hell is this all about?"
Another asked, "Where are we going and why all the secrecy?"
I mentioned what Louie had told me about going on a special
mission and that we would be rejoined by our Companies in

a few days. That made them feel better as they had not
been told anything except to keep their mouths shut and

to be on the Company street as soon as possible. None of
us had the remotest idea of where we might be going or why.

We had been traveling about 12 minutes, according to
my watch, when the truck came to a stop. All conversation
ceased as we tried to listen. We could hear words being
exchanged between someone in the driver's cab and someone
on the ground, but all we were able to make out was, "You
may proceed." The truck had apparently been stopped at
the main gate by the guard.

The truck quickly gathered speed. 1In the back we
bounced around, our voices growing louder as we tried to
make ourselves heard above the noise of the truck. We
could tell from the sound of the speeding truck that we
were in open country, but in which direction or where we
were going we had no way of knowing. One of the boys
near the tailgate reached up and pulled on the rear flap
which gave sufficiently to get a glimpse outside. We
could see that it was getting near daylight.

In the black interior of the truck it seemed like we
had been traveling for hours, but my watch showed that from
the time we had been stopped until the truck slowed down,
and the outside sounds changed, we had been on the road
for only 25 minutes. The sounds outside now seemed to be
bouncing back at us, a sort of a walled-in sound or echo,
like riding between tall buildings. Another peek through
the flap proved our guess to be right. We were riding down
the streets of some large city, but there was no sound of
traffic. No car horns or the sound of meeting cars or
trucks one associates with a large city. Perhaps it was
too early in the morning, or possibly we were traveling
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Streets on which traffic had been rerouted temporarily,.
It was only 4:30 in the morning and we seemed to have the
city to ourselves.

After another 18 minutes the outside sounds seemed
to change again. This time it was an entirely different
sound, but one I recognized. It was a hollow rumbling
sound which I had often heard before while riding over a
wooden bridge with wood planking for the floor or driveway.
Before we could figure why we would be driving over a
wooden bridge we came to a halt. Next we heard the sound
of a large door on rollers being pushed open. The truck
jerked ahead for possibly 50 or more feet and again came
to a stop. Then we heard what sounded like a large door
being shut, but this time it seemed to come from behind
us.

Now we distinctly heard the door in the cab of the
truck open. Someone stepped down and walked to the rear
of the truck. The back flap was unfastened and pulled
aside. The officer who had apparently been riding in the
cab and who had opened the flap said, "OK men, take your
bags and rifles and get down." Once out of the truck
we noted that we were in a large warehouse, about a city
block long and half as wide. On one side were high piles
of boxes and crates which were being loaded onto hand
trucks and hauled out through doors near the side of the
warehouse,

There was considerable noise inside the warehouse,
but it didn't stop the officer from introducing himself as
Major Johnson. He then proceeded to brief us on why we
were here and what we were expected to do. His remarks,
as I can remember them, were about as follows: 'You men
are in a large shipping warehouse on the docks at Hoboken,
New Jersey. Just out of those doors ahead of you is the
Steamship Covington which will transport your Companies,
as well as the other Companies of the Regiment, to France.
You eight men have been chosen by the Regimental Commander,
through your Company Commanders, to be sent here ahead of
the troops so that you will have time to study and know the
ship from end to end, and from top to bottom. When the
troops arrive, it will be your duty to see that the Com-
panies assigned to each of you are conducted to their
respective quarters with a minimum of delay."

"However, that will be only the first part of your
duties. In the event of an emergency at sea, it will be
up to you men to lead the Companies in your charge to the
life boats and life rafts assigned to them. I am sure
you know the kind of emergency I am talking about. Learn
the ship thoroughly so that if some of the passageways
you plan to use are blocked, you can use alternate routes
to lead the men with a minimum of confusion and time.

Your duties end only after the ship docks in France."



CHAPTER TWO

A LONELY GOOD-BYE TO THE STATUE OF LIBERTY

The large door at the front of the warehouse was
opened and we followed the Major out onto the dock. Tied
to it was the largest ship I had ever seen. I looked up
at it in awe and amazement. It was painted in long
diagonal streaks, broken at intervals, and in several
different colors which seemed to run into each other.

This was called camouflage and was supposed to make a

ship harder to see, and to hit, if sighted by a submarine.
Guards were posted at either end of the ship and at various
intervals along the dock.

Near the front of the ship, cargo booms were swung
out over the side of the ship, and on the dock below men
were busy loading large cargo nets with cargo. When the
nets were filled a workman on the dock raised his arm in
an upward motion and the net was hoisted above the topside
of the ship. The cargo boom then swung in over the side
and disappeared from view, and apparently the cargo net
lowered into the cargo hold where it was unloaded. I
was feasting my eyes on things I had never seen before
and was enjoying every minute of it.

It was early morning, and across the Hudson River
I caught my first glimpse of New York City with its tall
buildings. Several large ships could be seen tied up at
the docks on the New York side of the river, with smoke
and steam rising from the funnels and exhaust pipes.

Tugs with barges in tow were puffing their way up and
down the river. Over to one side a lone ferry could be
seen leaving the Jersey shore headed for New York City.

To my left, buses and cars could be seen carrying the city
workers over one of the large bridges to their jobs in

the city. I had read and heard so much about the city,
but until today had never seen it, even from a distance.
How I wished for a few moments that I could be a passenger
on that ferry or in one of those trucks, to spend just

one day in New York.

My wish was short-lived, however, for just then the
Major called us together for a last few words before he
went back to the Camp. He said, "You boys had better take
a last look around and feel the firm ground underfoot,
and remember it, for once you cross that gangplank you
won't set foot on American soil again until the war is
over."

When he said that I got a sinking feeling in the pit
of my stomach. The words from a poem flashed through
my mind. "In Flanders Field the poppies grow - between
the crosses - row on row - that mark our place."” And
I knew deep down inside that even after the war was over,
some of us would never set foot on American soil again.



We had been happy and carefree a few moments before,
but after the Major made his remark about not setting foot
on American soil again until the war was over, each of us
got the message in one way or another, and silence pre-
vailed among us.

Our names were called out and three Companies were
assigned to each of us, as we moved up the gangplank.

Each of us was taken in tow by a sailor who said, '"Follow
me, soldier, and listen carefully." And as I followed, my
sailor explained, "The Companies assigned to you will be
quartered in compartments which are two decks down. Try
to remember each passageway we go through and each turn to
reach your compartments."

After a number of turns and down two flights of stairs
we emerged in a compartment which was about 35 feet long and
the width of the ship. The sailor continued his briefing,
“"Before the war this ship was a combined cargo and passenger
ship, and this compartment like all of the other compartments
had been cargo holds. Each compartment had been refitted
to carry troops, 150 men, or one Company, to each compart-
ment. Except for a couple of hours on deck each day,
weather permitting, your Company and the other Companies
in your charge will live and sleep in these compartments
for as long as it takes to carry you to France." He then
took me to the other two compartments where Companies
H and I would be quartered.

None of the compartments were much to look at so
far as accomodations go., The steel walls, floors and
ceilings were all painted a light gray. Iron pipes about
1%" in diameter had been welded to the floors and ceilings
about six feet apart, and in rows about 30" apart, down
the length of the compartments. To each row of upright
or verticle pipes there were welded horizontal pipes. The
first row about 24" up from the floor, a second row about
30" above the first row, and a third row another 30"
above the second row.

In all, there were ten double rows on which canvas
had been stretched and fastened onto the horizontal pipes,
making five bunks long and three tiers high, in each of
the ten double rows. An aisle of about 30" separated each
of the rows of bunks. I, being the first of our Company
aboard and having the responsibility of three Companies,
had first choice of any bunk I wanted. Because I wanted
free access to the stairway, I picked a bunk near it and
stored my gear on it.

Each compartment had two round portholes about 12 or
14 inches in diameter on each side of the compartments,
which the sailor said could be opened during the day for
fresh air when the weather was mild and the sea calm,
but which had to remain closed and locked during rough
weather as the portholes were less than four feet above the
water and would be under water much of the time when the
sea was rough. The floor of the compartment was below the
water line of the ship.



No toilet facilities were provided in the compartments.
Anyone having to use these facilities had to climb one
flight of stairs and make his way down a dimly 1it passage
to the "Head" located in the stern of the ship. With

150 men in each compartment, the stairways were going to
get an awful workout.

Four small lightbulbs encased in metal guards were
fastened to the ceiling. These could be turned on in the
daytime, but at night, or as darkness approached, they were
turned off by some member of the ship's crew, just in case
the blackout curtains over the portholes should be pushed
aside by someone, intentionally or otherwise. The only
light in the compartment during the dark night hours was
a small blue bulb over the stairway.

Two meals per day would be served from the kitchen.
Each Company would be assigned a special time to report
for meals, and they had to be on time or lose out on
the meal, as some 3500 to 4000 men had to be fed at each
meal,.

After the sailor had given me time to look around the
quarters and after he had finished his briefing, he asked
me to take him back over the route we had come to make sure
I knew the way, I became lost on the first try, so we
went over the route, over and over again, until I could do
it with my eyes closed.

The next phase was a bit more difficult. Starting from
the compartment stairway, I was led through other passages
and up to the very top deck, which was four decks above
our compartment. He led me to the life boats and pointed
to three of them and a life raft assigned to my Company,
and then the life boats and 1life rafts assigned to each
of the other Companies under my control. He advised me that
each boat was capable of holding 40 persons, and the life
raft 25-30 persons. Then we started all over again, from
the 1ift boats back to the compartment and from the com-
partment back to the 1lift boats until I had him convinced
that I could lead the way without a mistake.

We had used up practically the whole morning and it
was now time for the mid-day meal, and I was hungry. I
had had no breakfast this morning, and was on the go from
the time I was so rudely awakened earlier until right now,.
Each of the eight soldiers who had been with our sailor
friends were escorted to the sailors' mess room where we
were welcomed by the sailors who were already there. We
were told to sit wherever we could find an empty seat at
any of the long tables, each of which seated about 20
people. And so we had our first meal with the Navy.

Food was brought in on large platters by the mess
crew and placed before us. Right then and there I realized
that I had joined the wrong branch of the service. Roast
beef, mashed potatoes, gravy, homemade baked bread,
fresh vegetables and fresh homemade raisin pie with ice
cream, What a way to live. I'l1 never forget that first
meal as long as I live. And the meals that we had for
the next four days were just as good.



After the meal, our sailor escorts told us to go
through the ship on our own and not to miss a single
thing., We started at the top and worked our way down to
the very bottom, and from stem to stern. We had the run
of the ship from wheel house to the Captain's quarters
to the sailors' quarters, and down to the boilers and
the engine room., We were told to find and make the best
use of our time learning our way around. As one of the
sailors bluntly put it to us, "Your lives and the lives
of your men will depend upon us in an emergency." No one
had to remind us what that emergency might be; we were
all aware of its possibilities.

Each morning after breakfast, and each evening
after dinner, we soldiers would make our way to the top
deck. There we would look longingly across the river at
the big city, watch the large ocean liners arriving and
departing for unknown places. We watched the heavy
traffic across the bridges, and the ferries going and
coming. Off duty sailors would visit with us and we soon
learned to know quite a few of them. We also learned that
we were not the only ones who would like to visit New
York City.

Security was so tight that when boats from overseas
arrived'in the States, especially from countries in the
warring areas or from the countries engaged in the war,
the sailors on those ships were not given shore leave if
they were scheduled to make a return trip in the near
future. One loose-mouthed or drinking sailor could in-
advertently give away information that could cause the
sinking of his ship on its return trip when loaded with
war supplies or troops.

Some of the sailors had made several round trips
without having once set foot on dry land. After hearing
the sailors' tales of woe we didn't feel too badly about
our not being able to go ashore or to visit the big city.

Every man on the ship tried to make us feel at home.
The officers were always willing to answer our questions.
We spent many interesting minutes with them and the Captain
in the wheel house. We also had conversations with his
staff, who had made the crossing under wartime conditions
several times, and had some narrow escapes.

But it was really the petty officers and the rank-and-
file sailors from whom we learned the most and who, even
though we hadn't met all of them personally, always had
a warm welcome of '"Hi, Soldier", for us wherever we went
on the ship. We, in turn, always greeted them with a
"Hi, Sailor".

We spent considerable time watching the engineers and
firemen at their work in the bottom of the ship, I
didn't envy them one bit making a crossing of the Atlantic
in submarine-infested waters.
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We watched the cargo holds being filled with thousands
of quarters of beef, which were stored in freezer com-
partments. Tons of materials and supplies were destined
for France and the war., We felt secure in our knowledge
of the ship, its avenues of escape and the alternate
routes.

February 18

At noon today, our fifth day on the ship, we were
advised to be on the lookout for the troops who would be
arriving about 3:00 in the afternoon. We were at the
gangplank waiting for them when the first Companies
arrived. From 3:00 until after 5:00 we escorted Company
after Company to their quarters, where we told them to
stay until further orders.

When G Company came up the gangplank I was greeted
with such comments as '"We wondered if you had gone
A.W.0.L." and "We thought you had been interned in a
concentration camp", and other joking remarks. Of course,
the boys from the Company had wondered what happened to
me when they stood roll-call in the morning I left the
camp. No one seemed to know where I was and it became
the topic of conversation for the next few days.

After G Company was safely below deck and in their
quarters, I learned from Frank Prokash, an old Company F
man from my home town, that Mrs. Ihlenfeldt, the mother
of Lieutenant Haney Ihlenfeldt, also from my home town,
had visited the camp on the same day that I had left.

She brought a letter for me from my mother which she gave
to her son, Haney, to deliver to me. Because the officers
were not quartered with the enlisted men of the Company,

he gave the letter to Frank, his brother-in-law, to deliver
to me., I read the letter immediately and wished that I

had had the opportunity to visit with Mrs. Ihlenfeldt.

Chow time for Company G was at 5:30 so I called the
"Top Kick'" and asked him to call the men together with
their mess kits. I then led them to the kitchen for the
first time for the evening meal. After this first time
it would be up to the Mess Seargent to see that the men got
to their meals on time. I couldn't be tied down with that
chore as there were too many other things I could be doing
up on deck where the excitement was.

There were no definite chores that the eight guides
had so long as there was no emergency. We had.the run of
the ship and we weren't going to spend any more time
down in the troop compartments than we had to. We only had
to be ready in case of an emergency.

Feeding between three and four thousand troops twice
a day was no small chore for the kitchen detail, and I
am sure it was no pleasure for the troops either. Each
Company had a specific hour for their meals and that meant
the lines had to keep moving in order that the various
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Companies were all fed in their alloted time. Each Company
had to file by the serving tables in single file, get their
mess kit and coffee cup filled as they walked by, and start
eating as they passed the other boys on the way to get
their food. It was no simple matter, but the best that
could be done under the circumstances,

The food was the regular slum that we had been accus-
tomed to while in the camps. We had hoped that we would
be better fed while on the boat. I guess the old saying,
"you can't teach an old dog new tricks" still held true.
The cooks from the Companies knew only one way to prepare
food for 150 men and that was to prepare slum which could
be cooked in large kettles. Whenever I had the opportunity,
at least once a day, I would go over to the sailors mess
and eat with them. The food the troops were getting was
nourishing, but couldn't compare with what I had become
used to during the five days that we ate with the Navy.

After eating their food and washing their mess kits
the men from various Companies returned to their quarters
so that other Companies could be served. There wasn't
room in the narrow passageways for more than one Company
at a time. I returned to the compartment just long enough
to deposit my mess kit on my bunk and then headed topside
as I was sure that now with the troops aboard we would soon
be on our way.

When I got up on deck, I found the ships loading crew
still at it. As I watched them I began to wonder how much
more could be loaded before the ship would sink. About
7:00 the last of the cargo had been loaded and stored.

The ship's hatches were being secured, and the loading
booms were being fastened down. I felt reassured now that
before this evening was over we would be underway. When
the officer in charge of the loading crew finally dismissed
them, I asked when the ship would leave. I had visited
with him on several previous occasions and we understood
each other. He gave me a knowing look and said, "I don't
know, soldier, but if you should happen to be up on deck
about 11:00 you might see something of interest".

That was enough for me. I made my way back down to
our Company quarters bursting with the news that I couldn't
tell. It was quite dark in the compartment; the overhead
lights glowed dully in the thick haze of cigarette smoke.

A couple of crap games were in progress, but most of the
men were gathered in small groups discussing the latest
latrine news, or talking about the great adventure we were
soon to embark on., By 10:30 most of the men were in their
bunks, some still talking, but most were asleep.

At 10:45 I buckled on my side arms and quietly went
back up on deck. I wasn't going to miss a thing if I
could help it. Not a soul could be seen moving about as
I stepped out on deck and slowly started walking toward
the side of the ship. I passed within a foot of sailors
who were stationed at frequent intervals along the ship's
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side at their lookout stations. Most of them recognized
me and let me pass without a word being spoken. It was

an eerie feeling to be walking the deck without so much

as a "Hi, Soldier" from any one of them.

Not a sound of movement could be heard on the ship
which was in complete darkness. I couldn't figure out what
to make of the silence, but decided to keep going toward
the stern until I was stopped.

As I neared the stern, it appeared to me that the
warehouse and dock were moving away from the ship. I
knew that couldn't happen, but stepped over to the rail
and looked down. All I could see was open water between
the ship and the dock.

There was no vibration so I knew that the ship's
engines were not turning over, but we certainly were moving
out into the center of the river. Making my way to the
other side of the ship I could just barely see two tugs
far below, one at the bow and the other at the stern,
each one quietly puffing away as they pulled the Covington
out into midstream. Then, without any visible sign, the
lines were cast off and the tugs pulled away from the
ship and just as quietly disappeared from view. Moments
later I could feel the deck under my feet vibrating as
the ship's engines were started. Our ship was headed
down the Hudson River toward the sea.

I stood at the rail for perhaps 15 or 20 minutes
watching the blurring New York skyline, which was blacked
out, slowly receding in the distance. A sailor at his
station just a couple feet from where I was standing
whispered to me, '"We will be passing the Statue of Liberty
in a few minutes. If you want to see her, go to the other
side of the ship." I thanked him and crossed over to the
other side just in time to see that gallant lady with
upraised arm holding the torch, outlined against a dark
skyline. She, too, was blacked out, but very distinct
against a moonless sky. A lump came into my throat as
I watched her receeding into the darkness. As I bade her
goodbye, I wondered if and when I would see her again.

Standing out here all alone with my thoughts, watching
a world that I hardly knew fading out of sight, made me
feel cold and perhaps a little frightened. Frightened of
what, I didn't really know, but I experienced a depressing
feeling that I could not shake off.

A cool breeze was blowing as we neared the mouth of
the river. I sought shelter from it against.the back of
the deck house, where I sat huddled on a bench still trying
to watch the shoreline as we silently glided by. I was
hoping to see other ships coming in our direction to join
us. There were none. All I could see was the fading
shoreline as we entered the Atlantic. Finally, there was
nothing but open water as far as I could see and I began
to wonder if we were the only ship making the crossing.
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I dozed off for what seemed just a moment, when
suddenly I was wide awake. A sudden motion of the ship
making a sharp turn to the right threw me off balance and
I almost fell to the deck. It was easier to see now. The
sky was bright with a few cottony clouds floating above,
and the sea was still. I made my way back to the side
of the ship looking for other ships to join us. Out of
the clear, I saw a ship bearing down on us from the north,
Soon, from every direction, I could see ships coming to join
us. The Covington, with the others, made a dozen in all.

The other eleven ships left from other ports along
the Atlantic sea shores at predetermined times to ren-
dezvous with us, making up the convoy. All arriving ships
seemed to know the positions they were to take as they
formed into three or four staggered lines. Periodically,
as I watched, all of the ships made a thirty degree turn
to the right. This course would be followed for a set
time and then as if a signal had been given, all ships
made a sixty degree turn to the left. This zig zag course
would be continued for the entire trip across the Atlantic.
It was the best way so far devised to prevent submarines
from getting a set position for sending a torpedo into
the ship's side.

Full daylight was approaching as I made out the form
of a sleek ship belching black smoke from its funnels,
and traveling at high speed toward us. After it got
directly in front of the convoy, it made a sharp turn and
took up the lead. I later learned that it was the Cruiser
Huntington which would be our only armed escort ship. We
were entirely dependent upon the Huntington for protection,
except for the one six inch naval gun mounted on the stern
of each ship in the convoy. My watch told me it was 6:00
in the morning. I had been up on deck all night, and I
decided I had better go below and get some sleep.
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CHAPTER THREE

CROSSING THE SUBMARINE-INFESTED ATLANTIC

February 19

I had barely fallen asleep when the clump, clump,
clump of hobnailed shoes on the iron stairway leading
to the deck above awakened me. For a moment or two I
couldn't make out where I was, but the babble of 150
voices in the compartment soon brought me around.

It was 8:15 by my watch. I had been asleep just
about two hours. The roll of the ship reminded me that
we were at sea and I was anxious to get back topside. I
only had to put on my shoes to be fully dressed. We had
"all been cautioned the evening before not to undress in
the event we should have to make a hasty exit from the
compartment and from the ship.

Buckling on my side arms, I again went topside where
I could see our ships in formation, the Huntington in the
lead, and miles and miles of ocean. It was a magnifi-
cent sight and yet a scary one. No one knew what the next
hour might bring in the way of lurking submarines. Not
all of the ships would be hit, but no one knew which would
be the target if a torpedo came streaking toward us. Our
ship was in the center of the convoy, but that didn't mean
we were entirely safe. A submarine could surface to
periscope height long enough to get a torpedo away, and
quickly submerge again before one of the convoy ships could
turn enough to get their tail gun in position to fire. I
wished that the boys from our Company could be up here
with me to see and feel the thrill of it all, and also to
share in some of my anxiety.

I knew I should not talk to the sailors stationed at
their vantage points along the side of the ship, peering
through their binoculars out over the open water. I knew
what they were looking for, and I didn't want to be respon-
sible for diverting their attention for one second. That
second might be just the difference between a safe trip
and a disaster.

The weather was clear and the sea calm. About 10:00,
the first of several Companies were allowed up on deck to
enjoy the fresh air and the invigorating sea breeze. 1In
a matter of minutes about 1000 men were scattered all over
the deck, talking excitedly about their first glimpse of
the ocean, and the ships making up the convoy. They had
a glorious time while it lasted. At the end of two hours,
they were ordered back to their quarters so that another
group of 1000 or so could have their turn on deck.
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Because of the activity on deck, I missed my midday
meal with the Company so I made my way over to the sailors'
mess room to eat with them., After that I spent several
hours with the men from various Companies in their compart-
ments, keeping them informed on what was going on. Most
of my day was spent up on deck, and by the time the evening
meal was served, I was ready to call it a day.

February 20 and 21

The past two days were very much alike. The weather
was beautiful for the middle of February and the sea re-
mained calm. Our crossing so far was like a cruise for
me. I suppose it was not so fine for the men who were
only allowed up on deck two hours per day, and had to
spend the rest of the day down in the holds of the ship.

February 25

The past three days were really bad ones for all con-
cerned, ships' crew and soldiers alike. The Atlantic at
this time of the year can spawn some pretty rough storms,
and on the afternoon of the 22nd, we ran into one of them.
The ships rolled and tossed so badly that the sailors had
to use lines strung along the decks to get from one place
to another. The waves were extremely large and washed
over the bows of the ships. No troops were allowed on
deck for fear of their being washed overboard, and all
portholes were tightly sealed, as they were under water
most of the time.

The air in the compartments was stagnant and smelled
heavily of perspiration. To make matters worse, many of
the boys became seasick. A few buckets had been provided
for such an emergency, but there were not enough and none
were in the right places when needed. Many men were too
sick to leave their bunks. Vomit was everywhere in the
bunks and on the floor. The smell was terrible, even
though vents from the decks allowed some fresh air to be
blown down into the compartments. The only reason I
didn't get seasick was because I spent as much time as I
possibly could topside in a sheltered part of the ship,
or down in the sailors' quarters with the off duty sailors.

Some of the men below decks were so sick that they
didn't leave their bunks for four days. Few reported for
meals and I am sure some of them wished the ship would
sink to end their misery. I didn't try to make any
entries in my notebook until today, after the sea had
calmed down considerably.

February 26

Had a bad scare this afternoon. The weather was nice
and the sea calm., Several Companies of men were on deck
enjoying their first fresh air in several days. The
convoy which, during the storm had scattered somewhat,
regrouped in regular formation. All were zig zagging
according to plan, when it happened.

16



The George Washington, with about 5000 troops aboard,
was on our right., The wheelsman on the Washington, which
was a larger ship than ours, either missed his cue or
something went wrong with his steering mechanism. All
of the ships except the Washington turned to zag while
the Washington continued to zig and was headed directly
at the Covington.

Those of us who saw what was about to happen were
petrified and there wasn't a thing we could do to avert
it. Luckily someone up on the bridge had his wits about
him and blew a short blast on the Covington's whistle.

This brought the Washington literally up on her hind legs

as her engines were reversed, just in time to keep her

from ramming us. It was a very close call. From where I
stood on the deck, I would be willing to swear there wasn't
more than 15 feet of open water between the sharp bow of

the Washington and the side of our ship. Had the Washington
rammed us, we would have been cut in half, with a tremen-
dous loss of life.

February 29

According to the sailors I visited with each day,
we would be entering the war zone the next day. All
lookouts had been doubled and the ships were spaced farther
apart so that in the event of a submarine attack the ships
would have more maneuverability and would better be able
to make a run for it in any direction.

March 1
' Had another real scare today. About 2:00 this after-
noon we heard a sharp blast from the Huntington's whistle.
Before we knew what it was all about, I was mnearly knocked
off my feet. The Covington made a sharp left turn and
the ships to the right of us made sharp turns to their
right. The Huntington had turned broadside to us and let
go with every gun it had on the side facing us, right
down the alley where we had been a few seconds before,.
None of us on the Covington saw what the Huntington
fired at, but I don't think they were playing games in the
war zone. Later in the afternoon I learned from a petty
officer that the ship's log showed a possible hit by the
Huntington. (The Covington was later sunk on her way
back to the United States by a German submarine, July 1,
1918.) '

March 2

One of the cargo ships in the convoy had -dropped
behind the rest of the convoy. Semaphore signals were
being exchanged from the cargo ship to one of the other
ships. My guess, and the guess of some of the sailors
on our ship, was that the cargo ship had developed engine
trouble and had to slow down for repairs. These evidently
could not be made with the engines running at full speed.
She dropped farther and farther behind until she finally
disappeared from sight.
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The other ships in the convoy dared not slow down or
stop in the war zone for fear that they might become sitting
ducks for any lurking submarine. All we could do was hope
that the cargo ship would soon get her troubles fixed and
get moving again,.

About noon today we sighted what appeared to be speed
boats approaching at high speed. There were eight of them
and they were a welcome sight. Called submarine chasers,
they were more like hornets. They had terrific speed and
were about 80 feet or more long. Each of them had machine
guns mounted up near the bow on either side and light naval
guns fore and aft, Their real sting was in the Y gun and
the depth charges they were equipped to fire.

A depth charge looks very much like an o0il drum, about
four feet high and about 2-2% feet in diameter filled with
an explosive charge that can be set to explode at any
desired depth in the water.

The gun that fires the depth charges is fastened in
the center of the boat and is called a Y gun because it
resembles the letter Y. It is about five feet or more
high. To load and fire the gun, the loading crew first
roll two of the depth charges onto a lifting device, the
charges are then set to explode at a desired number of
feet down. The 1lifting device then lifts the charges
onto the two tops of the Y. The gun is then fired, which
hurls both of the depth charges up and out over both sides
of the boat. The boat, which is running at full speed,
is far away by the time the depth charges have hit the
water and sunk to the desired depth.

If a submarine is detected and submerges, or is de-
tected by the boats listening devices, the submarine
chasers will run rings around the area in which the sub-
marine is detected, dropping depth charges as fast as the
gun can be loaded and fired. A submarine caught within the
circle has only one chance of getting away from the crip-
pling or destroying explosion. That chance is to dive
for the bottom or as low in the water as it is safe
for the sub to go without being crushed by the water
pPressure,

The eight sub chasers, spaced at regular intervals,
continued to circle the convoy from the time they picked
us up until we were safely in the English Channel and
ready to make port the next morning.

March 3 )

Now that we were in the English Channel, practically
all of the troops were allowed up on deck so that they
could get their first glimpse of land. It wasn't our
homeland, but it was land, and any land looked good to
us. We didn't much care where it was.

As we proceeded up the English Channel, which at this
point was about 55 miles wide, we could make out the land
as a hazy background. As the Channel narrowed, we were
able to see both the English and the French coastlines much
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more clearly. Shortly after we were able to see the white
cliffs, which were just as the sailors had described them
to us. With solid 1land now on both sides of us, I felt
much safer than I had for the past 12 days. I am sure
that all of the soldiers and sailors were also greatly

relieved as we made our way into the harbor at Brest,
France.
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CHAPTER FOUR

FROM PONTANEZEN BARRACKS TO PERCY LA PETITE

March 4

None of the troops were landed on March 3. Don't
know why the delay. We expect it might be that we entered
the harbor at low tide and would have to wait for the tide
to come in before the water was deep enough to get close
to the docks. I asked one of the sailors and he confirmed
my guess. He said "The ships would drag bottom if they
tried to dock at low tide, especially with the heavy loads
all of them were carrying". About half of the ships
carrying troops disembarked them today. Our ship was
among the last to unload.

Apparently the time of arrival and the name of the
ports the ships were to dock at was restricted information.
Other than the dock hands, there wasn't a single civilian
to be seen. While I didn't really expect a welcoming
committee to greet us, I hoped that there would be some
French natives about who might wave a friendly hand at us.
I was expecting too much, The word did get around, however,
and by the time we landed, it took French soldiers and the
local Gendarmes to hold the crowd back.

It was good to get both feet back on solid ground
again and to get the cramps out of our legs that 15 days
of inactivity aboard ship had brought. I was trying to
compensate for the roll of the ship as we marched across
the docks and onto the streets of Brest.

For the first 10 or 15 minutes of marching we felt
fresh and the marching invigorated us. The crowds of
French people waving and shouting, '"Vive Americans,"
was thrilling to us. These people knew we had come to
help them put an end to a war that they had been fighting
for nearly four years.

As we continued on our way, the crowds thinned out
and the shouting died down. We found ourselves on a winding
hill road which seemed to get steeper as we went along.
When we finally came to a stop, we were up on the plains
above the city of Brest where we saw what was to be our
camp for the night. It was a large group of stone buildings
which looked rather forlorn and neglected. The buildings
were cold and damp, but worst of all, dirty. They looked
like they had not been used for years. The only fixtures
inside were wooden frames on which chicken wire had been
stretched for bunks. :

These buildings were called the Pontanezen Barracks,
and they might have been used by Napolean's troops at one
time. To us, they were just a dirty group of buildings
which we had to clean before we could sleep in them.

They may have looked forlorn, but I'l1l bet we looked more
so.
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It was getting dark by the time we had them cleaned
enough to sleep in. It didn't take us long after we had
eaten our supper of slum to roll out our blankets over
the chicken wire and to crawl into bed. Even though not
very comfortable, we did fall asleep.

March 5

Early this morning after another breakfast of slum,
we hit the trail down the winding road to the outskirts
of Brest. On a railroad siding stood a troop train waiting
to take us on the first leg of our journey, somewhere
across France, and inevitably to the front lines.

It was all still an adventure to us. While every-
thing wasn't exactly the way we had pictured, we were still
having fun and were looking forward to the many new things
we expected to see at every turn in the road. We were
about the most happy-go-lucky bunch of fellows one could
find anywhere. The war we had come over to fight was about
the farthest thing from our minds.

I didn't pay much attention to the train until just
before we got on it. Then I noticed that it was far
different from those we had been used to back home, The
coaches were made up of compartments which one got into
from doors on either side. One row of four seats faced
the front and another row faced the rear in each compart-
ment, with an aisle between. There was no way to get from
one compartment to another while the train was moving.
When the train came to a stop you could get out and walk a
narrow running board alongside the coach. The locomotive
seemed much smaller than the ones we were used to. The
train whistle was a high, piercing sound which we heard
for the first time when the conductor signaled with a
small whistle he carried on a chain about his neck. He
waved his arms frantically at the engineer and we were
on our way. Where to, no one knew.

We tried to see as much of the scenic countryside
as we could while passing through. It was far different
from that at home. There were small farms and villages
where the farmers lived but no single farm homes along the
roads or highways. Our train made no stops and we only
caught glimpses of the villages as we passed by them.
After several hours of gazing at the passing countryside,
someone discovered a sign along the railway right of way
which said "Paris'". Shortly we were entering the outskirts
of the city.

We could hardly believe our good fortune. Our first
day in France and here we were entering Paris. Everyone
had suggestions and ideas on what to do and where to go
on our first night in Paris, the capital city of France.
It was the city we had all heard so much about. I had
dreamed of someday visiting Paris, but never thought it
would be so soon. We were like school kids again. 1
guess we even forgot that we were in the Army and under
Army orders. We should have realized that we would not
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be permitted to run wild. We were soon brought back to
reality for the train kept right on chugging along with
only an occasional screech from the locomotive whistle

as we neared road crossings that led into Paris.

We bypassed the entire city and only when we were
out in the countryside again did we realize that our hopes
were just dreams and that Paris was not for us, at least
not now. -Maybe it would become a reality someday, but
for the present it seems there were more important things
that had to be done first.

Toward noon the train came to a half on a siding on
the outskirts of a village. There we detrained. From
here on we were to see France on foot. As we marched
along we would barely leave one village when we could see
the church spire of the next village, which was no more
than three or four miles ahead. Each village was different
from the one before, yet there was some similarity to all
of them.

Each village had one long slightly curving street with
barns and six or eight foot walls between each barn,.

These lined both sides of the street, with an occasional
building set apart from the others, containing either the
local store or a cafe. There were no sidewalks. That space
was reserved as a place of honor for each barn's manure pile.
One could tell who the prosperous farmers were by the

size of the pile just beside the barn door.

The church was generally at one end of the street
and as a rule there were no cross roads or streets. A
door in the wall between the barns led into a courtyard
from where you could see the back of the farm house. The
front of the house faced away from the barn and courtyard,
overlooking the open fields beyond.

Late afternoon found us entering a much more pleasant
village. Only one side of the road had barns and adjoining
homes, all facing the road., The other side of the road
bordered on a small river which was about 25 or 30 feet
from the road, and the ground between sloped gently down
to the riverbank. I'm sure that in the summer this area
would be green with grass except for one area which housed
the one cafe in the village. This village was "Percy
La Petite".

Companies G and H were ordered to fall out here, while
the remainder of the Batallion went on to the next village
where they could be billeted. We were assigned billet
space in small groups of one or two squads each, depending
on the space available in each of the barn lofts or the
barn floors.

Our rolling kitchen was set up on the river side of
the road and our evening meal of slum, coffee and French
bread (the first we have had) was ready by the time we
deposited our gear in the billets where we were to sleep.
Once we received our ration of food, we were on our own.
We sat down at the side of the road in small groups and
ate as heartily as if we had all the comforts of home.
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The French people were curious, for we were the first
American soldiers in their part of the country. They were
friendly as well. They spoke to us in French and we talked
back to them in English, For the first few days neither
of us made much sense, but eventually, by sign language
and the aid of French dictionaries which each of us carried,
we managed to get along fairly well.

Some of the more adventurous of our men found the
lone cafe. Everyone who was able to squeeze into the cafe
was soon drinking wine, warm beer or Cognac. The cafe
owner, in his best French, tried to tell the men that they
must take seats at the tables to be served. Our men were
accustomed to standing at the bar. This misunderstanding,
along with too much cognac, soon led to arguments and a
fight broke out. The military police soon arrived and
cleared the cafe of American soldiers. Henceforth, the
cafe was off limits except for limited hours and a
specified number of soldiers at one time.

We didn't know the value of the French money and had
been paying 3-5 times what the wine, beer or Cognac was
worth., It hadn't taken the shrewd cafe owner long to figure
out that every American soldier was a millionaire who just
loved to have his money taken from him. The Americans
soon became aware that they were being taken to the cleaners
and decided to get even. French paper money came in several
different sizes while American bills were all the same
size. The men began passing out cigarette coupons, which
came in every pack of cigarettes, as money, and they were
accepted by the cafe owner. He must have gotten enough
coupons to paper the entire inside of his cafe and living
quarters.

Each day the Batallion was marched out to an open
field., Here the real training for war had commenced, and
was continued all day, with only a short break for lunch.,

In the early evening after supper we would gather together

in small groups to play blackjack, poker or to shoot craps.
Others just sat around to talk about the folks back home,
write letters, or tried to visit with the natives, On

the one Sunday we were in Percy La Petite, nearly every-
one in the two Companies attneded mass. Only a small
number of them were Catholic, but it was the only church

in the village. Those who attended must have felt the need
of faith and divine guidance,
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CHAPTER FIVE
BAPTISM OF FIRE, DEATH AND DESTRUCTION

v LETTERS FROM HOME

March 11

This morning the Companies were ordered to fall in
just as on every other morning. 1Instead of being marched
out to the drill field, we were given some very dis-
heartening news. We were told that there would be no more
Company drilling. The entire Batallion had been made a
replacement Batallion and most of the men would be sent
to the First Division as replacements for the 28th Infantry
Regiment, which had to be rebuilt to full strength to
make up the losses it had suffered in action,

At the time, each of us felt that we were being done
a grave injustice. We had drilled and worked hard together
to make our outfit the very best we knew how., We believed
we were a smooth operating unit and should remain together
as a unit. Of course we had nothing to say or do about it.
The orders had come from the "top brass",

A few weeks later all of us realized the wisdom and
full import of the Companies being broken up and assigned
to many other Companies of the First Division. The losses
of any one Company could be terrific and had we remained
together as a Company, our communities back home would
have been having dozens of casualties reported in a single
day.

We were given time to pack our bags and to say good
bye to the officers and non-com's who were to remain behind.
Then we were led to trucks that carried us to a village
up near the front. The 28th Infantry Regiment was in a
rest area, having just returned from the front lines.

We were met by Major Rasmuessen who ordered us to
stand at ease. He addressed us as nearly as I can recall,
"You soldiers are wondering why your Batallion was broken
up and made a replacement unit for my Regiment, and I'm
going to tell you why. My Regiment is the best damned
Regiment in the whole U.S. Army and I want to keep it
that way. Army headquarters knows the record of your
Batallion, so when I asked for replacements they sent me
the very best they had. I am proud to welcome you to the
28th Infantry., The Companies you will be assigned to will
welcome you and make you feel at home, and they will also
give you the benefit of their front line experjence."

As names were called out, each man stepped forward
and was assigned to a Company. I don't know how many
of old Company G were here as replacements, or the Com-
panies to which they were assigned. Things were happening
too fast to keep track of each person. I know that Archie
Lackshire (the first man from old Company F to be killed)
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went to A Company of the first Batallion. Clarence

Capelle and I went to E Company of the second Batallion.
Ernest Haucke (the first Algoma man killed), Joe Jindra,
Urban Kashik, Frank Lidral and Clarence Zastrow went to

F Company. Jindra and Lidral were both later killed in
action., Oliver Norstrum (also later killed in action)

went to M Company of the third Batallion. Many others from
our old Company went to other Companies of the 28th
Regiment, but I can't at this time remember their names

or the Companies they went to.

We had been in France less than two weeks and much
had already happened to us. Instead of the once happy
unit of just a few days ago, we were now with strangers,
mostly boys from Alabama, Mississippi, Tennessee, and
Kentucky. To make matters worse, none of us had so far
received any mail from home, and possibly wouldn't
receive any for several more days, now that we had a
different mailing address with a different Division.

It certainly didn't help our morale. In my case, it didn't
hurt too badly as the boys of E Company gave Clarence
Capelle and myself a nice welcome, and after a couple

of days we began to feel like we had always been with the
Company.

March 15

After a rest period of three days, and once again
at full battle strength, the 28th went back up to the
front in a support area at Beaumont, in the Aunseville
Sector, not too far from the city of Toul. Here I and the
other replacements received our first baptism of shell
fire from the Germans. In the past we had not been close
enough to hear more than the rumbling of the big guns at
the front. However, the sound had been so faint that we
were not the least bit disturbed by it, at least not any
more than we would be by the rumbling of thunder.

When the Germans dropped the first shells in Beaumont
after we arrived, I didn't know what it was all about. I
stood there like a sight seeing tourist looking for the
cause of that loud shrill whistling sound followed by a
much louder sound of the exploding shells. After the
"old timers'" shouted for me to get down and I saw them
sprawled flat on the ground, it didn't take me long to do
the same thing,

I had been scared several times in my life before,
but now that I could hear these shells coming over I
really began to know what fear was,

The Beaumont area was a very active front., Day and
night shells of all sizes and descriptions were dropped
at irregular intervals, all over the area, Beaumont, like
most French villages, was a one street village. What made
it different from other French villages we had been in
was that it had been under shell fire for so long that
there wasn't much left of it. The civilians had long sinc®
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departed with all of their possessions. All that remained
were the shambles of the blown-in walls of homes, and the
remains of leaning barn walls. There wasn't a whole
building in the village.

We were at a military disadvantage here in Beaumont
and for a mile or more on either side of the village.

The German forces were heavily entrenched in the hills
just beyond the village. They had excellent observation
positions. They safely looked down upon us and saw every
move we made, but we were unable to see them. The Germans
were not only in an excellent strategic position, but were
up high and dry while our troops in the trenches were down
in the wet lowlands. Our trenches could only be dug a

few feet deep. Even then the water from the hills,
because of the ever constant rain, soon had our trenches
knee-deep in water. The top part of the trenches had to
be built above ground. What little protection they afforded
was from the saplings placed close together and woven into
a basket-1ike fence, with ground thrown in front of it for
as much screening and protection as it would afford.

A main highway ran parallel to the front between
Beaumont and the trenches., The trucks and men who had to
travel that highway suffered many direct hits. It was in
this area that I saw the first casualties of war, in the
forms of killed and wounded. I found it hard to believe
that human beings could and were deliberately killing
one another. I began to wonder what sort of propaganda
could make young people want to fight a war such as this.

The French troops who were on either side of us had
a large field rifle which was mounted on a flat car.

In the daytime, they kept it hidden in a wooded area
somewhere in back of the lines where it was safe and
unseen. Each night after dark we would watch a small
donkey engine push the flat car with the field rifle mounted
on it up a narrow guage track almost behind the remains

of the barn in which some of us were billeted. A dozen

or more high caliber shells were quickly dispatched to
targets picked out by observation planes during the day.
The gun was then quickly pulled back to its hiding place
and the track again covered with dirt and straw camouflage
material. ,

This big rifle was evidently doing considerable damage
and the Germans were doing their best to put it out of
commission, By the time the Germans thought they had the
proper range, the gun was no longer there. We troops were
there to take the saturation fire of shells they sent
over,

March 20

Received my first letter from home today. It was from
my mother. On the back flap of the envelope, and also at
the top of the first page of the letter was the number 11,
Mother had explained to me in a previous letter which I had
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received while still at Camp MacArthur in Texas that she
would start numbering each letter to me so that I would
know the order in which they were written. I wondered
what had happened to the other ten letters.

In this first letter received, mother said she had
received the letter I had written while on the boat, on the
way over to France. She had not received any letters from
me since that one and wondered why. I hate to admit it,
but I had written only one or two letters home, and they
would evidently be enroute several more weeks before
getting to the home town. Mother also mentioned that all
at home were well and were hoping and praying that the
war would soon be over. She said "The old town isn't
the same anymore with all of the young boys gone. The
draft had taken all of those who hadn't enlisted and they
were now in the training camps." I wrote a short note
home saying I was as well as could be expected. I didn't
tell her that I was sick at heart at the awful things I
had seen, or that I was frightened every moment of the
day and night,.

March 29

A very unusual thing happened today that might occur
one in a million times. Mail call sounded and I was among
the first to respond. I was hoping to find a letter from
home. The Company clerk had not one, but two sacks of
mail so I felt sure there would be one letter for me.
Following his usual routine, he took a handful of letters
from the bag and called out the names of the soldiers they
were addressed to. As the names were called, they stepped
forward and shouted, "Here'", and claimed their letter.
Some of the boys received two or three letters, but in that
first bag there wasn't a single one for me. As there was
still another sack, I still had hopes.

Then the Company clerk announced that the second sack
contained letters all addressed to the Batallion Commander
from girls back home. My hopes were shattered. He also
announced that anyone who wanted a letter from some girl
could step up and take one from the sack. Most of us
considered it a big joke, but as long as I had not received
a letter from home I, like many of the others, took one
from the sack.

I stepped aside to let the others take a letter and
glanced at the envelope to see where it was from. The
postmark was Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and the date was
March 16, 1918. This letter had been mailed more than
a month after I had left the states, but the letter inside
was dated February 18, the same day that the troops had
come aboard the Covington. It must have laid around in
Milwaukee an entire month before being mailed.

While the letter was not from home, it was fairly
close to home and that helped some. The letter read as
follows, "To a soldier boy in France: Dear solider boy;
You are wondering who I am and I am wondering the same thing
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about you. It isn't an easy matter to write a letter to

a perfect stranger, but I am going to try my best. I

am attending the Milwaukee Normal School. President
Pearse, our head, has asked each girl in the Normal to
write one letter to a soldier boy in your Company, so that
is why I am writing this letter.

I have three other soldier boys to keep me busy
writing letters, but it seems I can always find time for
just one more. One of the three is my brother. He is a
Private in the 128th Wisconsin Infantry. He is at New
Jersey now and I expect will soon leave for France. Believe
me, I am proud of him and proud of all our American boys
and the work they are doing and will do in France.

I suppose you have seen service in the trenches already.
We get little snatches of news from the trenches once in
awhile, but very little personal news, Just what we get
from the papers and that isn't very much, nor reliable.

So I am real anxious to hear from someone who really
knows something about it.

You are still in the dark as to whom you are writing.
In case you would like to answer this '"epistle", I'll
try to make it a little easier for you to answer it by
describing myself. I am nineteen years old, about five
feet, six inches tall, light haired, blue eyes. There,
that sounds like a description of persons the family is
looking for and can't find.

I am taking the primary course at Milwaukee Normal
and like it fairly well. I am not very fond of study just
now, The war spirit has got me. I'd rather be doing Red
Cross or Relief work just now, but I've got to finish
school first and do my "bit" the best way I can now.

Now I've come to the end of my letter and find I
haven't told you anything of interest. But, I promise
to do better next time I write (that is, if you care to
answer), Wishing you the best of luck in your under-
taking from a girl in the U.S.A. that would like to be
your friend." The letter was signed Rosabell E. Kashik,
1264 30th Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Talk about a one in a million shot, this was it.
Rosabell Kashik is a younger sister of Urban Kashik who
not only comes from my home town, but up until a couple
of weeks ago was a member of my old Company G of the
128th Infantry. He had enlisted at the same time I did
in Company F of the 5th Wisconsin Infantry, which was
disbanded at Camp MacArthur, Texas, and we were reassigned
to Company G, 128th Infantry. Urban is now in Company F,
the Company next to my Company E of the 2nd Batallion of
the 28th Infantry. I have known Rosabell practically all
of her life.
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CHAPTER SIX
WE LEARN FROM THE FRENCH

A CIGARETTE LIGHTER AND A TRENCH KNIFE

March 30

We have been under almost constant artillery fire ever
since our arrival on this front, and are fast learning
from experience to distinguish between incoming and out-
going shells, and whether French or American outgoing.
We have learned from the sound of the whine about how close
a shell will hit, and also to tell the difference between
a high explosive shell and a shrapnel-type shell which
explodes in the air and bursts into thousands of steel
splinters, any of which can cause a severe wound or death.
We can detect the gas shells, which sort of rumble as
they come over, and which have frequently been used by
the Germans,.

We spent a fair share of time behind the front lines,
but we also shared some time with the French in the
trenches. The French, who had been in the war several
years before we got into it, taught us many lifesaving
things. We learned not to light a cigarette in the trenches
with a match. The glow of a 1lit match can be seen quite
some distance by the constant peering eyes of German
snipers. The French learned this lesson the hard way, by
having some men being killed as a match flared. Each
French soldier who smoked, and most of them did, carried
a special lighter. When sparked by a steel wheel against
a flint it caused the spark to ignite a cord-like wick
which gave off a faint red glow which couldn't be seen
more than a couple of feet away. I liked to smoke, and
wanted one of the lighters, so I managed with hand motions
and a few French words to make it known to one of my
French soldier acquaintances. Several days later this
French soldier took me to a wooded area some miles behind
the lines.

The French had about a half dozen mobile machine shop
trucks parked here. These enclosed trucks housed every-
thing possible in the way of machines and equipment needed
to repair or rebuild small arms, rifles and machine guns.
The mechanics with the trucks were specialists and could do
or make almost anything. In their spare time, they made
up lighters from old shell casings which they sold to the
men in the lines. '

While the soldier I was with visited with his French
buddies, I had an opportunity to look around the shop we
were in, One of the mechanics was working on what appeared
to be like a hunting knife. He had improved it by fasten-
ing an eliptical metal hand guard about a half inch wide
from the back end of the handle to the juncture of the
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blade and the handle. As I watched he welded eight or
ten pyramid-shaped metal studs to this hand guard. When
finished, he removed the knife from the vise, slipped his
hand around the handle with his knuckles under the guard,
and showed me how to use it. It was a deadly weapon.

The studs on the metal guard were like brass knuckles.

A blow with them to the head could kill a man, and the
blade could kill just as quickly.

Most of the French infantrymen carried these knives
in a leather sheath fastened to their belts. I decided
that if it was a good weapon for the French, it ought to
be a good weapon for me. I don't know if any other Americans
ever got one of these French knives. They were not what
we would call Government issue. I carried mine on my
belt under by blouse to keep it concealed.

We Americans were like babes in the woods. We came
over to France to fight a war that we knew nothing about.
A few obsolete artillery pieces, and no hand grenades.

We relied on the French for grenades, which while effective
were also very tricky and dangerous to the uninitiated.
The French grenade had a tin cap on the top which, when
removed, exposed a metal pin about a half inch long with
a small knob on the protruding end. The knob on the pin
was supposed to be hit on the top of your helmet while

on your head, so that the pin would be driven into the
grenade thus setting the ignitor off in four seconds or
less. The grenade would then explode in hundreds of
razor sharp fragments. If you were lucky, you got it off
and away in time. If not, you were either wounded or
dead.

Luckily, we had patient French instructors. They
would take a platoon of about 40 men out away from every-
one, find a stone wall about five or six feet high and line
us up along the wall. We were then given dummy grenades.
In their best English, they explained how to use the
grenades.

We watched and mimicked everything they did, even to
throwing the dummy grenades over the wall. Next, we were
given live grenades and told that no matter what, once
the grenade was hit on our helmets, we were to get rid
of them over the wall, As is always the case, someone
didn't listen carefully enough, or thought that the real
grenade would give a pop to let the person know that it
was active. One of our gang hit the pin on his helmet,
and since he didn't hear any sound, he hit it a second
time. Luckily, one of the instructors standing just a
step or two from him grabbed the grenade from his hand
and heaved it partially over the wall before it exploded.
Everyone flopped to the ground and no one was injured, but
it taught the rest of us a lesson not to waste any time
getting rid of our grenades. If our instructors hadn't
been so patient and so willing to take the risks they did,
many of us, including myself, might not be here today to
tell about it.
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We learned many things from the French who had been in
this awful war for four years, and other things from our
own experiences. We learned to eat, sleep and live in
trenches that at times were knee deep in water and mud.

We learned to live like animals being hunted down; to live
with rats and to bear the sight of blood. We saw our
friends and buddies shot by machine gun and rifle fire

and others carried back on stretchers with an arm or a leg
blown away. We gradually grew hardened to the sight of
men blown to bits, and their insides scattered over the
ground. I honestly didn't know that any human being could
see and experience these things and come away from a war
in his right mind. I know that I lived in constant fear
of death and I wasn't sure of how much more of it I could
take.

What we had gone through up to now, I soon learned,
was just the beginning; the breaking in and conditioning
period of what was yet to come. We who had engaged in
combat with the enemy and were still being exposed to the
tempering fires of war had grown from boys to men in a
very short span of time.

Our eyes were opened and we were seeing at first hand
the opposite side of the picture that had been painted to
us. All that we had previously been exposed to was the
sound of bands playing, flags flying and the drill fields
as thousands of neatly dressed, precision marching men
passed in review. Gayly colored posters showing victorious
armies were all a part of the propaganda tuned to its
finest, to appeal to the youth of our country.

This was nothing new to America or to all of the other
countries of the world. It had been going on for genera-
tions, and always aimed at the younger generation who,
because of their youth, inexperience and gullability,
had not been made mistrustfull of the half truths being
fed to them. We were now beginning to learn and under-
stand that wars were started by old men, and fought by
young men.

We realized now for the first time the truth, when we
saw the dead comrades, or what remained of them, being
carried in ponchos or blankets to the rear areas for such
burial as a small group of soldiers can give them in the
nearest shell hole. The dog tags removed from around
their necks and tied to the rifles and stuck bayonet
first into the ground to mark the spot. Then, if he was
lucky, much later when the war has passed this area by
a burial party will come along, dig up the remains in the
poncho or blanket and re-bury it in a Government plot of
ground.

We see the truth in the faces of the terribly wounded
boys being carried back on stretchers to first aid stations.
Some of these with a piece of shrapnel or a rifle or a
machine gun bullet through their lungs are gasping for

31



air. Others have stomach, head or face wounds. As we
view these things, we understand more clearly than ever
that we are being conditioned to do what these men have
done before us. To fight a war and perhaps to be maimed
or die for the old men who would not try to settle arguments
or problems by open discussion, instead of by secret
treaties and intrigue.

There are no flags flying or bands playing up here.
The only instruments heard are the instruments of death and
destruction, The singing we once heard by marching men
is now the moans and cries of pain from the wounded, left
lying where they fell, or on the stretchers as they are
carried back to be patched up.
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CHAPTER SEVEN

COOTIES, THE ENEMY WITHIN

April 3
We were relieved tonight by troops of the 26th
Division, at about 10:00, From the noise and confusion

made by the relieving outfit, we were almost certain that
this was their first time in the trenches. We couldn't
help but feel sorry for them and the beehive they were
stirring up. We knew that the less noise we made, the less
likely we would be heard by the enemy and the less chance
there was of being shelled during the change.

As one of the Companies of relieving troops filed into
the trenches, one of our Companies would quietly file out.
Each man held onto the pack or belt of the man ahead of
him so as not to leave a gap, until we had cleared both the
front line trench and the communication trench.

On our way out we tried to quiet the incoming men,
but they were scared and in a bad state of confusion.

They had come up to the lines over roads that were pock-
marked with shell holes filled with water from the con-
stant downpour of rain., No lights were allowed for fear
the enemy would see them and shell both incoming and out-
going troops. In the darkness it was almost impossible to
keep your footing in the mud. Trying to feel their way
forward in the darkness, many of the new men slipped and
fell into the water-filled holes. Others behind stumbled
and fell on top of them and it soon became a madhouse of
shouting and swearing men. Occasionally an officer, who
should have known better, would flash a light. All we could
do was to tell them to douse it and to calm down, but to
little avail. I thought back to my first trip into the
lines, with seasoned men leading us, and I knew just how
these men must feel.

We couldn't stop to explain to them or we would be
holding up the Companies behind us. We moved as fast as
we possibly could to get out of the trenches, and didn't
want to be caught in the shell fire we were expecting at
any moment.

Either the Germans were sound asleep, which we knew
wasn't the case, or they were biding their time. We managed
to make a complete withdrawal without a single shell coming
our way and, by midnight, were several miles behind the
lines in a heavily wooded area. We were assigned to a
group of French barracks. These were built in the woods
so that observation planes would not see them on their
daily trips over the area.

After we first entered the barracks we thought how
lucky we were to be able to get into a nice dry place for
a night's sleep. A couple of lanterns were lighted and
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what we saw looked even better than we had a right to think
of. The floor had a thick layer of straw and it was
almost like being able to sleep on a mattress.

We hadn't been permitted to smoke on our way back
from the lines, and now with all this straw on the floor
we were not permitted to smoke in the barracks either.

Many of us went outdoors to take a final smoke before
hitting the sack.

It sure was good to get rid of our packs and to feel
free to light a cigarette without the danger of drawing
enemy fire. We had had a long day and a hard night, so
we didn't linger very long over that cigarette. Soon all
of us were in the barracks spreading out our blankets on
the soft straw, anxious to crawl between the blankets to
keep warm as well as to get some sleep.

We didn't try to take off our clothes, just removed our
shoes. The lights were extinguished and everyone crawled
inside of their blankets. 1In less than a minute some of
the boys were snoring, but before I could get to sleep
I and all of the others found that we were caught in a
booby trap, and it was already too late to do much about
it. That thick layer of straw on the floor was our
undoing and we had no one to blame but ourselves. We
should have known that we had no right to expect only
what we got.

I was almost asleep when I felt something crawling
along the neckband of my shirt, and before I could brush
it off, I felt others crawling on my belly and across my
chest. Seconds later every man in the barracks was on
his feet, most of them cussing and swearing like mad. The
straw on the floor was alive with cooties from the
Morrocans and Algerians who had slept there the night
before. All of us were crawling with this special breed
of lice, There was no sleep for anyone; in fact, we all
left the barracks and spent the rest of the night under
the trees, scratching madly.

Just before dawn, we heard the roar of greatly in-
creased gun fire. What we had feared earlier was now
happening. A heavy barrage was being laid down on that
portion of the 26th Division that was in the front trenches.
This was followed by a raiding party. The Germans came
over in such large numbers that we were alerted and ordered
to get ready to hike back to the front to help stop them
from driving a deep salient into our lines. We were not
ordered to return to the front, however, as the Germans
had only raided the newly arrived troops. On the following
day when we arrived in an army camp just outside of Toul,
we learned that the 26th had suffered heavy casualties,

April 4

This is the first real camp we've been in since we
landed in France. The barracks are permanent and built
of stone. Before we were permitted to enter them, we had
to be deloused. Company after Company stripped to the
skin and our clothes were thrown into large baskets which
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were run through a delousing machine., In the meantime,
we took hot showers and were dusted with a delousing powder
from head to foot,

After our clothes came out of the delouser, they were
passed through a heated room where they were dried. This
took some time, and as we had no other clothes to wear,
there were hundreds of us running around in the delousing
area in our birthday suits.

To make sure our clothing was free of cooties, we
inspected the seams of our shirts and britches thoroughly.
If one was found, and some did manage to survive the delouser,
we held a lighted match or our cigarette lighter to them
and burned them off,.

The barracks were clean and equipped with a bunk,
chair and nightstand for each soldier. Toilet facilities
and showers were provided on each floor. This was the
nearest thing to home that any of us had been in since
enlisting.

April 5

Early this morning our Regiment was ordered to fall in
for inspection. Truthfully, we were a sorry looking lot.
We had tried our best to make ourselves presentable. After
the delousing treatment they had received, nothing but a
new issue of uniforms would ever make us presentable again.

The General who made the inspection obviously had never
been near a delouser and didn't know what havoc they could
produce. Less than an hour after the first inspection,
every Company had been reassembled and were standing at
attention while the Captains were giving us hell.

We were told in no uncertain terms that we were the
worst outfit in the Army, and that we would be made to pay
for it. Our Captain Johnson had us polishing shoes, rifles
and equipment until they sparkled. There was plenty of
grumbling and a few threats in undertones by some of the
men concerning what would happen to Captain Johnson once
we were back up in the lines again. I can't say that I
blamed the men and I was just as angry as they were. Our
sorry condition was not of our doing. It was the fault
of the delousing equipment which we were compelled to use.
Our clothes were not dirty and ragged, but just plain
wrinkled beyond description.
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CHAPTER EIGHT

FREE WINE, THE GISOR SECTOR AND A FORCED MARCH

April 8

It was too good to last. This morning at reveille
we received our marching orders, and would be on our way
within the next couple of hours. The Germans had started
an offensive on March 21 in the Picardy Sector, and despite
savage and stubborn defensive action, the French forces
were driven back several miles before they finally brought
the advancing Germans to a halt just outside of Cantigny.
Colonial troops had relieved the exhausted French reserves
who had fought so valiantly and stubbornly, and Colonials
were holding. The high command knew that as soon as the
enemy could regroup and replenish their ranks with men and
supplies, the drive would be resumed. The First Division
was badly needed and was ordered relieved from the Lorraine
Sector. Orders were to proceed as quickly as possible to
the Picardy Sector before the enemy started the offensive
rolling again,

To this time when we were about to leave the Lorraine
Sector our Division losses had been six officers and 137
men killed or had died of wounds, 19 officers and 384
men wounded, and three men captured or missing in action.

A total of 25 officers and 524 men.

The Division was assembled and entrained just outside
the city of Toul. The troop trains were no longer the
compartment type coaches in which we had our first train
ride. We were no longer newly arrived Americans, but just
ordinary soldiers that were badly needed and would be trans-
ported by any means possible. The cars were what we called
in America "cattle cars" and we were herded into them like
cattle., Each car had painted on its sides "40 Hommes or
8 Chevaux'" (40 men or 8 horses). This was to be our mode
of transportation and it was much better than walking.

After several hours of traveling, the train pulled
into a siding in order to let another troop train pass
in the opposite direction. While we were parked on the
siding, some of the boys in our car noticed that a French
supply train was parked on another track next to us.
Standing just opposite our car was a wooden tank car ;
labeled Vin Rouge. We knew that the French army was supplied
with a daily ration of wine, or Vin Rouge. Here before
our eyes was refreshment for the taking. .

After a quick conference, a plan was put into action.
One squad of eight men fired their rifles in unison so
that it sounded just like a single shot, into the tank car
just above the three quarter full mark. Two squads with
two canteens each boarded the tank car and filled the

canteens as the red wine spurted out through the bullet
holes,
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The plan worked beautifully. We got our wine, the tank
car would only let out wine until it reached the bullet
holes, and thus the French were assured of their wine ration,
but only a three quarter ration.

Perhaps eight horses could be comfortable in these
open-sided cars, but 40 men couldn't. The wine helped to
chase away the chill caused by the fast moving train,
and it also helped to take our minds off what lay ahead of
us.

Several hours passed before we came to another stop.
Here we witnessed a coup more daring than the one we had
just pulled off. The train stopped on the main line beside
the railway station of a fairly large city. The conductor
went inside the station to get orders as to whether we were
to continue on or to wait for oncoming trains. He was in
the station for a comparatively short time, then came out,
blew his whistle at the engineer, and motioned with his
arms to proceed on our way. Our car was quite a way back
from the station, but we were looking out through the
openings in the sides of the car and through the open
door, trying to see where we were and why we had stopped.

Just as the engineer blew the locomotive whistle,
signaling that we were to start, five men from the car
opposite the station door jumped down and rushed into the
station. Two of the men were carrying rifles. A moment
later four of the men came out of the station with the
red hot, pot-bellied stove resting on the two rifles.

It was carried by the men right to their own train car.

The fifth man followed with a bucket of coal and several
lengths of stove pipe. The train was rolling along as

the last man was hauled aboard by his comrades. The station
master dashed out of the door shaking his fist at the train
as we passed him by. I know those boys had a warmer car
than the one we were in.

April 9

We detrained last evening about 7:00 just outside of
another village. I wish I could remember the names of all
the villages we pass through or even the names of those
we stop in, but it is next to impossible. I can't even
spell or pronounce the names of most of the villages we
stop in. We are again billeted in the barns and according
to the latest news, we are southwest of Paris in what is
known as the Gisor Sector. The location doesn't mean much
to me other than that we are not in a combat area. It
is quiet and peaceful here, and only once in a while we
can hear the faint rumble, like thunder, of the distant
guns. I wouldn't mind staying here until this bloody war
is over.

April 10

We are undergoing a new type of training called "open
warfare training" and have been told that it means the end
of trench warfare as we knew it. From now on we will be
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expecting to go on the offensive against the enemy.
Apparently the powers that be feel that with the arrival
of the Americans in greater numbers the allied armies have
sufficient strength to start driving the enemy back rather
than continuing the holding tactics we had been doing up
to this time. It is supposed that once we get a drive
started we will continue the advance and keep the enemy
off balance, eventually driving them out of French soil
and back into Germany. From what I have seen of the German
army, it is still strong and won't give up ground without
a severe struggle. I hope the "Big Brass'" know what they
are doing.

April 17

Shortly after chow call this morning, we were ordered
to pack anything that we didn't need at the front into our
barracks bags. These would then be stored until our return
to the rear area. This can mean only that sometime
today we will again be on our way up to the front lines.

Until today I had been carrying my camera strapped
to the small of my back under my pack. The only pictures
I had been able to take were of the convoy, some of the
troops aboard the ship, our troops in some of the French
villages where we were billeted, and some of the French
homes and French people. At the front we were either
under fire too much of the time or it was raining too
hard to be able to get any good pictures. I decided to
leave the camera behind this time as it was rather awkward
to carry.

Several rolls of film that had been exposed were
safely stored in my barracks bag, but I didn't want to
leave my camera in the bag. My biggest fear was that it
might get damaged. I had seen barracks bags stored before
and wondered how anything breakable could ever survive
their handling. The bags were picked up on the Company
street, thrown into large trucks and hauled to an avail-
able vacant building. They were again unloaded like sacks
of grain and stacked in the building right up to the ceiling.
I don't know how a camera or any other fragile article in
the bags at the bottom of the pile could withstand the
weight of all the bags on top of themn.

It happened that in this sector we had a YMCA Canteen,
the first one I had run across in France. We would gather
there evenings when we were off duty. We could get free
stationery and write letters home, or just visit with other
soldiers. The Y was in a large tent. One could buy ciga-
rettes or chocolate bars, as well as find shelter when it
rained, which was most of the time.

A Mr. Beck was in charge of the Y and I decided to
ask him if he would be good enough to keep my camera for
me until I returned. At first he hesitated about doing
it. I suppose if he did it for one person he would be
asked to keep other things for other soldiers and could be
loaded down with a lot of extras. After he finally agreed
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to keep the camera for me I told him that if I didn't
come back to claim it he was to open the back and in it
he would find the address of my parents, to whom he should
send the camera after the war was over and he was back in
the States. He hesitated quite a while, but finally put
the camera in his own locker with his personal belongings
saying, "I hope you will be back to claim it soon."

Our batallion left the Gisor Sector under forced
march. Fifty minutes of hiking then a ten minute rest,
another fifty minutes of hiking and another ten minute
rest. At noon we were given a half hour rest period to
eat our lunch, which consisted of our "Iron Rations," a
can of corned beef or bully beef and a package of hard-
tack which each man carried in his back pack. These rations
were not to be used except in time of emergency, and the
noon lunch period this day was considered an emergency
because the rolling kitchens that were to feed us were
horse drawn and the horses could not keep up the pace of
marching men. The kitchens were nowhere in sight when
we stopped at noon.

One can of Corn Willie or one can of Bully beef was
opened and shared by the four men in the front of the
squad, another can was shared by the four men in the back
row of the squad. A box of hardtack was also shared by
each of the four men and the lunch was washed down with
water from our canteens.

At the end of the first day when we stopped for the
night, we had walked about 30 kilometers, and rolled up
in our blankets without any supper as the kitchens were
still nowhere in sight. We slept on the side of the road
in the ditches and in the fields beside the road.
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CHAPTER NINE
SCAVENGING FOR FOOD

VILLERS TOURNELL

April 18

We were awakened this morning by the commotion of
hundreds of men moving about, talking and cussing and the
smell of food. The rolling kitchens had caught up with
us sometime through the night and the cooks took turns
keeping the fires going and cooking the slum. None of
us did any griping about getting the same old slum. We
were hungry and ate it because that was all that there was.
When you are hungry you aren't too choosey.

Today was a repetition of yesterday. No rolling
kitchens at noon, so the second man in the squad opened
his can of meat and carton of hardtack which was again
shared with the four of us. Again, when we stopped for the
night there was no sign of the rolling kitchens. We had
traveled another 30 kilometers.

My half of the squad who had been sharing each others
food decided to do something about it., We recalled that
shortly before stopping for the night we had passed a small
village, possibly a mile or less from where we now were.
As tired as we were, we hiked across the fields to the
village to scavenge for food.

We went house-to-house, buying a crust of bread at
one house, a dozen eggs at another house, and a bottle of
wine at another house. We kept up the calls until we
had gathered four chunks of bread, six dozen eggs, and
two bottles of wine. At the last house in the village
we didn't try to buy food because we believed we had
enough. What we did need was a woman's knowhow and the
necessary stove and frying pan in which to scramble the
eggs. With our limited French, we were able to persuade
the lady of the house to prepare the eggs for us. She
provided us with plates at the table in her kitchen and
the four of us sat down to eat, drink wine and relax.

When the first pan of scrambled eggs was ready they
were placed before us and we helped ourselves while trying
to convince the lady we wanted more., The "beaucoup more"
we repeated to her and which we believed meant '"much more"
must have been close, for another pan of eggs was presented
and it disappeared as quickly as the first one. The lady
must have thought we were a little crazy for we kept in-
sisting "Beaucoup more'" until each of us had eaten a dozen
eggs apiece, the crusts of bread and a bottle and a half
of wine,

We were finally full of food and we gave the remain-
ing two dozen eggs, the half bottle of wine and a handful
of francs to the lady for her trouble. I don't know how
much money we gave her, but she seemed extremely pleased.
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We still didn't know the value of French money, so it
might have been that she was just pleased to get us out
of her house. With our bellies full of food and wine,
we had forgotten how tired we really were as we made our

way back to where our Company was. We rolled up in our
blankets and were soon sound asleep.

ABril 19

Today was somewhat different from the past two days.
By noon we had marched nearly 20 kilometers and were tired
and hungry. It was my turn to furnish the noon lunch and
I was glad to get rid of that extra pound can of meat and
half pound of hardtack. While we were seated on the ground
on the side of the road, eating our rations, we heard the
sound of a shot nearby. It was unusual to hear gunfire
since none of us had ammunition in our rifles while marching,
unless near the front lines or going into the lines.

It wasn't long before we learned what had happened.
One of the boys in the next Company who was carrying Cognac
instead of water in his canteen, had inbibed a little too
freely., The urge to express his pent up feelings overcame
his better judgment and he inserted a clip of shells in
his 45, Without realizing what he was doing, he dis-
charged his Colt. The bullet hit a mule hitched to a
supply wagon, breaking its leg. The mule had to be dis-
posed of, and the soldier who fired the shot was placed
under guard and told that he would have to pay for the
mule. His pay was to be stopped as of that day and would
not be resumed until enough had been withheld to pay for
the mule. With overseas pay of $30.00 per month, less
deducations for insurance and bonds, that poor devil
would receive no pay for at least the next six or eight
months, if he survived the war that long.

April 20

We marched another 25 kilometers today and are within
ten or twelve kilometers of our destination. The area
just ahead is exceedingly active and we can go no farther
in the daytime without drawing heavy artillery fire. We
will remain here in Villers Tournell until dark and then
go on to the next village, or wherever we are headed for,
After a brief look around the village, I am of the opinion
that there is nothing here to make us want to stay. The
village had been badly shot up before we arrived and there
were no people foolish enough to stay. They and their
families had taken all of their possessions, cattle,
furniture and personal belongings that they could haul or
carry, and gone back to safety. The village was still
being heavily shelled as I looked around for a safe spot
for our squad. In one farm yard I found a John Deer hay
rake standing lopsided, with one wheel badly bent and
broken from an exploding shell. The name John Deer made
me think of home and the Haney-Gasper-White Farm Equipment
Company which handled the John Deer line, only a short
distance from my home.
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April 24
We did not go to another village after dark, but

remained in Villers Tournell for three days. We were
subjected to terrific shell fire day and night. The
Germans either knew or suspected we were there. There
was no place in the village where one could find safe
cover from the shell fire. There was no point in our
staying here and taking the punishment being meeted out
to our troops. We were unable to respond to the fire and
sooner or later our losses would be mounting steadily.
We were pinned down and had to do one of two things.
Either retreat to a village farther back or go ahead to
possibly get away from the fire.

Companies E, F and G were ordered to fall in for a
forced march up closer to the lines, to Rouquencourt,
where we would be taking up support positions. Company H
was to go on to the village of Coulemelle, also in a
support position.

We had made the march of several miles to the near
outskirts of Rouquencourt without the loss of any men,
primarily I think because the Germans didn't think we were
fool enough to advance in the wake of the intense fire
they were subjecting the rear area to. In fact, the fire
here seemed to be somewhat less, and we were feeling pretty
good about having walked out of the intense fire. Just
as we began to think we had it made, we received a rather
loud and nerve shattering welcome, ‘

An American artillery unit had set up their guns in
the ditch along the right side of the road we were marching
on. Because of the darkness, we were unaware of their
presence and because of the heavy rain we didn't hear or
see them until every gun in the battery had fired off a
volley of shells in the direction of the enemy.

Some of our troops were so close to the guns that the
concussion knocked them off their feet. For a short time
there was a mad scramble among the men. Then we realized
that the explosions we had heard were not proceeded by the
high piercing scream of incoming shells. We knew it had
to be local artillery. To add insult to injury, we were
then greeted by the laughter of the gun crew at the sur-
prise they had given us. Some not too polite language
was directed at them by the doughboys, but the gun crew
had the last word. As we proceeded down the road we could
hear them shouting, "You guys are going down the road you
don't come back from."

Minutes later we made a left turn in the road and
entered the main street of Rouquencourt which ran parallel
to the front. The Germans had been stopped at Cantigny,
which was the last village before Rouquencourt, and only
about two kilometers away. Even though the enemy had
been stopped they had not let up on their artillery fire
on the village. We thought it was bad in Villers Tournell,
but it was worse in Rouquencourt. The Germans had every
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intention of leveling the village and wiping out any
opposition. When they resumed their drive, they would
then have no one to oppose them.

The only safe place we could find to get any rest
was in the root cellars under the remains of existing
houses. My squad found a cellar and we crawled into it,
unrolled our blankets in the dark, and tried to get some

badly needed sleep.
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CHAPTER TEN

ROUQUENCOURT, WORST SHELLED VILLAGE TO DATE

April 25

During the night while we were asleep, Company E's
rolling kitchen moved into the courtyard adjacent to our
root cellar. They were ready to serve breakfast when we
rolled out in the morning. For once, we were the favored
few, and had only to walk about 20 feet to be served our
breakfast. The rest of the Company had to come from their
various shelters to our courtyard to get their food.

When I reached the serving line, I was pleasantly
surprised to see Clarence Capelle assisting with the
serving. After the rush was over and the Company fed,

I learned from Clarence that on the forced march he had
acquired some nasty blisters on his feet. The First Aid
doctor had assigned him to kitchen detail where he wouldn't
have to do much walking for a few days. We had a nice
visit, but I couldn't help feeling sorry for him. He
seemed so alone, and he still hadn't received any mail
from home. He started to talk about home and his folks
and he expressed a wish to be back with them. I felt the
same way, but tried to cover it up. I knew I could easily
feel the same if I let myself go for a minute. I tried to
cheer him up, but was afraid I would start blubbering if

I didn't get out of there soon. I made up an excuse about
having a chore to do and left. I realized that he was
dejected and homesick, and I was getting the same way,

but didn't want to have him see me that way.

Shortly after I returned to our root cellar, a couple
of the boys and I decided to take a look around what re-
mained of the village and to try to locate the rest of
our Company. I wanted to run into some of the other boys
of old Company G, especially those who had originally been
Company F boys from Algoma and Sturgeon Bay.

We were amazed at the punishment the village had
taken over the past week or so. Practically every home
and barn had sustained severe damage. The village was in
the direct path of the enemy drive and was being shelled
unmercifully. The possible 200 or so inhabitants, with
the personal belongings they had been able to gather tq-
gether, had been forced to flee for their lives.

In the center of the crossroad in the village stood a
pockmarked, lifesize crucifix of the crucified Christ.
Jagged pieces had been torn from the body by flying shrap-
enl, What really shocked me was to see the use being
made of the crucifix. About a dozen telephone and signal
corps wires running across the street intersection had
been fastened near the top of the cross to allow mobile
equipment to pass underneath the wires. These had been
strung up the night before by signal corps men. In time of

44



war you make use of whatever is at hand to serve a
purpose.

The crossroad to the right went up a hill. About
half way up on the left side of the road stood a red brick
house, the only one in the village that looked as if it
hadn't been damaged too seriously. It was now being used
by Major Rasmuessen as his headquarters. At the top of
the hill on the right side of the road and adjacent to
a highway running parallel to the front lines stood what
remained of the village church. Part of the roof and walls
facing the front had been blown in by direct hits, but the
near side was in fair condition. The cemetery adjoining
the church was a shambles. Graves had been blown open and
the shattered remains of caskets and the bones of the
dead were lying about.

The highway at the top of the hill was only about a
mile and a half from the front lines. This highway con-
nected with other villages where troops were in reserve,
just as we were. Supplies and ammunition had to be trans-
ported along this highway to the other villages. The
Germans knew this, as the road could be seen from their
observation balloons and from their low flying observation
planes in the daytime. The road was not used in the day-
time for that reason, but as soon as it became dark the
road came to life, with trucks of every description and
with every kind of cargo. It was at night that the road
got its heaviest shelling so as to slow up delivery of
badly needed supplies.

After seeing the damage done to homes and some root
cellars, we decided we had better go back to our own
cellar and see how safe it really was.

The walls and roof of the house over our cellar had
been blown in by near or direct hits, but so far the cellar
itself was intact. It was about five feet high in the
center of its arched roof, about eight feet wide and about
ten feet long. The walls and the arched or vaulted ceiling
were of field stone and mortar and we didn't believe that
anything other than a direct hit could penetrate it or
blow it in. We decided to make it even safer if possible.
We dragged heavy timbers from other wrecked homes and
barns and piled them on the floor in the house just over
the root cellar. After that, we felt much safer.

April 26

I tried to locate the billets or cellars of more old
Company F boys this afternoon, I hadn't seen Urban Kashik,
Ernest Haucke or either of the Lidral boys, Carl or Frank,
since we arrived in Rouquencourt, and was anxious to find
out how they were making out.

As I was passing by a brick wall adjoining two barns
along the village street, I heard the sharp report of what
I thought was exploding shells on the other side of the

45



wall, and instinctively was down on my stomach in the
street. Then I remembered that I hadn't heard the familiar
piercing scream of incoming shells before the explosion,

It had to be outgoing shells., Sheepishly I got up from

the ground. I hadn't heard of any artillery units being

in the village and was curious to open the door leading
into the courtyard beyond the wall. I expected to see an
American battery if there was one there, but to my surprise
I was greeted by a Frenchman who saw me and called out,
"Onter American Soldat". Stepping inside the door I was
greeted by a French Lieutenant who spoke enough English

so that we were able to have a pleasant visit.

A battery of French Seventy-fives were set up, and
this crew really knew how to use them. The soldiers were
smoking their vile French cigarettes and one was offered
to me. I refused, thanking him politely. I had tried
smoking them once before and they nearly made me sick.

Not to be outdone in politeness, I reached into my
shirt pocket and pulled out a pack of American cigarettes
and offered one to each of them. Luckily I had a full
pack as there were sixteen men in the crew, including the
Lieutenant, and each one eagerly accepted. These men had
been with Americans before and loved our cigarettes which
contained a better grade of tobacco than theirs did. There
were many "Ah's'" and "Bon's" as they 1lit up and puffed
the cigarettes I had given them.

I had visited with the French soldiers and the
Lieutenant for about 15 minutes when the Lieutenant glanced
at his watch and then gave the men an order in French.
The crew members sprang to their posts beside the seventy-
fives. The shell passers for the three guns each picked
up a seventy-five millimeter shell and passed them to the
fuse cutters who set the fuses and passed them on to the
loaders who in turn shoved the shells into the breech
blocks of the guns. A fourth soldier slammed shut the
breech block, locked it and quickly stepped back and away
from the gun. The lieutenant gave a hand signal, the
lanyard was jerked by the fifth man, sending three more
shells on their way to the German lines. The three gun
crews worked so smoothly together that it takes longer to
tell about it than it took to get the shells in the air
and on their way,.

After the shells were on their way, the entire crew
walked over to a two-wheeled cart on which was fastened
a large barrel containing wine. They opened the spigot
and filled their cups with the bright red liquid.

One of the men spoke several words to the Lieutenant who
responded with a "Wee, wee" and the soldier drew another
cup full and offered it to me. It was the same good old
Vin Rouge my buddies and I had taken a couple of weeks
before when we raided the French tank car on the railway
siding. It wasn't a strong wine, but much better than
the chlorinated water we Americans had to drink.
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Each day when I could find time, I visited my French
friends and always took along a pack of American cigarettes,
In return, I got either a large cup full or a canteen of
Vin Rouge.

There wasn't much for us to do in the daytime other
than to keep our equipment clean, and to duck for cover
whenever a German observation plane or German shells came
over. This was almost constant. We made up for it after
it got dark. Companies E and F were assigned to dig a
communication trench from the field just a short distance
from the church to the front lines. We would cross the
highway at the top of the hill, enter the field about 100
yards or more and then start the trench leading up to
the third line of trenches, about a half mile distance.
Then on to the second line which was another half mile
ahead, and finally to the first line which was possibly
another half mile away.

In six nights, from dark to just before dawn, our two
Companies dug the mile and a half or more of trench which,
unless you walked across the open fields, was the only
way of getting to the forward trenches. It wasn't healthy
to cross the open fields.

We tried to camouflage the trench before heading back
to the village each dawn, by covering parts of it with
netting, straw and brush., The Germans seemed to know that
something was going on out there each night. Their ob-
servation planes had probably spotted the trench or noticed
a difference in the color of the earth from one day to the
next. Each night we were subjected to shell and shrapnel
fire as we dug, and from which we lost several men, killed
and wounded.

April 30

This morning when we returned to the village, we found
our courtyard in a mess. One or more shells had made
direct hits on our portable kitchen. Luckily the kitchen
crew, with the exception of the fireman who kept the fire
going under the cookers, were asleep in their slit trenches
near the back of the house. The fireman, who heard the
shells coming, had time to dive into his hole. No one
was injured. The kitchen, however, was a complete wreck
and what was to have been our breakfast was scattered all
over the landscape. Once again we had to resort to our
Iron Rations, which had been replaced after we arrived
in Rouquencourt.

Hook Pouler, the Company Mess Sergeant, and his kitchen
crew were out looking for another kitchen when we returned
to the courtyard. With no one left to guard the food
stores, our squad helped ourselves to a few items we couldn't
get anywhere else, We didn't take large amounts or anything
that would be easily missed. Three OT four onions, a
dozen or so potatoes, half a loaf of French bread, salt
and a five or six pound chunk of beef from the quarter
hanging in the shade beside the barn. We knew we had better

47



help ourselves before other men from the Company came for
their breakfast and found no kitchen. We also scrounged
around in the remains of the farmer’s vegetable garden and
found a few more potatoes and a rutabaga which had escaped
the watchful eyes of the farmer's wife last fall. One

of the boys came up with a metal pail from one of the
nearby wrecked houses, and we were ready to cook our own
breakfast.

We didn't want Sergeant Pouler to come upon us while
cooking his beef and vegetables, which by now had been
cut up into cubes and was in the process of being cooked,
so we built our fire in the next courtyard. After about
three quarters of an hour our pail full of stew was ready
to eat, and we all dove in like we hadn't had a meal in
a week. It needed more seasoning, but tasted even better
than any we had ever gotten from our kitchen. At least
it had more meat in it.
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CHAPTER ELEVEN
DEATH OF MAJOR RASMUESSEN

GUARD DUTY ON HIGHWAY

May 2

We entered the second line of trenches last night.
Whoever had been here before us had left some of their
comrades behind. While trying to reinforce a section of
the trench, someone sunk his shovel into a caved in
portion of the trench and opened up a cavity from which
came the awful sickening smell of decaying human flesh.
One or more unknown soldiers were under the cave in and
we had dug into their grave. We had to abandon that
section of trench after covering the opening and dug a
new section around it.

While in this section of the trench, several of us
would go out at night to pick up heavy beams from wrecked
barns and houses and drag or carry them back to our trench.
They were placed over the top of a small section of the
trench and covered with dirt and dried grass. It gave
us more confidence and we had that much more protection
from flying shrapnel.

May 5

A low flying observation plane flew the length of
our trench today observing or taking pictures. We were
under our overhead shelter and I don't think he saw us,
Just as he passed by we all fired our rifles at him,
hoping someone of us might be lucky enough to hit him
or damage the plane and force him down. We evidently
missed, for a few minutes later he came back flying just
above the trench top with his machine guns blazing away
as fast as they could fire. No one was hit, but there
were a few misses and a couple of pretty scared boys.

Before going up to the trenches, we had been told
that we would get only one hot meal a day and it would
be after dark. The food detail could only bring up food
under cover of darkness as it had to be hauled within
easy walking distance by truck. From the truck, the food
had to be carried through the communication trench, or
carried above ground, which was very dangerous. The other
two meals were to be from our Iron Rations. We were
promised, however, that the one hot meal would be some-
thing special. It would be either steaks or roast beef,
mashed potatoes, gravy and hot coffee.

We must have been naive to listen to, and believe,
that such food was even a remote possibility. Each night
we looked forward to the hot meal, and each night we got
the same cold slum. It was so cold that we had to use
our mess kit covers to cut through the fat and tallow
in the slum, which had become cold and solidified in order
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to get it out of the G.I. cans it was brought up in.

The food may have been hot when it left the kitchens, but
by the time it had been dumped into the G.I. cans, which
were no more than glorified garbage cans, the cooling
process had started. The ride in the truck to the head
of the communication trench took at least a half hour,
and after being carried by the food detail down the length
of the communication trench to us, another half hour or
more had passed so you can be sure it was cold. We would
have made the best of it if only it had been edible and
not so full of fat and tallow.

May 15
We've been out of the trenches for a couple of days,

and I've had a chance to renew my visits with my French
artillery friends, and to exchange American cigarettes
for Vin Rouge. The village changed considerably during
our stay of six or seven days up near the front. We had
been subjected to sporadic fire up in the lines, but I
don't believe it had ever let up on the village. Buildings
which had previously been damaged were now completely
down, and just rubble. The house over our root cellar
had received several more direct hits and was a shambles,
but our root cellar with the extra bemas on top had stood
the shelling well., We were mighty glad we took the extra
effort to reinforce it.

I drew guard duty yesterday up on the highway past
the church., It was about the most exposed position and
I dreaded it, but it had to be done by someone and it was
my turn. As usual, it was raining and after only a short
time I was soaked and miserable, standing out there on
that windy, rain soaked road all alone. I thought for a
moment that I was hearing things and that my mind was
playing tricks on me. Between the sounds of exploding
shells in the distance, I could hear soft organ music, and
it seemed to be coming from inside the shell damaged
church, just a short distance away. I dared not leave my
post to investigate, but whoever it was was playing
beautifully. For a time I forgot that 1 was wet, cold
and miserable. The music continued for about a half hour
and then there was silence, except for the never ending
sound of express trains traveling overhead to the back
areas. A few minutes later I caught a glimpse of a French
soldier limping slowly out of the church and making his
way down the hill to the village.

As the darkness deepended, the highway came to life.
Large trucks loaded with supplies and ammunition would
come barreling down the road. It was my job to see that
they came to a stop and gave the password, before I
permitted them to go on. The drivers were supposed to
know that this was a checkpoint and they were supposed
to stop for identification. If they tried to go by
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without stopping, something had to be wrong and my orders
were to shoot to kill. It was a dangerous place to be
as all trucks were running with hooded lights and the
drivers were not able to see more than a small portion
of the road ahead.

I had checked out perhaps twelve or fifteen trucks
and was familiar with the sound they made as they approached,
but now I was hearing a strange sound. It was the snorting
of a motorcycle traveling at a fairly fast speed. I
hadn't been told about any motorcycles traveling the
highway, so I didn't know whether the driver had been
warned about checkpoints along the highway or not. I
released the safety catch on my rifle, determined to shoot
if the driver tried to go by without stopping. The driver
had either been warned or he saw the glint of my bayonet
on the rifle as I brought it to my shoulder. He was
nearly abreast of me when he shut down his motor and slammed
on his brakes so hard that it almost threw the passenger
in his sidecar out onto the highway. After challenging
the driver for the password, he gave it to me, and I asked
him what the hell he was doing out on a night like this.
He answered, "I am taking this correspondent to Regimental
Headquarters." He then introduced me to Irving Cobb,
the well known war correspondent from Paduca, Kentucky.
We visited for a few minutes and they were on their way
again,

May 20

During the shelling last night one of the shells hit
in the backyard of the red brick house that Major Rasmuessen
was headquartering in. He and his aides started for the
shelter in the cellar, but before the Major reached the
cellar, another shell came through the end of the house
seriously wounding him., He died a short time later. It
wasn't until after his death that I learned what a pro-
fessional soldier he was.

When Germany declared war on France and England entered
the war along with her subjects, including Canada, the
Major who was then a civilian left the States for Canada
and enlisted in the Princess Pat Regiment. He went,over-
seas with the Regiment and saw extensive service. He
was one of the few survivors although seriously wounded.
By the time America entered the war, he had recovered
from his wounds sufficiently to return to the States
where he tried to enlist in the U.S. Army.

In spite of his disability, and because of the wealth
of experience he had gained in the Princes Pat outfit,
he was gladly accepted and attached to the First Division
in an advisory capacity, with the rank of Major which
he had earned in the Canadian army. He wanted to be
where the action was and he was attached to the 28th
Infantry, We were all proud of him and felt bad about
his being killed, but we had seen so many of our buddies
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killed that we were well hardened to seeing and hearing
about the death of anyone in the outfit.

May 23

Last night after dark the 28th was pulled out of the
lines and replaced by the 18 Infantry Batallion. On our
way to the back area, we had to pass through Rouquencourt
and right past the barn and courtyard in which our kitchen
was set up. We were in a single file and silence had to
be maintained, but nothing could silence the klop, klop,
klop of hobnailed shoes on the roadway. Sergeant Pouler
and the cooks evidently heard the noise of marching feet
and came out to the road to see what was going on, I
am sure that in the darkness he couldn't recognize our
Company from any other Company, but someone from our Company
recognized him. As this someone passed by he hauled off
and let the Sergeant have a fist to the nose, knocking
him to the ground.

I had already passed by so didn't see the blow,
but from the commotion that followed, we knew something
out of the ordinary had happened. Not a word was spoken
so it wasn't until we were out of the village and to the
trucks waiting for us that I learned one of our boys had
repaid the Sergeant for all of the hot meals and steaks
we had been promised, but hadn't received.

Most of the boys in the Company knew that the Sergeant
liked his liquor. None of us had any proof, but we were
sure from things we heard from the mess crew that he was
cheating on us, and trading beef and other supplies to
the French in exchange for Cognac. Consequently, none of
us felt sorry for him,

After we were all loaded into the trucks, we were
driven further back of the lines to the village of
Maisencelle. Here we were to train for a full scale
attack, with tanks, planes and the works.

May 24

We reached the Maisencelle area sometime after mid-
night and were told to crawl into whatever shelter we
could find for the remainder of the night. Bright and
early this morning we received our first briefing on how
the attack was planned, how it would be executed, and what
each one of us was expected to do.

Most of the boys were supposed to follow the tanks,
spread out in a semi-straight line with about 15 feet
between each man. Certain of these men were to be on the
lookout for our planes which were to have flown over just
before we started across the fields. On their way back
they would drop metal cannisters containing messages showinf
just where the strong points and machine guns were located.
The messages were to be relayed to the tanks so that they
could crush and destroy them.

In the simulated attack the defending forces were
French soldiers using blank ammunition in their rifles
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and machine guns, but from the sound of them it was 1like
the real thing. We went over the attack several times in
the two days we were there.

The purpose of the attack was twofold. One was to
retake the village of Cantigny, which was a salient point
from which the Germans had a distinct advantage in ob-
servation and control of fire. The second reason was to
test the Americans on their own for the first time. May
28 at 5:45 AM was the time set for the real attack. I
only hope it is as easy to take Cantigny as it was in the
simulated attack.

May 26

The 28th is back in the lines, but only my platoon
from our Company and one platoon from each of the other
Companies are in the front lines. The remaining three
platoons from each Company are in the second line of
trenches. As yet I don't know the reason for this arrange-
ment. Whoever issued the order must have had a good reason
for doing it,

We were kept busy the first part of the night trying
to make our section of trenches as defensible as possible
by increasing the height of the parapet in front of the
trench. Some of the boys dug shallow shelters into the
front wall of the trench, facing the enemy. These shelters
were dug at the firing step level and were about 18 inches
deep and the same height. They were just long enough for
a man to squeeze in in case of early morning shelling
with shrapnel.

Toward midnight we had done about all that could be
done, so one soldier stood watch on the firing step while
the rest of us tried to get some sleep, huddled in the
bottom of the trench. Each hour the guard awakened one
of the squad who would relieve the guard so that he could
get some sleep. I had the last watch from four to five
o'clock. From then on, all of us would be on alert until

daylight.
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PART TWO



CHAPTER ONE

HAND-TO-HAND COMBAT AND ESCAPE TO OUR LINES

May 27, 1918

Morning will soon be here. The first grey streaks
of dawn are beginning to appear in the Eastern sky, and
the luminous hands of my watch show it to 4:42 AM, Except
for the rumbling of heavy shells high overhead and the
occasional swoosh of a magnesium flare as they slowly
parachute down over no man's land bathing it in an eerie
glow, it has been a comparatively quiet night.

Suddenly the sky ahead seemed on fire as the flashes
of hundreds of German big guns 1it up the darkness. The
air was filled with the piercing whine of approaching
shells, followed by the violent explosion as they hit
in front of our position, and for several hundred feet
on either side of us.

Large clouds of dirt were thrown into the air by the
exploding shells as the rolling barrage crept slowly closer
and closer to our trenches. There was nowhere to take
shelter except to crouch down on the firing step whenever
it seemed that a particular shell was coming close, The
couple of minutes that it took for the barrage to reach
our trenches seemed like an eternity.

Just as the first shells hit our trenches, the tempo
of fire changed to an ugly roar as the barage shifted
from the slow rolling barage to a three-sided box barage.
The shelling directly in front of us stopped as the big
guns raised their aim, and we were boxed in on either side
and in the rear by a steel wall of exploding shells,.

The waves of German soldiers I expected to see following
closely behind the barage were not there. Except for one
lone moving figure out there who had been wounded and was
throwing himself about on the ground, there was not a
living soul to be seen. For that matter, neither was there
an American soldier to be seen in our trenches on either
side of me. The two boys with me were lying on the
bottom of the trench, either killed or wounded. Taking
a quick look out over no man's land, I was about to step
down from the firing step to see if there was anythlng
I could do for them when it happened.

Something heavy landed on my back, my arms were pinned
to my sides by a pair of arms, and I was pulled backward
down from the firing step to the bottom of the trench.

A German soldier grabbed my rifle from my hands while
another standing beside him said, '"Las em gehn,'" and

the soldier on my back released his hold on me. Then the
one who had given the order to let me go gave another order,
"Rouse mit em," and by pointing with their bayonetted
rifles, I was ordered out of the trench toward the German
lines,
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German intelligence must have been very good for they
knew that fresh troops had come into the lines the night
before. The raiding party of possibly a hundred men, as
I learned later, had followed the rolling barage, but over
to one side of us. After crossing the front lines, they
turned to the right or left, and came upon our position
from the rear. The sole purpose of the raid was to get
prisoners, and I was one of the unfortunate ones.

A German soldier on either side of me and a third one
behind me all with their bayonets pointing at me con-
vinced me that this was not the time or the place to argue
with them. With the order of, "Raus mit em," followed
by, "Hande hoch," we climbed out of the trench and started
at a fast pace toward the German lines, about a hundred
yards away,

About 50 or 60 feet from the German trenches, I caught
my first glimpse of German helmets moving about in the
trench. Perhaps the sight of the helmets caused me to
hesitate, but the tip of a bayonet in the back forced
me ahead as the German behind me shouted, "Mach schnell."
A strange feeling came over me as I felt warm blood
running down my back where the bayonet had cut. I decided
that I didn't want to spend the rest of the war in a German
prison camp. This had to be it.

Deliberately stepping into a shallow shell hole in
front of me, I pretended to fall., I hoped it would look
real enough to my captors to allow me to lower my arms.
They had no reason to expect resistance from me so close
to their lines. They had taken my rifle away from me
back in our trench. In their haste to get me back to
their lines as a prisoner, however, they had neglected
to search me and to relieve me of my trench knife which
was tucked safely in the waistband of my breeches.

About this time our artillery unknowingly came to
my aid. A battery of shells from our lines came screaming
over as I was climbing out of the shell hole I had pre-
tended to fall into. From the sound of the shells, they
were going to hit nearby. The Germans on either side of
me quickly fell to the ground and I could only hope that
the one behind me did the same. I was too angry at the
German behind me who had nicked me with his bayonet, and
too determined to try to get away to even think about
getting hit by shell fragments.

Before any of the Germans could regain their feet, I
had my trench knife in my hand and struck at the one on
my left, catching him in the area of the throat. He
fell back to the ground. Unable to pull my knife free
I grabbed the rifle which had fallen from his hands and,
swinging it like a club, caught the German on my right
with the butt end of the rifle across the face or neck
and he too fell to the ground.

Then I made the mistake that nearly cost me my life.
Had I thrown the rifle at the German behind me instead
of trying to bring it around to use against him, it
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might have thrown him off balance and spoiled his aim
just as he lunged at me. I will never know if that split
second might have spared me or not, for his bayonet was
already on its way as I turned to try to avoid it.

The bayonet entered just above my shoulder hitting
my spine a glancing blow, cutting nerves and muscles,
and cutting me open from shoulder to shoulder. My knees
buckled under me, my arms pulled up at the elbows, and
I fell forward on my face. I couldn't breathe and I
couldn't move. A kick in the ribs by the German rolled
me on my back. Bending down over me with his bayonet
poised for another quick thrust, he gave a peculiar grunt
and fell over backward, dead at my side.

I had no idea of how long I laid in front of the German
trench before I regained some recollection of what had
happened or where I was. It couldn't have been more than
eight or ten minutes from the time the barage had started
until the time I was struck down, but considerable time
must have passed since then as it was now daylight. I
was dazed and couldn't seem to think or move.

I must have been in a state of shock from the wound,
I didn't seem to be concerned about bleeding and I realized
that I was beyond the aid of our troops who were at least
a hundred or more yards behind me. They possibly didn't
even know I was out there and even if they did they could
not come to my aid. Nothing seemed to matter at that time
and I just seemed to take for granted that everything
would work out fine,

I heard what seemed to be the heavy roll of distant
thunder as large shells passed by high overhead, but I
had no realization that there was any immediate danger
either from shell fire or from the Germans so close by.

As my mind slowly began to clear, I could see a
hazy sun shining down upon me and my thoughts went back
to my home town along the shore of Lake Michigan where
we often had days such as this in the spring of the year.
Perhaps I was delirious at times., These thoughts and many
more were in my mind and I was at peace with the world.

I was back home with my mother, father and brothers and
the war was far away over the ocean, with no cause to
worry about it.

Suddenly I was wide awake. Over the past months I
had seen buddies of mine who had been wounded and had
heard the plaintive cries of those beyond our help who
in their delirium cried out with anguished voices. Now,
in the sudden stillness I could again hear the cry of a
human in severe pain. I questioned what I was - hearing for
it did not sound like anything I had heard before. I
could not make out what was being said, but gradually
it came through to me and a voice not too far away was
crying, "Oh my gut, oh my gut.'" This person, whoever
he was, was wounded. I could only hope that he would not
be heard by the Germans for fear it might bring a blast
of machine gunfire at us,
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Another sound made its way to my brain., A shrill
high piercing sound which grew louder and fiercer as it
approached. I had heard that sound many times before when
under shell fire from the Germans., This time the shells
had a slightly different sound and were coming from the
wrong direction. The Americans were shelling the Germans
and some of the shells were falling short of their mark.
Several fell so close to me that when they exploded, I
was hit in the face and other parts of the body by the
ground thrown into the air by the explosions. I thought
then, "what a way to die, killed by our own artillery."

As suddenly as the shelling started, it stopped, and
the stillness brought me a little closer to reality., I
could no longer hear the cry of, "Oh my gut," and I knew
that the shelling must have put an end to the suffering
of that person., Only then did it dawn on me that the poor
devil was a German soldier who, in his agony, was saying
in native tongue, not "Oh my gut' but "Oh my God, oh my
God."

What seemed like endless hours passed and the sun
was much higher in the sky. My arms fell to my sides and
I began to feel pain starting in my back and arms.

I wasn't thinking very clearly and I drifted off into
unconsciousness for short periods of time. I can remember
that my legs which were doubled up dropped to the ground
and for the first time I began to experience fear as I
could feel a lump under my right hip, and I knew it had
to be a "German potatoe masher" (an offensive hand grenade).

At first I tried to roll off of it, but to no avail.
I just could not move even as I counted the seconds before
the grenade would explode, tearing me to pieces. Nothing
happened. Now I was sure it was a dud which had failed
to go off. It could still explode if moved about to
any extent, so I tried to lie as quietly as possible.

As time went by, the sun shown brighter and I became
thirsty for a cool drink of water. Then another piece
of the puzzle fell into place. That was no potatoe masher
under me. It was my canteen filled with cool water, fastened
to my ammunition belt. My mind was relieved, but not my
thirst for I could not use my arms to reach the canteen.

Until now I was only partially conscious of the dilemma
I was in, My back, neck and arms were throbbing with pain
and I could feel it starting down into my legs. I did
not dare to call for help as I was too close to the German
lines. I knew that only by myself and with the help of
God I might be able to survive. I prayed that it be his
will to help me and tried to think of something I could
do in return for his help, even entering the priesthood.

I knew almost as quickly as the thought entered my mind
that I would not keep such a promise, and that I could not
bargain with Him. If He would help me, it would be
because He had further use of me. From now it was up to
me if I was to survive.
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As the pain in my legs became worse, I could feel them
beginning to jerk and tremble and I knew I could move
them slightly. Slowly I tried to move my right leg and
it responded to my will. My thoughts now were to get as
far away from this spot as possible. By moving the right
leg to the right and pushing it against the ground, I
was able to turn from my back onto my stomach. Then,
by drawing the left leg and knee to an upward position
and pushing it against the ground, I was able to roll onto
my back. I had now moved my body one complete turn, or
about a yard, farther away from the German lines, and a
yard closer to our lines.

I have no idea of how many times I repeated this
push and roll procedure, but each push and each roll,
while it caused me severe pain, also gave me hope and
confidence that I would make it back to our lines. I
paused to rest only when I couldn't muster the strength
to go on.

Warm blood was flowing down my neck and back and I
knew I had to get help soon. In my near panic, I completely
forgot where I was. My only thoughts were of getting help
before it was too late. I managed to get to a sitting
position, but how I managed to get to my feet with the
use of my arms is something I am unable to explain.

"~ Staggering drunkenly, my head hanging down and my
arms hanging helplessly at my sides, I fell to the ground
trying to cross the parapet in front of our trench. Even
before I could cry out for help, the lookouts in our trench
had alerted the others who laid down a covering fire. Two
of our boys crawled partially out of the trench, grabbed
me by the blouse and pulled me into the trench.
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CHAPTER TWO
THE DAMNED X-RAY WON'T WORK

NEXT STOP A FRENCH FIELD HOSPITAL

Lying safely on the bottom of the trench, my blouse,
shirt and undershirt were cut up the back with a sharp
bayonet, and removed. The white tape which held my dog
tags had worked its way into the wound and had to be
cut off and removed. The dog tags were given to our
platoon commander, Lieutenant Simon., They were never
turned in as the Lieutenant was killed the following
day.

The First Aid men who were also the stretcher
bearers had used up all of their first aid bandages trying
to cover the wound and had to borrow a few from the boys
in the trench. I was placed on a stretcher, covered with
a blanket and started on my way back to the Batallion First
Aid Station.

When the stretcher bearers reached the first bend in
the trenches, they could not make the turn as the stretcher
was too long to go around the corner. (Trenches were not
dug in a straight line, but in a series of bays. If a
shell hit in one bay it would not injure or kill more than
the few men in each bay, whereas in a straight trench
more men would be wounded or killed.)

While I was only 5', 6%" tall, I was stocky and weighed
over 190 pounds. The only way to get the stretcher around
the corners was to lift me with the stretcher above their
heads until it was high enough to clear the top of the
trench and then walk it around the corner. The two bearers
could not do this by themselves, so the Lieutenant ordered
two soldiers to assist them. Between the four, they
managed to hold me clear of the trench for a distance of
several city blocks before they came to the communication
trench which led to the rear.

From here on, the going was much easier with no sharp
corners to maneuver around. The distance from the front
lines past the second and third lines and on to where the
communication trench ended was more than a mile. From,
that point to the Batallion Aid Station, located in the
basement of a church, there was about a half mile of open
country. We had just started across the open field when
a German observer spotted us and a shell was on its way
toward us. When the stretcher bearers heard the shell
coming they laid the stretcher on the ground and 1laid
down beside it until the shell exploded. From then on
it was pick up the stretcher and run like hell until they
heard the scream of the next shell approaching. They
would then quickly lay the stretcher down on the ground
again and flop down alongside it until the shell exploded.
This procedure was repeated a half dozen times before we
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made it safely into a wooded area. I was considerably
shaken up and had more pain, but the main thing was that
we made it.
From the woods to the church was only a short distance,.
I was carried through a shell hole in the wall into the
basement of the church. Medical records show that I
arrived at the church or Medical Aid Station at 12:00 noon.
My stretcher was placed on the ground where there was
a clear space. As my eyes became accustomed to the semi-
darkness, I made out other stretchers lined up along the
wall waiting to be either treated or evacuated after they
received first aid treatment. I saw the glow of cigarettes
as they were being puffed and I heard the barely audible
voices of the wounded. After a relatively short time,
my stretcher was picked up and carried to a lighted area
where the doctors were giving the best first aid available.
When it came my turn, the doctor asked, "Where is your
wound?" I replied, "In the neck and I can't use my arms."
I was helped to a sitting position and held there while
the bandages were removed. Someone gave a low whistle.

The doctor said, "Give this man a cigarette.”" It was
lit and placed between my lips. I puffed on it for a
minute or two. In the meantime, a clean dressing was

applied and I was given a shot to ease the pain. The
cigarette was removed from my mouth and I was laid back
on the stretcher. Then I was given a shot of anti-
tetanus in the belly and a cross was painted on my fore-
head with iodine.

Just before I was carried out to a waiting ambulance
the doctor said to me, "We have done all that we can for
you here and are sending you back to a field hospital for
surgery." The ambulance ride was a nightmare. The other
two wounded were in the bottom section of the ambulance
and I was in the upper section. The driver started out
very smoothly, but as we got into open country, the Germans
spotted us and again they started shelling the road. The
driver drove faster and faster and then suddenly would
apply the brakes. If we had not been strapped into our
stretchers, we would have been thrown through the partition
that separated us from the driver and his assistant. We
knew that the driver was doing this to confuse the aim of
the German artillery, but it wasn't doing much good for
us in the back end. At other times the ambulance swerved
to avoid shell holes in the road. That was just as bad
as the sudden stops and starts. The smaller shell holes
he took in stride, and it was just the bigger ones he
tried to avoid. '

After several miles of this mad driving, we finally
reached a bend in the road. This put a large woods between
us and the German artillery. The driver pulled over to
the side of the road and came to the rear of the ambulance
to see how we had fared.

One of the boys who had a chest wound had started to
bleed quite badly. The driver tried to stop the bleeding
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as he apologized for the rough ride he had given us. We
knew that except for his erratic driving we might still
be on that road somewhere in a badly smashed up ambulance.
I was dulled from the shot the doctor had given me and
probably did not feel the bouncing around as much as the

others. I do recall saying to the driver, "It takes a
damn good driver to hit all of the holes and you hit most
of them." The driver was unable to stop the bleeding from

the chest wound, and he laid it on the line to us. He
said, "I can take it easy from here to the hospital, but

if I do I am afraid this boy won't make it." The other

boy with the badly smashed leg said, '"We have already taken
the worst you can dish out; drive like hell again and get
him to the hospital.”

American Field Hospital #12 was a tent hospital. We
were unloaded and carried to the receiving ward. Each of
us were then carried off somewhere. I was taken into the
X-ray section and placed on the X-ray table. The X-ray
man positioned me for the picture and then positioned
the lamp. He said, "Take a deep breath and hold it."

As I lay there holding my breath, I felt that the
worst had already happened, and from now on things couldn't
help but get better. Then a few choice swear words and
the comment, "The damned X-ray won't work," brought me
back to reality. I knew the cards were still stacked
against me.

Out into another ambulance I went with orders to the
driver to get me to the nearest hospital. Away we went on
another fast ride for eight or ten miles. I was again
carried into the hospital entrance and laid on the floor
beside other wounded men. The driver tried to convey
to the receiving nurse that I was an American wounded.
Following a brief wait, I was taken to the X-ray room and
after the picture was taken the doctor, in broken English,
asked, "You want to sleep?" About then I didn't care what
happened to me. I was very tired and badly needed rest.
Thinking that I would be put into a comfortable bed I
replied, "Yes." I was then wheeled into a room where my
breeches, shoes, socks and underdrawers were removed and
a white sheet placed over me. A moment later I was wheeled
into a brilliantly lighted room. )

It wasn't until now that I realized that I was in a
French hospital. The conversation about me was in French
between the doctor and his assistants and a nurse who was
in the process of putting on a face mask, She came over
to where I was lying on the cart. At a word from her, two
aides lifted me onto the operating table on my stomach.
The nurse opened a bottle of clear liquid which she poured
onto a strainer with cotton in it. She then shoved the
strainer under my nose and a sweet smell similar to banana
oil drifted up to my nostrils. I couldn't get my breath.
I tried to move my head away from the strainer, but couldn't.
The nurse knew her business, for just as I tried to cry
out that I couldn't breathe, she pulled the strainer away,
and as I gasped for air she pushed it right back under my
nose. That's all I remembered.
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I have no idea how long I was on the operating
table. I had arrived at the hospital between six and
seven PM and was in surgery within a half hour after
arriving there. My next recollection was of waking up
with a bad taste in my mouth and being very thirsty. My
recollection of the hospital is somewhat vague, but some
of the things that took place there are burned into my
memory. It was French Hospital #37, staffed by French
doctors, nurses and orderlies. All of the patients were
French soldiers until I arrived.

It was broad daylight. French nurses and orderlies
were moving about the ward which contained about 40 beds
with wounded soldiers. Food was being served to those who
could help themselves. Those who needed help were being
fed, but no food was brought to me. The pain in my back
and arms was starting up again and I was thirsty. I called
out for water and one or two of the nurses looked my way.
Not knowing what was meant by water, they went on about
their duties.

Minutes later the patient in the bed next to mine
called, "Dilue" and in no time at all a nurse was giving
him a drink. I called out "Dilue, dilue." a nurse came
over to my bed, looked at the chart at the foot of my
bed and then explained that "Dilue was par bon'" for me
and walked away.

I was beginning to feel forgotten when the doctor
who had operated on me came over to see how I was doing.
As he spoke to me in his broken English, some of which I
understood, I looked up at him. He looked very tired, but
he had a gentle look about him., He was wearing a brown
Van Dyke beard, neatly trimmed, and he spoke to me in a
very kindly voice. I repeated my plea to him for '"Dilue."
He tried to make me understand that water so soon after
surgery might cause me to become sick to my stomach, but
my plea for water must have touched a tender nerve. He
poured a tablespoon of water into a glass and before
giving it to me said, "No swallow, spit it out". I swished
the water around in my mouth and then spat it into a con-
tainer he held to my mouth. Then he poured another table-
spoon of water into the glass, held it to my lips and
said, "swallow'". Nothing that I can remember ever tasted
so good.

With the little French I knew, and with the little
English he knew, he made me understand that I would get
well., On the following day I would be moved to an
American hospital, where I could get better attention.

He then gave me a shot to ease my pain and left.

May 29

Shortly after noon, I was taken my ambulance from the
French hospital to another French hospital at Beauvaix
which was staffed by American doctors and nurses. The
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receiving nurses, however, were still French. Carried
into the receiving room of the two-story stone building, I
was placed on the floor beside other soldiers who had
arrived just minutes before. The French nurses were
moving about between the stretchers checking on the
patients. One looked down at me and smiled, then turned
to the soldier beside me and said something in French
which I didn't understand. She left for a moment and came
back with a syringe. She raised the blanket of the soldier
beside me and I heard the soldier shout at the top of

his lungs, "Get the hell out of here with that., I already
had a shot of tetanus".

The voice sounded vaguely familiar, but it wasn't
until many choice swear words later, and a groan as the
tetanus shot was jabbed into his belly, that I recognized
the voice of George Gulligan, an old Company F member from
Algoma.

Gulligan and about 30 other soldiers had been in an
open truck on their way up to the front when a hand
grenade exploded in the truck, killing several soldiers
and wounding several others. Kelly, as Gulligan was
called, had received a piece of iron from the grenade in
the flesh of his hip. He had received first aid at an
aid station, but apparently in the haste to take care of
everyone they had failed to mark his forehead with the
iodine cross after administering the tetanus shot.

Before I could say more than, "Kelly" I was picked up
by stretcher bearers and carried up a flight of stairs.
There I was put to bed in a large room with about 30
beds. Some were empty, but with the number of soldiers
still in the receiving room it wasn't long until all the
beds were filled.

George Culligan asked the stretcher bearers to please
place him in the bed next to me if possible because he was
a friend of mine. Permission was granted and he was placed
in the bed on my right. For the first couple of days I
wasn't much company to Kelly, but he was good for me.

I still couldn't move my head or limbs and most of
the time I just laid there with my eyes closed or just
staring up at the ceiling. I didn't feel like talking
to anyone and had a lot of pain. I hand't had any food
since the night of the 26th except for a glass of warm
broth on the evening of the 28th, and a small bowl of soup
for my noon meal on the 29th just before I left the hospital
for the Beauvaix hospital.

The evening meal was served shortly after I had
been put to bed and a tray of food was placed on my bedside
table. I didn't know it was there. In fact, I didn't
seem to be aware of anything going on around me. If
Kelly spoke to me, I didn't hear him. When the orderly
came to pick up the empty trays my food was still there
untouched. Asked why I hadn't eaten, I replied, "I'm
not hungry". The tray was carried away and a short time
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later a nurse came to my bedside to see what was wrong.
She explained that an American soldier had to be pretty
badly off if he wouldn't eat. After examining my medical
chart, she said, "I'm going to get you some food and feed
you." She had discovered from the chart that I was unable
to use my arms or to move my head. From that time on, the
doctors and nurses checked on me at frequent intervals,
and I sensed that my condition wasn't good. I ate very
little, though the doctors, nurses and nurses' aides did
everything they could to build up my strength by feeding
me malted milks, orange juice and chocolate milk.

Kelly learned of my real condition by observing and
asking the nurses about me while I was under sedation.

He was concerned. When Red Cross workers came through
the ward with chocolate bars and other treats, Kelly
would ask them to leave two bars with him. Then at odd
times he would break off a piece of chocolate and feed it
to me. He would reach from his bed over to mine, and
place a piece of chocolate between my lips and I would
suck on it until it was gone. Every half hour or so a
nurses' aide would stop at my bed to talk to me, but I
wasn't up to doing much visiting as yet.

One day Marjorie Talbot, a nurses' aide from the Smith
College Relief unit, who had been especially kind to me,
asked me if I had any brothers, sisters, or parents. She
said she would be glad to write a letter to them for me.

I did dictate a very short letter to my mother saying
that I was in a hospital having been wounded, and that the
letter was being written for me as my arm was still too
sore for writing at this time and that after a couple of
weeks I would be able to write myself,

When I had finished, Marjorie said, '"Don't you owe your
parents more than that. I feel they have the right to know
that your wound is more severe than you made it out to
be." That made me a bit angry and I replied that "My
parents were more than two thousand miles away. Why should
I worry them any more than I had to. It would only upset
them and cause them to worry all the more about me." That
bit of anger did me much good mentally and physically,

Prior to then I hadn't tried to think about home or
my parents. I didn't want them to know of my real condition,
or to have them see me as I was, so unconsciously I kept
putting them out of my mind and thoughts. Now that it
was in the open, I decided I had to face up to it. From
then on I began to feel better and to want to get well.

Many months later, after I had been discharged and
was back home I wrote a letter to Marjorie, who lived in
Brookline, Massachusetts, to thank her for the attention
she had given to me, along with the desire to fight, I
also thanked her for the five Franc note she pinned to
my hospital gown when I was asleep the day I left the
Beauvaix hospital. She knew I had no personal belongings
or money. In her note along with the five Franc note
she said, "When you get to Paris and are feeling up to it,
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have a good time for you and me." The return letter I
got from Marjorie about a week or ten days later was most
revealing to me. It said, "You will never know how happy
I was to get your letter. Now that you are back home and
so much better, I can tell you a few things we couldn't
tell you while you were in the hospital in Beauvaix. We
did everything we could for you because the doctors had
told us they were concerned that you would never leave
there alive." At that time dying had never entered my
mind. I had been worried about loosing the use of my
arms and head motion, but never a thought about dying.
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CHAPTER THREE
AMERICAN RED CROSS HOSPITAL #1

BIG BOY AND A SOUVENIR

June 7

The trip from Beauvaix hospital to the American Red
Cross Hospital #1 at Neuilly, just outside the city of
Paris, was made by Red Cross hospital train. I had thought
of visiting Paris many months before when, as newly arrived
troops, we rode through the outskirts of Paris in a troop
train. This wasn't at all the way I had hoped to visit
the city. But there I was. When I was transferred from
the stretcher to the Ambulance train at Beauvaix, my
medical records were hung on the side of my bunk. Normally,
they were given to the patient to hold so that they would
go wherever the patient went, but in my case, because my
arms were useless, the records were hung on the bunk.

When the hospital train arrived at the Neuilly Station,
the doors in the train were swung open and the stretcher
carriers came aboard, lifted us out of our bunks onto
stretchers and carried us out to the waiting ambulances
that would take us to the hospital. As each ambulance was
loaded, it started off. There were so many ambulances
that progress was slow., After six or seven blocks of
travel our ambulance came to a stop. The driver came to
the rear door to tell us we were only a few blocks from
the hospital, but that because there were so many wounded
men on the train we had to wait in line until the ambulance
ahead of us could be unloaded in the courtyard of the
hospital.

Through the open door of the ambulance, the aroma of
freshly baked bread and rolls reached our nostrils. The
driver asked us if we were hungry. We all were and said
so. He told his companion in the cab to pull off to the
side of the road while he went to the bakery. In a few
minutes he returned with some of the sweetest smelling buns
and rolls, and handed one to each of the boys in the lower
section of the ambulance. Then he held one out to me.

I didn't reach out to take it and he asked, '"Don't you

want one?'" I wanted one desparately and told him so, but
said, "You will have to hold it for me'", which he did, bite
by bite.

By this time most of the ambulances had made it to the
hospital and were unloaded. When we arrived we were carried
immediately onto the green grass in the courtyard. We
didn't have to wait long before each of us were assigned
to the various wards in the hospital. I was assigned to
ward #160, which I later learned was called the Chicago ward.
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There were 14 beds in ward #160 and 13 of the beds
were occupied when I was wheeled into the room and placed
in the one empty bed near the door. The attendants had
just finished placing me in the bed and were on their way
out when the head nurse came in and asked me, "Where are
your medical records, Big Boy?" And from that day on I
was called Big Boy by everyone.

Up to that moment I hadn't given a thought to my
records, I just thought that the stretcher bearers had
picked them up when they carried me out of the train. Now
it dawned on me that my records had remained on the train
and that they were miles from here by now.

Here I was, in a strange hospital with nothing but
my own say so to establish who I was. No name, no serial
number or any other means of identification. I could have
said I was Black Jack Pershing and they had no way to
dispute it. Apparently this was not the first time that
records had been missing. A Field Medical Card was ob-
tained from the office and the following questions were
asked, '"Name, serial number, evacuation hospital, other
hospitals, date of first admission to a hospital, were
you operated on and diagnosis." I had to admit I didn't
know my serial number, or the hospitals I had been in except
Beauvaix hospital, and that I had been admitted to the
first hospital on May 27, had been operated on, and admitted
to this hospital today, June 7, 1918,

I was then made as comfortable as possible, and told
that a doctor would be in to see me shortly. The boys in
the ward had been quietly listening to the questions asked
and the answers, and after the nurse left they began question
of their own. '"What front were you on? What outfit were
you with? Where were you wounded? Do you want a cigarette,
etc."

I did ask for a drink of water. The boy in the bed
next to me, who had a leg in traction suspended by a wooden
framework and a series of ropes and pulleys referred to as
an o0il derrick, replied, "Help yourself. There is a bottle
of water and a cup on your bedside table in easy reach."

I had to tell him I couldn't move my arms. Then I learned
of the plight of each of the other boys in the ward. Only
one of them was able to get out of bed, but he had both
arms broken and was in casts up to his shoulders. The
others were either in traction or had wounds that would
not permit them out of bed. I learned that when injured
or sick men were on the road to recovery, they soon found
ways to make their wants known and cared for. Several of
the boys picked up their metal cups, placed them over the
necks of their water bottles and started shaking them back
and forth, This set up a terrible clamor,

Within seconds a nurse came dashing into the ward
while the boy in the next bed explained, '"Big Boy wants
a drink of water and he can't use his arms." The nurse
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poured a cup full of water, put her arm around me and lifted
me to a sitting position, then placed the cup to my lips

and let me drink. Up to now the only liquids I had to

drink had been through a drinking tube. It sure felt good
to be able to drink from a cup again.

When the doctor finally arrived he examined my medical
chart, which didn't tell him very much other than my name
and that I had been wounded on May 27. He too started
asking questions. "Just where is your wound? What caused
it? Can you move your arms? Can you move your head? Can
you move your legs?'" To all of which the answer was "No."
Then he asked if he could have a look at my back and neck.
The nurse put her arms under the small of my back and raised
me up while the doctor removed the dressing, and examined
the wound. He replaced the old dressing with a new one.
Then more questions. '"Had I been operated on? In what
hospital? What had been done in the operation? Did I
have much pain? and many more questions I am unable to
recall at this time. The doctor then left orders with the
nurse for a shot right after the evening meal, which was
then being served, and another shot if I should need it
through the night.

Dinner that first evening in Red Cross Hospital #1
was much like the others I had had in other hospitals
along the way. Either a nurse or a nurses' aide would sit
beside my bed and spoon small portions of food into my
mouth. One of the aides who fed me quite regularly and
whom I got to know quite well, Juliet Goodrich, was the
daughter of a wealthy shipping line owner from Chicago.
The Goodrich Steamship Line served the ports of Lake
Michigan and made regular stops at Algoma. Juliet was
a very well meaning and willing worker and would do any-
thing for the boys. She was doing menial work because she
wanted to be of real service to us, but on many occasions
because she was so eager to help, she caused us pretty
bad moments. In her haste to serve us, she would inad-
vertently bump one or the other of our beds, which caused
us severe pain. While she was very apologetic and we for-
gave her each time, there were times when we wished she
would be transferred to another ward.

My first night in ward #160 was a quiet one. About
9:00 the nurse gave me my shot and I rested comfortably
for several hours, even dozing off for some time. I was
wide awake, however, when the breakfast cart was wheeled
into the ward, and with the aid of a nurse, ate a good
breakfast. Shortly after the breakfast trays were cleared
away, the agony cart came in and I was initiated into the
ranks of ward #160.

Being the first bed by the door, I was the first one
to get attention. My dressing was removed and Dakin tubes
were attached to my neck, just above the wound. A bottle
of Dakin solution was suspended above my bed permitting
the solution to drip into the wound at a regulated speed.

68



A new dressing was applied and I was laid back on the
bed. Only once during the process did I let out a groan.
That was when the old dressing was pulled off while
adhering to the wound with dried blood.

As the cart and the doctor and nurse went from one
bed to the next, I soon found out why the boys in the ward
referred to the cart as the '"agony cart". Each patient
had his own peculiar way of fighting off what each of us
dreaded and tried to hide from our fellow sufferers. We
all knew the pain would last only a fraction of a second,
yet we somehow were never able to accept it. It was a
dreaded interval after the doctor said, "Well, how are
you?" and the moment when the nurse would tug off the
blood-stained bandage on which the blood had dried and
adhered to the wound. Some would grit their teeth and
grunt, others would let out a low moan, while one boy
would wail and howl. A Jewish boy would set up a regular
chant of, "Oh Yohy, Oh Yohy". The wails, grunts and
chants didn't help the patients very much, for as the
doctor and nurse worked on one patient the other 13
would give him a bad time by imitating, and fiendishly
laugh with glee at his discomfort. Just as soon as the
cart was moved to the next patient, the boy who had just
finished wailing or moaning was the first to join in with
the others. We called the Jewish boy's chant a Jewish
lullaby.

Frank Samaritan, an Italian boy, had received a slug
of shrapnel through the chest and lung, and he nearly
died on us several times. Someone would tell a funny
story and like the rest of us, Frank would start to laugh
and then to wheeze and gasp for breath. He wasn't doing
too well as it was, but the laughing and gasping for breath
was making him worse. The doctors finally had to move
him out of the ward and onto the porch, from where no one
returned. I was happy to learn months later that Frank
had made it, and was sent home.

With Frank moved out of the ward, the nurse had barely
time to change the bedding when another soldier was wheeled
in. As he was being lifted into Frank's bed, all eyes
were on him and we saw that his right leg was off at the
knee or just above the knee. He had evidently come right
from the operating room as he was still under the anesthetic:
Talk was resumed, but in a subdued tone so as not to disturb
the new patient.

About an hour later we heard moans from the new boy
and then we heard him say, "Please move my leg, it hurts
very much". Our nurse was a very understanding and
knowing person. She went over to the boy's bed and said
to him, "I will move your leg for you'". She then reached
under the covers, placed one hand on his thigh and with
her other hand pretended to move the leg that wasn't
there. The nurse later told me that it was quite common
for a new amputee to seem to have pain in the removed
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member, sometimes for long periods of time, and that it
was evidently due to the severed nerves twitching in the
upper part of the member. While the amputee suffered
considerable pain and discomfort, he made it with the
assistance of a shot or two through the night.

When the agony cart made its rounds the next morning
we were all wondering what the doctor would tell the boy
with his leg gone. We didn't have long to wait, for when
the nurse uncovered the stub and the doctor touched the
dressing, the boy knew and cried out, '"Oh my God, my leg
is off". Then he broke down and sobbed. Later that day
after he was more composed, we tried to cheer him up.

We learned that his name was Dan Bailey and that he lived
on a farm in Minnesota. Loosing his leg was a pretty
strong pill for him to swallow. He knew that his days

of walking behind a plow on his father's farm were over,
and farming was the only thing he knew. After a couple
of days he became somewhat reconciled and entered into
the conversations, especially after learning the plight
of each of the rest of us.

About a week after Dan Bailey had gotten out of his
slump, he had a visitor. A big strapping hulk of a man,
wearing a Knights of Columbus uniform, came strutting
into our ward. He carried a cane on his arm and a box
containing cigarettes, which he passed out to each of us
on his way over to Dan's bed. When he got there he looked
down at Dan and asked him how he was feeling and where he
was wounded. Naturally Dan, who still felt pretty bad
about the loss of his leg, began telling the K of C worker
that without his leg he was a hopeless cripple and would be
useless when he got back home on the farm,

That was all the K of C worker wanted to hear. He
said to Dan, "Look at this", and he did a jig all over the
floor, After a few minutes he stopped and said to Dan,

"In a month or two from now you will be able to do just

what I have done". '"You've got smart talking", Dan replied,
"You have your legs, I haven't". With that the K of C
worker took the cane he was carrying on his arm and struck
it a resounding whack against his leg. From the sound,

we knew that he had an artificial leg. I know it surprised
Dan. Then, to our amazement, he struck the cane against

the other leg, and we all knew that he had not only one,

but two artificial legs. From that day on, Dan Bailey
improved in disposition, and knew that he had much to
look forward to when he got back home.

June 25
One of the boys from my Company came into our ward

looking for me. He had been wounded the day after I had.
A bad flesh wound in the leg. He had a souvenir for me.
It was the bayonet that had struck me. He had taken it
from the dead German's rifle the following morning when
the Company went over the top to take Cantigny. He had
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seen the fight between me and the Germans, but was afraid
to shoot for fear of hitting me, until after I had been
struck down. I asked him about the other boys from

the Company, and the news wasn't good. Quite a number of
them had been wounded and several killed on the way over.
It was he who had shot the German poised over me. In
making his way back to the aid station after he was wounded,
he took the bayonet, hoping he would find me in the next
day or two. He carried that bayonet with him from one
hospital to another for nearly a month before he caught
up with me.

From the day at the first aid station when the doctor
had one of his assistants give me a cigarette while he
looked at my wound until today I hand't had a desire to
smoke. Today during the visit from my buddy and with the
smell of his cigarette, the urge came over me. I asked
the nurse if I could smoke. She 1lit a cigarette for me,
placed it between my lips and told my buddy to remove it
when the ashes got too long. I puffed for a couple of
minutes and then he removed it, knocked the ashes off and
replaced it in my mouth for a few more puffs,

After that first cigarette, I had to depend on K of C
workers or visitors to sit at my bedside while I smoked.
Later I made a deal with Dan Sullivan, the orderly. I
would supply the cigarettes and he would light and place
one in my mouth whenever I wanted one. About every half
hour Dan would pass by the door, poke his head in and ask,
"How about it big boy, are you ready for a smoke?" If I
said "OK", Dan would proceed down the corridor to wherever
he went and a few minutes later on his way back he had a
lighted cigarette in his mouth for me. When he got to my
door it would be pushed partially open, just far enough
for his arm to come in, the hand with the 1it cigarette
would hover over me and down would come the cigarette
right into my mouth.

After puffing away for a couple of minutes, Dan's
arm would again slip through the opening in the door, reach
down and pluck the cigarette from my mouth and the arm
would disappear., That was the way I enjoyed my smokes,

There were many sleepless nights in ward #160. No
matter what hour of the night, you could always find one
or more of the boys who couldn't sleep. We would talk
about our families, girlfriends, what we did before the
war and the things we could remember about our home towns.
We passed many a weary hour that way.
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CHAPTER FOUR

A NIGHT WE WON'T SOON FORGET

June 28

Tonight was a night that none of us in ward #160, or
for that matter any of the boys anywhere in the hospital,
will soon forget. The Germans had decided to pay a visit
to Paris. Mobile sirens could be heard racing up and down
the city streets giving the air raid warning. Soon after
we could hear the roar of the airplane motors and the
thump of aerial bombs exploding in the city. A few
minutes later we could hear the all clear being sounded.

The nurse had drawn the blackout curtains when the
sirens started and was about to open them after the all
clear. Before she had the first one open, we could hear
the high pitched whine of a shell traveling in our
direction. The Germans had built a huge gun, which had
been moved up under cover of darkness into a woods about
25 miles from Paris. This gun, named "Big Bertha'" had
commenced firing. It was a shell from this gun that we
could hear rushing at us in the darkness. One shell hit
a building across the street from the hospital. Another
struck a building directly behind the hospital. We could
hear the shell fragments raining down on the roof of the
hospital. The thought went through my mind that now they
had the range and the next one would be right on target.

But the third, fourth and fifth shells struck far off
in the direction of Paris. Big Bertha was not intended
to help win the war by its effectiveness, for it could not
be trained and held on target as smaller weapons could.

It was intended as a morale breaker by bringing the terror
of war to the civilian population of Paris.

After the shelling stopped, we all laid there for
several minutes. No one spoke a word until Floyd Gibbons,
who had lost an eye in the war, broke the silence. '"Do
you boys know what I am going to do after this war is
over and I am back home? I am going to give lessons on
how to wear a monocle.'" That broke the tension and soon
each of the other boys came up with their own versions
of what they would do after the war was over. ,

Bill Curtis, over in one corner of the ward, had been
hit in the throat by a piece of shrapnel, and could barely
whisper. He said, "I am going to give vocal lessons". Dan
Bailey, with the leg missing, said, "I'm going to give tap
dancing lessons'". Red Shannahan, with both arms broken
and in plaster casts said he was going to be a boxer. "With
these stiff arms I'11 only have to hit a boy once and hge
will be out cold". When it came my turn I remembered that
we had an old Civil War veteran in our town who, whenever
the weather was nice, put on his blue Civil War coat with
the brass buttons and his blue campaign hat with the gold
cord. He would come out on his front porch and sit in his
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rocking chair and rock. We kids from blocks around would
gather at his feet on the steps of the porch and listen

to the thrilling tales of how he fought and won the war.

We believed him then, but now, having gone through a small
portion of this war, I knew that no one person could have
done all of the things he said he had done and live to

tell about it. So, for my contribution, I said, "After
the war is over I am going to put on my olive drab uniform,
sit in my rocking chair on the front porch and outlie the
G.A.R. (Grand Army of the Republic)."

Floyd Gibbons not only had an eye shot out, but had
received a machine gun bullet through the right elbow
and another through the right shoulder. His was a real
story and he was a remarkable man.

A war correspondent for the Chicago Tribune, he had
been down on the Mexican border in 1916 and 1917. There
he reported the skirmishes that the First Division under
Black Jack Pershing were having with Pancho Villa, the
guerilla bandit,

In 1917, the Imperial German Government had announced
that on and after February 1 its submarines would sink
without warning any ship found in the war zone. The Chicago
Tribune contacted Gibbons and asked him if he would accept
an assignment to London to see how things were going over
there. Gibbons arrived in New York and learned that passage
had been booked for him on the German Steamship Frederic
VIII, on which the discredited German Ambassador, Von
Bernstorf, was guaranteed safe passage. Gibbons cancelled
his passage. He chose an English ship, the Laconia, which
was loaded with war supplies for England, 70 passengers
on their way back to England, and a crew of over 200.

Ten days out from New York on February 27 and in the
war zone, the Laconia without warning was torpedoed and
started sinking. The ship had to be abandoned and was then
torpedoed again to make sure it sank. Gibbons, with 23 other
passengers and crewmen in one life boat, contined to row
their boat in order to keep from freezing throughout the
night and were picked up the following morning by an
English patrol boat and taken to England.

I was still in college when the papers carried the
story that Gibbons had cabled back to the Tribune. I
became one of his admirers, never dreaming that I would
one day meet him and become a close personal friend. For
20 years after the war had ended, and until his death in
1939, Gibbons and I had a one day reunion at each of the
American Legion conventions,.

Six weeks after Gibbons' story had been published in
the papers and during which an American ship had been
sunk, America declared war on Germany. When the First
Division landed in France, Gibbons was there to greet
them and their General Pershing.

When the First Division went into the lines, Gibbons
was with them and he stayed with them wherever they
went. Months later, when the Second Division made up of
the 9th and 23rd Infantry and the 5th and 6th Marines
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went into the lines at Belleau Woods, Gibbons was with
them. He was advancing across an open field with a
Batallion of the 5th Marines when the Germans who were
concealed in a woods, opened fire with machine guns. The
Batallion was almost wiped out. Gibbons hit the dirt
like everyone else and tried to crawl through the wheat
to safety. The wheat moved when crawling through it and
the Germans lowered their fire. One bullet hit the ground
in front of him, ricocheted up and struck him in the left
eye, coming out through the side of his head and through
the helmet. Another one hit him in the shoulder and a
third bullet hit him in the elbow. It wasn't until after
darkness had settled that he was able to crawl back to
safety. He was in ward #160 when I got there.

Gibbons had a remarkable memory, and on days when the
time seemed to pass slowly, he would devote his time to
helping us improve our memories. One of the boys in the
ward would copy down in the order in which the rest of
us would call out the name of objects up to one hundred.
After a moment, Gibbons would name each object in the
exact order they were given. At the end of ten days
most of us were able to call out 48 to 50 items without
a miss. This game helped to wile away many a pleasant
hour for all of us.

Gibbons was well known in Paris and almost every day
French dignitaries and friends stopped in to see him. He,
in turn, would introduce them to us. Gibbon's wife,
Issabel, also called every day and each time she came she
was loaded with candy, cookies or cigarettes for her boys
in ward #160. We called her the "angel of ward #160".

Many American women came to our ward to visit with us.
Some wrote letters back home for us while others just asked
if there was anything they could do for us. It gave us a
good feeling to know that there were people who cared and
wanted to help. One of the women stood out in my memory,
because she stopped in to ward #160 frequently. Her
name was Elsie Janis, one of America's finest song and
dance entertainers. She had given up a fine income back
in the States to come to France to entertain the wounded
troops in the hospitals,

On two occasions I received a real shock. The first
time was when a group of four women came into the ward. One
of them looked at the chart at the foot of my bed and said, ,
"This man comes from the black eye state'". The four of
them, without a word to me, went on to the next bed and
visited with each of the other boys. I was completely
ignored.

Those who were old enough when the war started will
recall that when the vote to declare war against Germany
was taken in the U.S. Senate, our Senator from Wisconsin,
Robert LaFollet voted against going to war. From that time,
Wisconsin was known as the black eye state. It didn't make
any difference to those women that I was in a hospital bed,
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wounded in that war. I was from the black eye state
and nothing could change that.

The other time was when two American women came into
the ward. One of them carried a large bouquet of roses.
As was customary, they stopped at my bed and read the
chart. Then one of them said for all to hear, "Poor boy",
The one with the roses took one from her bouquet and
solemnly placed it on my defenseless chest. I know it
must have given her much personal satisfaction to think
that she had done a kindly act. After they had made the
rounds of all the beds and quietly closed the door as
they left, everyone in the ward took up the cry, '"Poor
boy, poor boy". When Dan Sullivan came around for my next
cigarette, I said, "Dan, please remove the funeral decora-
tions".
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CHAPTER FIVE
"BASTILLE DAY"

WE CELEBRATE "BIG BOY'S' GOOD NEWS

Many amusing incidents happened and because of all
of the good natured teasing and razzing that went on,
each of us came to realize that we were greatly depen-
dent upon one another. The joshing and teasing helped
to carry us over the rough spots, and made the going more
bearable. There were many days when without the moral
support of the boys in the ward, I could have become
very bitter.
Three weeks had passed since I had been wounded and
to the present time I had not received any encouragement
from either the doctor who changed my dressing each morning,
or from the two specialists who came to my bed each morning
to check on me, They couldn't seem to figure out why with
my arms and legs paralyzed because of the severed nerves
that I should be having such severe pain in my extremities.
It didn't seem to make sense to them and they told me so.
At first I was afraid to know the truth because I
was afraid of what the truth might be, but finally I had
to know. The answers to my many questions were always
qualified, but finally they told me that possibly I would
not regain the use of my arms and legs.

July 8

When the two specialists returned to my room a second
time today I became apprehensive. I could not tell from
their faces if they had good or bad news. It was good
news. They informed me that my medical records, which
had been left in the hospital train, had been recovered,
From what the records showed, the French doctor had done
an excellent job, and they were now sure that I would
regain the use of my arms and legs. Not as good as they
formerly were, but I would use them again. They said it
would be a long, painful process, but I should keep up
the fight., I think the doctors were as happy for me as
I was.

July 9

Because the doctors knew now what surgery had been
done and that no other operation would be called for, 1
was booked for surgery to close the wound. I survived
the surgery, but spent a couple of uncomfortable days
because the closure pulled my head back and held it in
that position until the wound had healed and the skin
stretched.
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Word was making the rounds of the hospital that the
French government was preparing for a celebration in
Paris on July 14, Bastille Day. Units from all Allied Armies
were to march in the parade down the Champs-Elysées. My
28th Batallion was to be one of the units,

July 14

The announcement was made throughout the hospital that
every ambulant patient who wanted to would be taken by
ambulance to the reviewing stands to see the parade.

There was much rushing about in the corridors as patients
made their way to stairs and elevators, to get to the
ambulances waiting for them in the courtyard below.

Red Shannahan was the only ambulant one in our ward,
He was fully dressed and was setting on the edge of his
bed waiting for the word to go. When the word came for
Red, he looked around the ward at the rest of us. Perhaps
he saw a couple of long faces, or just felt sorry for us,
or perhaps that Irishman had another idea forming in his
mind. Whatever the reason, Red spoke up for all to hear
and said, "If some of you damned goldbrickers would get up
off of your fat duffs we could all go. I'm afraid to leave
you guys here alone for fear you won't be able to wipe
your noses if you have to. Besides, I don't want to see
the damn parade anyhow.”" With that statement, Red remained
sitting on his bed until we heard the last of the ambulances
leaving for the parade downtown.

Something had really been brewing in Red's head. After
the sound of departing ambulances had died down and things
in the ward had settled almost back to normal, Red turned
to us and said, "As long as we can't go down to the party,
how about having a party of our own? I've got a little
money, and if some of you guys will part with some of
your's, I'11l go out and get a couple of quarts of champaign.
We will celebrate Bastille Day right here in this bastille."

Red knew that a couple of Marines in the ward had been
paid a few days before and that a few of the others had
some money in their night stands. Each of the boys who
had money gave what they could spare to Red. Gibbons
then asked Red how much he had. It amounted to enough
to buy three quarts of champaign. Gibbons said, "Red,
take 100 Francs from my drawer (he still had both eyes
bandaged) and get a quart for each one of us. We'll make
this a real celebration now that we know Big Boy is going
to use his arms and legs again."

Almost a half hour had gone by and still no sight of
Red. We had begun to wonder if he had possibly taken a
couple of drinks at the cafe and forgotten all about us.
Just then, who should come walking into the room but Red
with the cafe proprietor carrying a case with 14 quarts
of champaign on his shoulder.
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Before he could even set the case down on the floor,
the head nurse came bounding into the ward. She had spotted
the two just as they turned into the ward and she knew
something was going on. She was an old timer and had a
knack of being in the right place at the right time.

In a stern voice she demanded, "What's the meaning
of this?" and ordered the Frenchman to remove the cham-
paign immediately. All of us begged and pleaded with her
to be reasonable, but it seemed to no avail. We tried
to explain to her that we were just about the only patients
left in the hospital and that the rest were all downtown
having a good time. Why would she deny us, who couldn't
leave our beds, just a little bit of cheerfulness in our
dreary old ward. There was no sign of relenting in her
face, or in her manner.

Our ward nurse, Louise Schott, God bless her, came
to our aid., She called the head nurse aside and, after
a few minutes of whispered conversation, the head nurse
started for the door. Just as she was about to step out
she turned, winked at us and said, "I'm sorry I did not
have time to visit your ward today, but I will make it
tomorrow." Then in an aside to the nurse, we heard her
say, "I'll hold you responsible" and she was gone.

The Frenchman quietly stole out of the room empty
handed and Louise got busy handing out quarts of champaign
to those boys who had the use of their arms and were able
to open their bottles. In a few minutes corks were popping
and everyone had an open quart at his bedside to partake
of at their pleasure. That is, everyone but me.

I could hear cups being filled, the drinking and
smacking of lips, along with "Ah's" and '"Oh, boy, this is
good"., Nurse Schott came to me last, poured a cup full
of champaign, then propped me up in bed and held the cup
to my mouth. By the time my cup was half empty, some of
the boys were on their second. It wasn't long before the
voices grew louder, much laughter began and a bit of off
chord singing. It didn't become boisterous. Each of us
knew that we owed a great deal to Nurse Schott, and we
were not about to get her into trouble.

After I had emptied my first cup, Nurse Schott said
she had an idea. She left the ward for a few minutes and '
returned with a long bent glass drinking tube. Placing
the quart of champaign between my legs, she inserted the
drinking tube in the bottle and propped me up a little
higher so that the tube just reached my mouth.

All of us in the ward had been in bed for weeks with-

out exercise and the champaign began to take its toll,
The laughter and talking gradually became subdued until
all I could hear was heavy breathing, Then I could no
longer hear even that. I too had slipped into the best
sleep I had had in months.
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I was awakened by the rattle of dishes on the break-
fast cart being pushed into the ward and the usual commo-
tion that serving entailed. Everyone had been served and
I could hear the rattling of dishes as the boys were
eating. No one came over to feed me. I finally asked the
Marine in the next bed if I didn't rate any breakfast
this morning. '"Holy cow", he shouted for all to hear.
"Sleeping Beauty has finally come back to the land of
the living." Then I got a going over from everyone in the
ward.

When the agony cart and its crew came into the ward,
it started all over again. The nurse with the cart glanced
in my direction. Seeing that I was awake, she turned to
the doctor and said, "Sleeping Beauty has decided to
join us." The doctor came over to my bed, looked down
at me and asked, '"How do you feel, my friend?" I couldn't
make out what was going on. What was all this Sleeping
Beauty stuff about, and why the "my friend" from the doctor?
He had never called me friend before, why now? I did
answer his question, however, and told him, "I feel
lousy". That set off a gale of laughter by everyone
including the nurse and the doctor.

Still not knowing what it was all about, I asked,
"What's so funny?" It was then that I learned that after
Nurse Schott had finished taking temperatures, she re-
turned to my bed to see how I was making aut with my
champaign and found me fast asleep. She removed the
drinking tube and the bottle which was empty. I had drunk
the whole quart of champaign through the tube.

I had been asleep for three nights and two full
days. No wonder they called me Sleeping Beauty and no wondef
I felt lousy. From that day on I was the envy of everyone
else in the ward. The doctors had been concerned about
all the narcotic shots they had to give me to stop my pain.
Now they had an alternative. My medication was changed
effective that day. Instead of morphine, I was to receive
three or four ounces of brandy each evening just before
lights out time. When the nurse came to my bed that night
with a glass half full of brandy, I had the last laugh
on the buys who were given an aspirin tablet and a glass
of water,

It was a sad day in ward #160 when some of the boys
had convalesced sufficiently to be shipped out to other
hospitals. We had become a close family. We had shared
some awful days, and some pretty happy days together.
Floyd Gibbons was the first to leave. He had progressed
to a point where he no longer had to remain in the hospital:
He was free to leave, but had to report back to the eye
ward once a day for treatment. The eye ward was on our
floor and Gibbons stopped in to see us every day. Then
one day he came in to say good bye. He was on his way back
to the States on a lecture tour. He told us before he left
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that he would tell the folks back home about a bunch of
boys he knew personally who were putting up a fight to
get well.

One after another, as the boys improved and could get
around, they were being sent to base hospitals further
back; some to be fitted with artificial limbs, others to
convalesce and go back to their outfits, while others
would be shipped back to the States.

July 24

Newly wounded filled the beds as fast as one of our
gang was moved out., Today when I was told that everything
had been done for me at this hospital that could be done,
I was reconciled to leaving good old ward #160 and Red
Cross Hospital #1. I was the last of the old bunch there.
The new boys coming in were fine fellows, and some of
their wounds were just as painful as ours had been.

There was something, however, with the absence of the old
group that wasn't the same.
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Cn Board 53. la Lorraine,
tnroute Ier York to Bordeaux,

Tecember 26th., 1918.

Private Guiren ll, Groessl,
Algoma, Wisconsin, U, S, L.,

Deur "Big Boy":

Your bully little letter of Octcber 25th. 1 received
w-th great joy which increased as I read that you haé naae
s. h wonderful recovery. You had the toughest wound
anybody in 0ld 160 and if wn,/bcdy ever put on & 8tif! upper
lip ani made & fight for recovery, you surely did. I want
to congratulate you on your success.

I Lhave made some forty or fifty lect xes and in each of
them have ®1d the story of you and all the other bqys in ow
ward and I made them leugh &nd cry with.it., I am writing thic
c 1y way back to France where 1 hope to meet lirs. Gibbons o1
the dock a% Bordeaux and I know that she will be‘glad to hear
thgt you have fully recovered. 3y the way I got & letter the
other day from ¥rank Samaritan., Can you remember "the dying
Jop"%? He is not dead &t all, de foocled all the sawbones,

well olcd timer write to me whenever yoa get a clunce,
becutse I %ill always be glad to heaur from you eru will al-
wa,8 look forw&rq to the time when we can meet &gain und
tulk over the days that ve luy side by side on our backs in

0id ward 1loG,

Sincerely your ffiend,

-G, L PR
n "I «/%




CHAPTER SIX

BASE HOSPITAL #20 AND MORE GOOD NEWS

July 25

After bidding good bye to my nurse, Louise Schott,
my doctors, and to my smoking companion, Dan Sullivan,
I was taken to an ambulance train. After several hours
of riding in a bunk, we reached Base Hospital #20, in
the southern part of France. Everything was done for me
here, including massage and physical therapy, but my
legs and arms would not seem to respond. After more than
two weeks of painful therapy, a slight tremor was noticed
in my left arm and I was able to move a finger ever so
slightly.

August 12
I guess the doctors at Base Hospital #20 gave me

up as a bad job. This morning three doctors came into

my room and gave me a good examination, and then stepped
out of the room for a consultation. I could hear their
voices in the corridor, but could not make out what they
were saying. After about five minutes one of the doctors
re-entered the room, came over to my bed and very rudely
said, "You are eating food and occupying a bed that we need
for a soldier who will be able to go back to the front.
We are shipping you back to the States." I didn't like
the way he put it to me, but I liked very much what he
said and didn't know whether I should laugh or cry.

August 15

Today I said good-bye to Base Hospital #20. I hadn't
been here long enough to make any close attachments and
was anxious to get started on my way back to the States.

I didn't know my next destination, but later that afternoon
our ambulance train arrived at Base Hospital #8 at Savaheny.
The door in the center of our car was pushed open.

Someone on the loading platform came to the open door and

began looking in the various bunks to see if he knew any
of the new arrivals. When he turned in my direction, I
got a look at his face and shouted, "Dolly". He gave me
one look and said, "Squee'", a nickname I had had for many
years. Then he said, "I'1l1l be right back'", and disappeared
from the door. I didn't know what had come over him.

Stretcher bearers came aboard, lifted us from our
bunks and carried us off the train. My first glimpse of
Base Hospital #8 was not a pleasant one. It was made up
of hundreds of one-story barrack-type buildings. They
reminded me of army barracks back in the States, but here
there was a central hospital facility. I was carried past
dozens of these barracks until we reached the second from
the last, and was taken inside.
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There were about 40 beds on each side of the barracks
and most of them were made up and not occupied. An orderly
had opened one of the beds near the center of the building
and I was deposited there. The orderly asked if he could
do anything for me and I replied, "Yes, I would like a
drink of water." When he arrived with the water, he held
it out to me, I had to tell him he would have to hold it
to my mouth as I couldn't use my arms., He sat me up and
held the glass while I drank.

Next I was given a bath, and about that time the
lights came on. I had my first good look around. The
fellow in the bed on my right was black. I could not
turn my head to see the fellow on my left. I was tired
and hungry, and I was somewhat dejected by the comedown
in hospital surroundings. This was nothing like the
hospitals I had been in. Then, too, I was unhappy about
the way Dolly had run off and left me at the train. After
the evening meal, I lay there staring up at the ceiling
until it was time for lights out. Then I was given my
glass of brandy to help me sleep.

The following morning before the agony cart came
around, I had been fed breakfast and propped up in bed.

I could see the black boy lying there very quietly. On
the day before I had been tired and irritable, and after
seeing my surroundings including the black boy in the bed
next to me, I had resented the whole setup. I hoped I
hadn't showed it.

I learned some things that morning when the agony
cart crew went to work on the black boy. I had lived all
of my life in a small city where we had no black people.

I had hardly ever had any contact with them, or known one
to speak to. I no doubt had a feeling that blacks were
different.

When the nurse turned back the covers on the black
boy's bed I was watching. I saw the doctor and the nurse
start at the shoulder and slowly work their way down to
his ankle. Every couple of inches they were pulling
off a blood stained dressing that had dried and was sticking
to the wounds. At each pull, I could hear a slight groan
and I knew then that black people hurt and felt pain just
as whites do, I realized that the only difference between
he and I was the color of our skin.

After the doctor had checked my neck and back, I
asked the black boy why all the dressings? He told me he
had been caught in the cross fire of a machine gun and had
received 27 machine gun bullets from ankle to shoulder.

During the few days I remained at Base #8 at Savaheny,
the black boy and I became friendly. Before the war he had
been a janitor in a large apartment building in New York
City, and he had a wife and child waiting for him back
home.
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On the third day after my arrival at Base Hospital
#8 two old friends came to my bed. Dolly, whose real
name was Henry Daul, and Kuts, whose real name was Urban
Kashik, both from my home town, Algoma, Wisconsin, and both
from old Company F. When Dolly had left me at the train
he had gone to find Urban who was also looking on the train
for anyone he might know. By the time he found Urban and
got back to my train car, I had already been carried out.

We had all enlisted in Company F back home. This
Company was made up of boys from Sturgeon Bay and the
northern peninsula, and boys from Algoma and vicinity.
After we had arrived in France, we had been split up and
became replacements for the First Division, each of us
going to a different Company. Dolly had been wounded in
the leg and that was just about healed. Kashik had re-
ceived a bullet through the forearm and was still wearing
a splint. Both were well on their way to a full recovery,
and no doubt would soon be back with their Companies in
action,

I must have looked a sight when they found me. They
had been searching barracks for two and one half days.
When they found me that day I had a three-day beard.

The orderlies were not as anxious to keep us shaved as had
been the way at other hospitals. Dolly said, "Tomorrow
I'll bring my razor along and give you a shave. If we
locate any other boys from Company F we'll bring them
along too." The way it felt on my face, Dolly must have
used that razor to open cans of bully beef. Each stroke
of the blade felt worse than when the nurse used to pull
off a dried dressing that had adhered to the wound, but
after it was all over I did feel much better.

August 18

Urban Kashik came alone today. He said that Dolly
had been shipped to his unit that morning. Urban had
been told by his doctor that he too would be sent back to
his unit in another week or so. That was the last time
I saw Dolly or Urban until after the war back home. That
same evening I was told that in the morning I would be
on my way by ambulance train to Base Hospital #1 at Brest,
France. There, in a day or two, I would be on a steamer
and headed for the good old U.S.A.
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CHAPTER SEVEN

BASE HOSPITAL #1, BREST, AND A TRANSPORT FOR HOME

August 19

I told the black boy that if any of my friends came
looking for me to tell them that I was on my way home.
Shortly thereafter I was carried to the ambulance train
and we were on our way. It was another long tiresome ride
and I was uncomfortable when we finally reached our desti-
nation. After a short ambulance ride, we arrived at the
basement of a very large church or cathedral.

As far as I could see there were rows of beds with
seriously wounded soldiers in every bed. There must have
been 100, and all being readied to go back home. I was
fed my dinner, and between mouthfuls the nurse told me
we were in the city of Brest and that in the morning after
our breakfast we would be transported to the docks. There
an American ship would be waiting to take us home.

August 20
The evacuation from Base Hospital #1 to the ship had

begun. All of the ambulant patients and those who could
shift for themselves were taken first. When it got down
to the last half dozen patients, I got kind of worried.
I thought we might be stuck with beds down in the holds
of the ship. Nothing could be farther from the truth.
Another boy and I were carried aboard the Steamship
Mengelia and taken to a cabin on the top deck. Like me,
he also had to be waited on. We had a cabin all to our-
selves except for the orderly who was with us 24 hours

a day to feed us, to tend to our needs, and to carry us
out to the life boat if need be.

We were escorted out of the English Channel and the
next day out into the Atlantic. From there on we were on
our own. The ship followed a zig zag course. We had one
submarine scare during the 12 days we were at sea. At
sometime during the trip I must have mentioned to our
orderly about my saying good-bye to the Statue of Liberty
on my way over and on the afternoon that our ship pulled
into New York harbor he came over to my bed and said,
"Now would you like to say hello to your old girl friend?"
With that he picked me up in his arms and carried me out,
on deck just as we were passing the statue. This time it
was broad daylight and we were going in the opposite
direction. I don't think I can try to explain the kind of
feeling that came over me at the sight of the lady with
the upraised arm, and what she stood for. I only knew
that it felt pretty nice to know that I was back home
again, and would soon have my feet back on American soil.
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Having my feet back on American soil almost didn't
happen. While being carried down the gangplank from the
ship by two stretcher bearers, the one in front stumbled
and fell to his knees tilting the stretcher to such an
angle that I started sliding off the stretcher. Luckily
for me the man in the rear quickly lowered his end to the
gangplank and grabbed me. I would have slid off the
stretcher and down into the water between the ship and the
dock, perhaps never to have survived to record these
events.

In my early school days I had often read about people
who had emigrated from foreign countries to the United
States and were landed at Ellis Island. They had to remain
there under quarantine until there was no question of
their having any communicable disease and until their
papers were in order. I never dreamed that someday I
would set foot on that same island, or that I would
experience the same kind of a thrill that the early
immigrants had. Perhaps my feelings were not exactly
like theirs', but I knew that it was one of the biggest
thrills of my life when I was finally on the island.

Good old American ground. Ground, I recalled the Major
telling us just before we went aboard the boat that was
to take us over to France, we would never see or feel
again until the war was over.

I also recalled the shudder that went through me at
the time, and the poem that flashed through my mind, "In
Flander's Field; the poppies grow; between the crosses;
row on row; that mark the spot".

Now that I was safely back and on American soil I
was so happy and so relieved that I would have kissed the
ground had I not been on a stretcher being carried to
the building that was to be my home for the duration of
the quarantine period.

After being transferred from the stretcher to a bed,
I asked the man who had carried me to hold me and let me
put my feet on the floor just to be able to say I had both
feet back on American soil again. That accomplished, I
lay on the bed and thought about the immigrants who had
come to this island before me, and of their hopes and
expectations and the disappointments that some would
endure. I couldn't help but think how worried and thrilled
they were about the new country they had adopted.

While I wasn't an immigrant coming to a new country
by adoption, I was a citizen coming back to the land of
my birth after having been treated rather harshly in a
foreign land. I and several hundred other Veterans
experienced the same treatment the immigrants had exper-
ienced years before. We, too, were held in quarantine for
two weeks on Ellis Island after being unloaded from the
Steamer Mengelia,.
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The quarantine lasted from September 2 to September 14,
During this time I sent two telegrams to my parents. The
first one on September 3 simply saying, "Arrived safely,
here for a few days only, condition good, writing." The
second one sent a day later said, "Wire me $20.00 at
once", Needless to say, I got the money.

On Ellis Island I took my first steps. My legs had
lost most of the numb feeling and I could move about the
room without assistance. For the first time in months the
orderly helped me to get dressed in my uniform, instead
of a hospital gown or a pair of pajamas. I still had to
be fed and bathed and tended to, but I was beginning to
get around by myself. Just being back in the good old
U.S.A. had a healing effect all its own. I knew I was

feeling much better and getting stronger than I had been
in months.
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CHAPTER EIGHT
CONVALESCENT HOSPITAL #11

I THREATEN TO GO A.W.O0.L.

On the afternoon of September 14, our quarantine
ended and we were ferried from Ellis Island over to the
Jersey shore where we went by train to Cape May, New Jersey,
to Hospital #11. This hospital was formerly a resort
hotel on the ocean shore. It had been taken over by the
government and equipped as a convalescent hospital. The
wounded from overseas were to be admitted here for treat-
ment and for convalescing.

Physical therapy was now playing a large part in my
recovery., Heat lamps and massage were helping to make my
legs stronger, but so far did not seem to help much in
my arms. Because of a decided droop in my right shoulder
due to a severed trapezius muscle, the right arm and
shoulder had to be supported by a sling. This was only
removed during therapy and when in bed. The left arm
hung limp at my side. I was permitted to be up most of
the day and allowed to walk about in the hospital and to
the therapy rooms.

Finally the day came when I was permitted to leave
the hospital building and walk about the grounds. Later,
I was permitted to cross the street in front of the
hospital to walk on the Boardwalk, which paralleled the
ocean and onto the beach. Here I sat for hours on the
sand watching the ocean, and often thinking of what
was still going on on the other side. Every day when
the weather permitted, I was on the beach breathing the
fresh sea air and thanking God for having brought me back.

Hospital #11 was located about a mile north of the
city of Cape May, and had its own exclusive beach.
Occasionally, I would see people walking along the beach
from Cape May, but when they neared the beach in front of
the hospital, they all turned around and headed back the
way they had come. I thought their actions were odd and
it seemed very strange that no one from the city of Cape
May had ever come out to the hospital to visit the wounded.
While in the hospitals in France we had many French and
American visitors who were all anxious to do things for
us if they could. Back here in America no one came to
visit us. In fact, we seemed to be scorned and I could
not understand why. I could not believe that the American
People would ignore us completely, but such seemed to be
the case.

One day while sitting in my favorite spot on the
beach, I noticed a young woman walking along the water's
edge. What caught my attention was that she had not stopped
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and turned around when she reached the private beach where
I was sitting. I saw her glance in my direction as she
walked by. She continued on for a short distance, then
turned and headed directly toward where I was sitting, but
she stopped about 20 feet from me.

My arm in its white sling must have attracted her
attention for she asked, "What happened to your arm,
soldier?" I replied, "I can't use it because of an
injury". Advancing a few steps closer, she asked, '"Were
you in a car accident?" I began to wonder what sort of
people lived around here. Didn't they read the papers or
listen to the radio? Didn't they know that there was a
war on, and in wars people get hurt? I was on the verge
of being rude, but controlled my answer. I told her that
I had just returned from France, where I had been wounded
and that I was no longer of use over there so they sent
me back to get well again if possible. She looked at me
in amazement for a spell and then said, '"Do you mean to
tell me that you are in this hospital as a wounded
soldier?" By now she had come up to me and was kneeling
in the sand before me.

Now she was curious and wanted to know more. I told
her that "a couple of weeks ago a ship loaded with wounded
men had returned from France, and we were all now at this
hospital. Also that none of us were able to understand
why we were completely ignored by our own people. It was
all so different from the way the French and Americans in
France had treated us. Until today, not one civilian here
had so much as walked on the beach in front of the hospital.
Why were we being ignored as if we had the plague?

I could see that what I said disturbed her. She
appeared to want to be friendly, but something was holding
her back., Then it seemed to pop right out of her mouth
before she could stop it. "Do you have a venereal disease?"
I was hurt and so angry that I said, '"Hell no, where I
came from there were no women to contract venereal disease
from. There were only dead and wounded men who had been
fighting for their lives."

I guess my fit of anger cleared the air. She was
sitting beside me, and in a few minutes the whole matter
was cleared up to our complete satisfaction.

She informed me that the soldiers who had been sent
to Cape May to get the hotel ready as a hospital, and who
would be the orderlies, kitchen help, etc. had reached the
Cape several weeks before we arrived. During that period,
on their evenings off, they spent much of their time in
the city. The townspeople had entertained them royally.
However, they must have known that once the disabled and
wounded arrived it would be they who got the attention.
The word was passed around that the soldiers who would be
coming to the hospital were soldiers from various camps
around the country who had contracted a venereal disease
of one kind or another. This was to be strictly a venereal
disease hospital.
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I was able to assure the young lady that if there
were any venereal cases, it would have to be among the
orderlies and other help only. Every one of the re-
turning wounded had to be free of any disease before they
could be shipped back home. I also assured her that it
was almost an impossibility for any of the wounded men
to have contracted a venereal disease because at no time
were the fighting men in an area where there were women
or camp followers. The only women we saw were the very
old who were fleeing from their wrecked homes, the nurses
in the hospitals, or the women who came to visit us.

We must have spent the better part of two hours talking.
She apologized for the way she and the townspeople had
ignored our being there. When I said I had to return to
the hospital for dinner, she helped me to my feet and walked
with me to the hospital door. She then asked, "Are you
able to leave the hospital grounds and, if so, I should
very much like to take you for a drive tomorrow to try to
make up for our bad manners."

As far as I knew, no one had tried leaving the
hospital grounds up to this time. The best answer I could
give her was, "I will find out when I get inside. If I
can go, I'11 be happy to have you show me around.'" At
the hospital door, she said, "I will be here tomorrow
after lunch. If you have permission, I will be parked
in the driveway just outside this door waiting for you."

With that, I said, "If I can leave the hospital to go
with you, I'll be out here and if not I'll still be here
to tell you so". I entered the hospital thinking this was
the last I would see of her. On the chance that she meant
what she said, I did go to the commanding officer, who in
turn referred me to the doctor in charge of my therapy.

He was elated at the news and said, "It will do you as
much good as your afternoon treatment to get out of here
for a while and be with people on the outside". He also
mentioned that he and some other staff doctors and nurses
were concerned about the number of boys who were depressed
because of loneliness and long confinement with only
hospital companionship. None of them could understand why
we were not visited by the townspeople. Then I told him
what the lady had told me, and he was amazed.

-September 20
"This may be the beginning of a new day for me", I

said to the nurse who was feeding me my noon lunch. I
explained to her about my meeting with the lady on the
previous afternoon, and her promise to come to the hospital
to take me for a drive. When I finished my lunch, the
nurse walked me to the door to see if what I had told her
was about to come true. There in the driveway, for all to
see, stood a Rolls Royce and behind the wheel was the

young lady from the day before.
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We had a wonderful afternoon together, seeing the city
of Cape May. Later we took a long drive along the ocean
to Atlantic City. When we arrived, Marion, whose name I
learned along the way, parked the car on an isolated strip
of beach. We sat there getting to know each other. Marion
asked if I smoked, and I said, "Yes, I like to smoke, but
am not able to do so by myself as yet'". She reached into
her jacket pocket and produced a pack of cigarettes, lit
one and placed it between my lips. As she did this, I
thought how thoughtful of her to get the cigarettes for me.
Then, she broke the spell, and took another cigarette from
the pack and 1it it for herself. Remember, I was a young
boy from a small town and had a lot to learn about the
changing habits of the people back here.

This was the first time I had ever seen a woman,
other than an old granny, smoke. I wondered what sort of
a woman I was with. As we sat there and smoked and talked,
I realized that I was still just a small town boy and was
learning how the other half of the world lived. For every
question Marion asked me about my family, my home town, my
future plans after I was able to leave the hospital, she
told me about her family, herself and her past life.

Marion had married at age 22, and after several years
of incompatibility, was divorced from her husband who was
then Ambassador to Italy. She was now living with her
parents on the outskirts of Philadelphia. They were
spending their summer at the summer home in Cape May.

By the time we returned to the hospital late that after-
noon, I was happy to be able to call her my friend.

Before dropping me off at the hospital, Marion asked
if there were other boys who were able to leave the
hospital, or would like to have visitors. I assured her
that there were. She said she would have several cars
there the following afternoon. I reported this information
to my doctor and he said he would have plenty of boys to
fill the cars.

The outing the next afternoon was just what the doctor
ordered for the boys. Six large cars were waiting for us
when we came out of the hospital door. There were eighteen
boys and three were assigned to each car. I, of course,
went with Marion. After an hour of driving around the
countryside and through Cape May, we ended up at the home
of one of the ladies. There we had a picnic lunch in
a beautifully wooded yard. We returned to the hospital
at 5:00.

Each day thereafter, when the weather permitted, the
ladies picked us up for outings and picnics, or just for
long drives in the country. It proved to be good medicine
for all of the boys. I knew that the ladies were happy
to be doing these things for us. Several times when the
weather was bad, Marion came out alone to pick me up and
to spend time at her home where I met her parents and
enjoyed a cocktail or two.
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It was always a pleasure to get away from the hospital
with Marion, because I had a rough schedule there. The
therapy, heat lamps and massage took up most of the morn-
ings and left me tired. In the afternoon there was an
hour of intense massage to my legs and arms. My left arm
seemed to be responding quite well and I was happy about
that. The right arm showed no response, in fact, we were
unable to find any signs of circulation in the arm.

Each day the doctor in charge would come over to the

massage table and ask the same question, "Any response?"
Each day the therapist would give him the same answer,
"Not yet, but I am sure if we stay with it we will bring
it around". I wasn't too sure, however, and after these
past weeks of treatment, I was about ready to call it all
off, I was of the opinion that further treatment wasn't
going to restore the use of the arm.

Left with the feeling that my right arm would be
useless, I made up my mind that I would do everything
possible to make the left arm strong enough to do the
work of both arms if at all possible. I asked the phy-
sical therapist if I would be able to strengthen the left
arm by squeezing a rubber ball and she agreed that it
might help. At least it would help to limber up the fingers
which had become somewhat stiff. She thought the idea
so good that the very next day she presented me with a
rubber ball that I could hold in the palm of my hand. For
weeks I had this ball in my hand, squeezing it almost
every waking moment., It was a slow, tedious process, but
I would feel the arm getting stronger and was gradually
closing my fingers more than before.

Now I began thinking about the right arm. Perhaps
I could help the fingers on that hand to close. If so, it
would at least be of use for holding things. Whenever
I thought of it, I would grasp the fingers of the right
hand with the fingers of the left hand and try bending the
fingers into a fist. They were so stiff that at first I
could not see them move. After days and weeks of trying,
it did loosen them up until the day came when I was able
to grasp the rubber ball with the fingers of the right
hand and squeeze it enough to hold it. When the nurse
saw what I had accomplished on my own, she gave me another
ball, one for each hand.

I had been at the hospital in Cape May for over a
month. I felt that I had received the maximum recovery
of my arms that was possible. I began asking the doctor,
"When can I go home for a visit with my family?" Letters
arrived from home, and one of the nurses wrote letters
home for me, but it wasn't at all like being there. Even
though my letters kept telling the family that I would
soon be writing by myself, I felt the family was getting
to the point where they would not believe me. From
little things they wrote, I got the feeling that they
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believed I had lost one of my arms, and possibly both. 1
wanted to see my folks to assure them that I wasn't as
badly off as they might be thinking, but the doctor kept
putting me off from day to day.

Finally the day arrived when the doctor told the
therapist to discontinue the treatment. He was now con-
vinced that nothing more could be done. The therapist
wasn't convinced, however, and asked the doctor to let her
continue until the end of the week, saying, "I believe I
saw a faint glow of pink in the arm today". He gave her
permission to work on it for a few days longer. The next
day, about half way through the treatment the nurse, in
her frustration, slapped my arm harder than I had ever seen
her do it before. Then she let out with a shout, "I've got
it, I've got it. Look Groessl, look at the color. We
have circulation going again." When the doctor arrived
he was as elated as we were. I was quite excited, for I
had given up hope of ever using the arm again. Now I
had a chance for at least partial recovery of the arm.

Another week of treatment satisfied me that now it
was safe to make a trip home. The doctor, however, had
other ideas. Finally, in desperation, I told him, '"Doctor,
if you don't let me go home now for a week or two, on one
morning you are going to find my bed empty. I will be
A.W.0.L."

The doctor asked me to go with him to his office. He
was understanding about my wanting to see my family, but
he was more concerned about getting the best possible
results with my arms. He promised that if I would continue
treatment for another two weeks, he would find a way to
get me a pass to go home.

A week passed and the arm was responding beautifully.
Before I could approach the doctor again about going home,
he said to me, "I think I have something that might interest
you. We have just received word from the Treasury Depart-
ment that the 4th Liberty Loan Drive will be starting in
two days and they would like us to send two wounded soldiers
who are able to travel to Cleveland, Ohio. They are to
lend atmosphere on the platforms while public speakers
do the job of selling the bonds. I would like to recommend
you, It will get you out of the hospital for a couple of
weeks, which will do you good. After you return, we will
talk about your going home for a visit with your family
and friends."

I was interested, and I asked the doctor where I
would be going. He said, "You will be in practically
every state and large city east of the Mississippi River."
The wheels in my head started clicking when he said east
of the Mississippi River, Chicago was east of the Missis-
sippi and Chicago was only two hundred miles from home.
One way or another I was going to see my family.
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That afternoon when Marion came to pick me up, I told
her the good news, I would be leaving the hospital the
next day and would be gone for about a month. I figured
two weeks on the Liberty Loan Drive and another two weeks
at home. While Marion was happy about my being able to
get away from the hospital for a while, she said, "A
month from now I won't be here. We leave for Philadelphia
about the middle of October. On your way back to the
hospital you will have to come through Philadelphia. Call
me from the station and I will come down to pick you up.
You can stay with us for a few days." I promised. Then
we drove to her home for a farewell drink.
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CHAPTER NINE
4TH LIBERTY LOAN TOUR

MEET MY BROTHER AND PARENTS OF 1ST DIVISION BOYS

September 25

Bud Everhard and I were driven to the railway
station in Cape May this morning. Tickets to Cleveland
were purchased from the voucher books given to us. These
would be used to provide us with whatever money we might
need for meals and hotel rooms if not provided by the local
Loan Committee., After our arrival in Cleveland, we re-
ported to Liberty Loan Headquarters. There we met wounded
soldiers from other hospitals, as well as several from
Canada and Britain who had been brought here to help put
the Loan over.

Each of us carried a visible war injury. One had a
leg off above the knee, two had an arm off above the elbow,
two wore eye patches over a lost eye, and several like
myself had arms in slings or had to get around with the
aid of crutches. There could be no mistaking the fact that
each of these boys had been where the action was.

September 27

After one day of orientation and the making of
schedules for each of us, we were on our respective ways.
My first stop was Lexington, Kentucky. The train arrived
there about 4:00 in the afternoon. I checked in at Liberty
Loan Headquarters about 15 minutes later and was given a
warm welcome. I was advised that a meeting had been
scheduled for 7:00 PM in an auditorium which held several
thousand people. I would be picked up at my hotel at
6:45 and escorted to the stage by the chairman. There
I would be introduced to the audience by the local judge
who would entertain the crowd until my arrival. The meeting
would then be turned over to me.

"Hold it right there," I said, "Just what do you mean
the meeting will be turned ovéer to me. I am not the speaker,
I'm just here to lend atmosphere for the drive." It took
a great deal of persuasion before I agreed to go along
with their program. They were finally able to convince
me that they had no speaker who was prepared to make a
speech or even give a short talk on the war. I countered
with, "Neither am I prepared, and what's more I have
never given a speech in my life."

I finally gave in on condition that I be taken to my
hotel where I could be alone for the next hour or two to
try to work up a short talk. I know I had a lot of things
I could tell the people about, but I wasn't sure I could
say them in front of an audience.
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At my hotel, the chairman introduced me to the clerk
at the desk and told him to see that I was given anything
I asked for. He then left saying, "I will be back for you
at 6:45", I was tired from the long train ride, and
edgy just thinking about making a speech. I asked the
clerk if I might have dinner served in my room at 6:00
as I wanted to lie down and rest.

A bell boy took my bag to the elevator and in a few
minutes we were in the room. I laid on the bed for 15
minutes trying to collect my thoughts, but the longer I
laid there the more nervous I became. The thought entered
my mind that a good stiff drink would help to settle my
nerves, and give me the courage I now lacked. I called
for the bell boy and when he arrived, I told him I needed
a pint of whiskey. He looked me in the eye and said,
"Soldier, don't you know that no one is allowed to sell
liquor to a man in uniform?" I replied, "So what, when
you get back here with that whiskey I won't be in uniform.
Besides, didn't you hear what the chairman said to the
desk clerk? I was to be given anything that I wanted, and
right now I want whiskey." I was finally able to enlist
his aid with the help of an extra buck.

When the whiskey arrived, I took a stiff drink and
after a few minutes the tension seemed to ease. Dozens
of incidents and experiences began flooding my mind and
I was sure I could remember them for the listeners. Dinner
arrived and I ate most of it. I was afraid that if I ate
more the glow I was feeling might be dulled by the food.

Promptly at 6:45 my phone rang. It was the chairman
and he was waiting in the lobby. I became a bit panicky
about then and I could feel the courage draining out of me.
Another stiff drink, a stick of gum to mask my breath and
I was on my way to the elevator and down to the lobby.

The elevator ride to the lobby was nearly my undoing.
When I stepped out of the elevator on the ground floor,
I was dizzy., I weaved slightly as I approached the desk
where the chairman was waiting. He came forward to meet
me and asked, "Are you all right?" 1 replied, "Just tired
and a bit weak, but I'll be OK." He took me by the arm
and guided me out the door and into a waiting car, which
took us to the auditorium.

The auditorium was filled to capacity. The local
judge who was acting as Master of Ceremonies was on the
stage speaking to the crowd as we walked up the center
aisle. When we reached the stage, the judge paused to
ask me my name and the outfit I had served with in France.
He then introduced me to the assembly by saying, '"This
young soldier left a hospital bed to be here tonight.

He has already given a full measure of devotion to his
country, but he is willing to give more. I can't tell

you people why you should buy Bonds, but I am sure he
can,"
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His words to the crowd did something to me. My
brain seemed to clear, and I began to relax. I suddenly
realized that there wasn't a person out there in the
auditorium that knew me. Not one of them could contra-
dict anything I would say since none of them had been where
I had recently come from,

The words seemed to flow out of my mouth. They seemed
to be stumbling over one another in their haste to be said.
Gradually I seemed to run out of steam. I was tired, and
exhausted. I thanked the people for listening and sat
down. I do remember receiving a hand from the crowd.

After that the Master of Ceremonies, the chairman
and their workers took over the meeting, signing up pledges
for Bonds, and by 10:00 I was back at my hotel. Not much
was said on the way back except that I had given a fine
talk. They would be looking for me in the morning when I
was to be given a report on the amount of Bonds sold.

After I got back to my room, I did a lot of thinking.
The chairman didn't talk very much on the way back, and
he didn't seem too enthused by my talk. It dawned on me that
possibly I had made a fool of myself. I tried to remember
some of the things I said, but could only recall small
portions. I decided that the thing for me to do was to
get out of the city of Lexington as quietly as possible.
Packing my few belongings, I walked out of the hotel.
A cab took me to the railway station where I learned I
had a 40-minute wait for the train back to Cleveland. I
went into the coffee shop for a cup of coffee. The girl
that took my order asked as she placed my coffee before
me, "Aren't you the soldier who spoke at the auditorium
this evening?'" I was now sure that I had made an ass of
myself and replied, '"No ma'am, but she said, "You aren't
kidding me soldier, it was the same voice and the same
arm in a sling. I just want to tell you that you had
many people, including myself, in tears and that you gave
us a picture of war that we won't soon forget."

Many questions later I decided that I had better go
back to my hotel and get a good night's sleep. I was
going to need it for another hard day coming up.

September 28

I entered Liberty Loan headquarters this morning rather
hesitatingly as I had a confession to make. I was not
prepared for what happened when I walked in. The recep-
tionist greeted me with a very pleasant, "Good morning, ,
you are to go right in." I entered the chairman's office
and found not only the chairman, but two newspaper reporters
waiting for me. I was introduced and one of the reporters
commented, "You did a beautiful job last night". The
chairman said, "And I have the facts to prove it. Your
talk last night sold over a quarter of a million dollars
worth of Bonds."
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I couldn't believe my ears, I decided that I still
had a confession to make, and told them bluntly that the
night before I was slightly inebriated and when I talked
it was the liquor doing most of the talking. I could
recall only the first part of the talk. I only hoped
I had not talked foolishly. They looked at me in dis-
belief, and one of the reporters said, "If you were plastered
last night boy, you had better get plastered again this
afternoon, for we have you booked for the same talk at
one of the large manufacturing plants at 2:00.

I objected, saying, "I can't give the same talk be-
cause I don't know what I talked about'", To which he
replied, "Don't let that worry you, we have your entire
talk in shorthand. It is being transcribed right now and
will be ready in a few minutes." When I asked why it was
being transcribed I was told that time was a factor at
some of the industrial plants. While they liked the talk
as it was, it had to be shortened to 45 minutes to meet
with the plants' available time. They wanted to go over
the talk with me to see what I could leave out to meet
the time limit. Once again, I couldn't believe what I
was hearing. "Do you mean to tell me that I talked for
45 minutes?" The reply I got was, "You not only talked
for 45 minutes, you talked for an hour and fifteen minutes.
We are only sorry that we will have to leave out some of
it at the plants. At all other public gatherings we want
you to give the whole story as we have it recorded."

When the transcribed talk was brought in, I looked
at the number of pages and again said, "I can't believe
it". They all had a laugh and the chairman asked, "Do
you think you will be able to give 45 minutes of this
without getting plastered?”" I had to laugh with them.

I spent the next two hours reading and rereading the
transcript, trying to decide which parts to leave out in
order to bring the talk within the alloted time. While
reading what I had said the previous night, a feeling of
well being came over me. I hadn't said anything that
wasn't true, and I had given a straight-forward account
of events and experiences which the public apparently were
anxious to hear.

After the 2:00 talk to over 1000 people at the plant,
I knew that I would never again have to be afraid to get
up in front of a crowd to speak. Pledges that afternoon
were over $100,000.00,

September 29

It was a rat race from here on, but I was beginning
to like it. On to Louisville, Kentucky, the next after-
noon for an outdoor rally in the ball park that evening.
An outdoor rally meant a large crowd, and the bigger the
crowd the more anxious I was to please. I was enjoying
myself for the first time in many months, and we were selling
Bonds. We had pledges of over a million dollars that
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night, and I was a part of it. At the hotel after the rally,
the Louisville chairman asked if I was tired, and I had

to admit that I was.

September 30
This morning I learned that I was free for the day

but had to be in Mount Vernon by noon the following day.
I told the chairman that I had a brother at Camp Taylor,
outside of Louisville whom I hadn't seen in over two
years. He assigned one of his staff to drive me out to
the camp and to wait for me.

We arrived at the camp gate at about 9:00. The guard
at the gate informed me that no one was permitted to enter
or leave the camp. The camp was under heavy quarantine
with the Asian Flu. I asked to speak to the Officer of
the Guard, that it was very important. The guard asked
for my identification or credentials. I showed him my
authorization from the Treasury Department, indicating
that I was a wounded soldier on assignment to the Liberty
Loan Drive, and that I should be shown every courtesy.

With that information, the guard called out, "Officer
of the Guard, Post #1." The guard at post #2 took up the
cry and it continued until it reached the guard house.

In a matter of minutes an officer appeared. Words were
exchanged between he and the guard who pointed at me.
While dressing this morning, my arm felt so good with-
out the sling that I decided to leave it off. I didn't
expect to be very active today. When the officer of the
guard approached me and saw that I was in uniform, he
expected me to snap to attention and to salute. I stood
at attention, but did not salute because I was unable to
raise my right arm to do so. He halted four feet from me
and said rather harshly, '"Soldier, don't you know you
are supposed to salute an officer?" My reply was, "I
do sir, but I am unable to raise my right arm". He apolo-
gized and then courteously tried to tell me that it was
impossible to admit anyone to the camp. Not even parents
who had come to the camp to see their dying sons were
being admitted. I politely advised him that not even the
flu was going to stop me. I was going to see my brother
if I had to go to the top brass, even to the Adjutant
General, by whose orders I was in Louisville., After that
he said he would see what he could do. He made a call from
the phone in the guard's hut. After about five minutes, he
returned to where I was standing and asked me to accompany
him. He advised me that he had called the Regimental ,
Commander who in turn called the Brigade Commander. He
in turn called the Division Commander, who requested that
I be brought to his headquarters. ’

When we arrived at Division Headquarters, the officer
who had brought me strode to where the general was seated
at his desk, stopped, and when the general looked up,
saluted. I remained behind, just inside the door. After
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an exchange of words, the general got to his feet and
walked to where I was standing with his hand outstretched.
I had to offer my left hand.

After we were seated at his desk, I learned that all
of the men in the camp had been civilians three months
before, and the officers were National Guard officers who
had been activated. The Division had been readied for
overseas duty and would be going in another couple of
weeks but for the flu epidemic. Now the hundreds of men
who had died would have to be replaced and trained.

The general was interested in learning what conditions
were like in the war zone, and asked his staff members to
gather around. When they learned that I was from the
First Division, they fired every question in the book at
me., They asked how I was wounded, was the going as rough
as described by reports received back from the front and
did we suffer many casualties?

After about an hour of questions, the general asked
what he could do for me. In no uncertain words, I advised
him that I had come to Camp Taylor to see my brother who
was in the Medical Corps. The general said, "I shouldn't
do this, but for you I will". He ordered one of his aides
to put through a phone call to the Medical Section to locate
my brother. He was to be escorted out of the tightly
restricted area, provided he showed no signs of having
the flu. The general then asked for a volunteer to escort
me to the meeting place.

When my escort and I arrived at the place designated,
I saw my brother Emil standing there with a guard. He
seemed a bit perturbed and had not been told the reason
for coming to this place. When I got to within about 40
feet of him, he recognized me. I will never forget his
greeting. '"How the hell did you manage to get into this
place?" Until that moment he didn't even know that I was
back in the States.

After inquiring about my condition, the latest news
from home and family, and other small talk between brothers,
he told me about conditions in the camp. He said that
according to the best information, the boys were dying
faster than they could be prepared for shipment to their
homes for burial, and that they were stacked up in a
barracks like cordwood. This I am sure was a slight
exaggeration by someone. My brother, Emil, did not come
in contact with the sick or the dying. He and his co-workers
had been working round the clock, preparing drugs and
medication for the sick and dying.

Needless to say, we were very happy to see each
other and we had a satisfying visit. I left him with the
admonition that he take care of himself, since he was in
much greater danger than I had been. He and his guard
returned to their quarters while my escort took me back
to the main gate where my driver was patiently waiting to
take me back to the hotel.
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It had been a satisfying morning. I was happy to
have seen my brother and to know he was well. When I
arrived, I arranged with the driver to see him at head-
quarters after lunch. As I watched him drive off and was
about to enter the hotel, another car pulled up at the
curb. A voice called to me and a man got out of the
car and approached me saying, "I heard you speak at the
ball park last evening and I would like to shake your
hand and tell you that I am very proud to know that we
have people like you'". He shook my hand and before I
could say or do anything he said, '""Have a good time with
this". He returned to his car and his driver whisked
him away before I could even say thank you. He had given
me a twenty dollar bill.

After lunch, I returned to Loan Headquarters. Another
speaking engagement had been planned at another industrial
plant for 4:00. The local committee wanted to get as much
mileage out of me as possible while I was there. The
plant had about 2000 employees and they were eager lis-
teners. I do not know how many bonds were sold or pledges
made at the plant as I was on my way early the next mor-
ning for Mount Vernon.

October 1

Stepping down off the train at Mount Vernon at 11:30,
it looked 1ike the whole town was at the station. A band
struck up a march as a charming young lady stepped up to
me and said, "I am the local chairman, will you please
come with me'"., On the way to her car she said that I
was to have lunch at her home, and that at 1:30 PM I would
be taken to the city park where I would meet the city
officials. The band started down the street, followed

y school children and quite a few of the townspeople.
Flags were flying from every vantage point and the side-
walks were lined with people waving at us as we passed.

The lunch turned out to be my first home-cooked meal
in over two years., Kentucky fried chicken and everything
that goes with it. My hostess showed me the true meaning
of Southern hospitality.

The park was only a short distance from there and
after relaxing for a half hour, we started for the park.
The weather was perfect and we walked the two blocks.

As we neared the park, the band began playing another
march. This continued until we were on the platform,
which was decorated with red, white and blue bunting.

Here the city officials were waiting for us. After intro-
ductions all around, my hostess turned to the assembled
people and after brief comments, introduced me as the
speaker,

I had been informed by my hostess that many of the
townspeople had sons in France and that some had lost
sons over there. As I looked over the crowded park, the
people seemed unusually quiet. I could almost feel the
heartache in the faces of some of these people. That
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afternoon after I had finished my talk, I told my first
white lie of the tour and felt good for having told it,
Before the afternoon was over, I had told several more
white lies.

In all of my talks, I mentioned that I had served
with the First Division, Regular Army. This Division
was made up of enlisted men, many of them from Alabama,
Tennessee, and Kentucky. My Company had been about 30%
from these states. Thus, it wasn't strange that after my
talk, relatives of some of these men came up to me with
tears in their eyes, asking if I knew their son Billy,
John or Herman.

These people were desperate for news of their loved
ones from someone who had been over there with them, I
just couldn't say, "No, I did not know them". That first
white lie came hard, when I said to some, "Yes, I knew
Billy or Joe, and that they were well when I last saw
them,'" and then saw the look of happiness that came into
their faces. It was like a benediction to me. I felt
deep inside me that I had done the right thing. Any hope
that I was able to give them now would help to relieve
the anguish and the uncertainty that each of them were
now experiencing.

What these people did not know, and what I did not
tell them, was that it had been several months since I
had been with the Division and that in those months many
of these boys could have either been wounded or killed in
action. I felt that if any of these people's sons had
been wounded or killed in action, they would hear about
it soon enough,

The First Division had suffered many casualties even
before I left, and I knew it had suffered many more at
Cantigny, Swass, St. Mihiel and other engagements. It
wasn't, however, until the war was over and the Division
was on occupation in Germany that I learned how badly
my Company and the Division had been hurt.

In January of 1919, two months after the Armistice
had been signed on November 11, I wrote a letter to the
Company commander asking about some of the boys I had
known in the Company. The reply I received was written
and signed by the Company clerk. He informed me that my
letter had been turned over to him because the Company
commander I knew had been killed in action. The new
commander did not know any of the old Company members.
The clerk stated that his records showed that of the
original Company of 150 men, 66 were alive, but that my
letter now made it 67. I had been carried on the rolls
as dead of wounds,

Official records of the Division show that 3,742
were killed in action, 16,858 were wounded in action, of
which 1,222 died of their wounds., Another 425 died of
diseases and 124 were listed as missing in action and
presumed dead.
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I spent some time with the mothers and fathers who
had boys over in France, but I couldn't tell white lies
to all of them, only to some of the parents of boys who
were in the First Division since these would be the only
ones I could have known. The Chairman waited patiently
for me to end my visiting and then drove me over to
Broadhead, Kentucky, where I talked again that evening.

Prom this point on it became a nightmare of trains
to catch and engagements to keep; Corbin, Middleton,
Knoxville, Chattanooga, Nashville, Bowling Green, Frankfort,
Covington, Cincinnati, and other stops and talks, and
finally back to Cleveland on October 19,
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CHAPTER TEN
I GO A.w.0.L.

A GRAND HOMECOMING

October 20

I checked in at Cleveland Headquarters this morning
and was told that the reports from all of the cities I
had been in were very good. I was free for the day to rest
up for the climax, which would be the following day,
October 21, in the afternoon and evening. Just as I was
about to leave for my hotel, one of the lady workers came
into the office with a report of some kind. The Chair-
man, after accepting her report, asked her if she would
like the day off. If so, he said, "I will appoint you
to be this young man's escort", pointing to me. She was
to show me the sights of Cleveland and we would be free
until the following afternoon at 2:00 when I was due for
a plant rally.

Not being sure that the young lady was even mildly
interested in spending a lot of time with me, I excused
myself by saying that I wanted to go to my hotel to rest
for an hour or two and, if the young lady would really
care to show me the sights, I would be ready if she would
stop by and pick me up at 2:00.

Alma called for me at 2:00 on the dot,and we set out
to see the city. She was just about my age, good looking
and as I later learned, a college student on loan to the
Liberty Loan Drive.

We had a grand time for several hours wandering around
the town seeing places of interest. We later found our-
selves near the shore of Lake Erie. It reminded me so
much of my home town on Lake Michigan that we sat on the
beach for a long while. I could look over the water and
picture myself at home on the beach.

We walked to a bench and sat there for an hour just
getting to know each other better. We later had dinner at
a downtown restaurant and went to a movie, the first one
I had seen in over a year or more. At about 11:00 Alma
dropped me at my hotel, saying as she left, "I will be
here at 10:00 tomorrow morning. You are in my care for
the rest of your stay in Cleveland." I went to bed tired
but happy. I don't know when I had enjoyed the companion-
ship of another person so much.

October 21

Alma was waiting for me in the lobby when I got there
at 10:00. She was even more charming and beautiful than
I remembered her from the previous day. We saw more of the
town, had lunch at a quiet restaurant and then took a bus
to the industrial plant near the lake for my 2:00 talk,
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There was a large crowd of workers to talk to and by now

I was right at home. It seemed the larger the crowd the
better I liked it. This was my last afternoon rally. I
only had one talk to give at the evening rally and I would
be finished with the drive.

After the talk we went back to the little park by the
lake where we had spent several hours the afternoon
before. We talked about ourselves and our future plans.
Another two hours were spent over dinner sharing the
remaining few hours before the evening rally.

Leaving the restaurant, we headed for the downtown
corner of one of the leading banks where the rally was to
be held. We almost missed the rally. When we got there
the streets and sidewalks were so crowded with people-
that we had to literally fight our way through the crowd.
I don't think we would have made it in time for my talk if
we hadn't asked the help of a policeman. I can't say if it
was because I had a girlfriend on the stand with me or if
it was the size of the crowd, but I was more at ease than
I had been at any time. I wanted this crowd to buy bonds,
and I think I tried harder than I ever had before.

October 22

This morning I learned at headquarters that we had
sold almost a million dollars worth of bonds. I was now
free to return to the hospital at Cape May. My vouchers
for railroad fare, meals and incidentals were ready for me
and my train was scheduled to leave at 4:30 P.M. It was
11:00 A.M. and I hoped that Alma would show up before I
left so that I could tell her how much I had enjoyed her
company, but she was nowhere to be seen. Bidding the
Chairman good-bye, I asked him to give Alma my thanks
for having shown me a good time.

After lunch, I headed for the Union Station to find
out about a train for Chicago. The Chicago train was due
to leave at 4:38, just eight minutes after the train 1
was supposed to take for the East. After checking my bag
in a locker, I made my way back up town.

On my way back to the station, I noticed a large
limousine which had pulled up to the curb. The lady
inside appeared to be motioning to someone on the sidewalk.
A moment later a chauffeur, dressed in a dark uniform and
wearing black leather putties, approached me and said, "I
am sorry to bother you sir, but my employer, Mrs, s
would like to talk to you, will you please step over to
the car?"

The chauffeur's approach had been unexpected and I
missed the name of his employer. I went to the car to see
what the lady wanted to talk to me about. The window
was being turned down as I approached the car and the lady
said, "I was at the rally yesterday afternoon. May I
drive you to wherever you are going?" I informed her that
I was on my way to the Union Station to get a train for
home. "Get in", she said, and I got in.
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In a few minutes we were at the station. I was about
to step out when the lady said, "You would make an old lady
very happy if you would have dinner with me at my home
this evening. You could take a later train home.”" I
thanked her for the kind invitation and said, "I appreciate
your kindness in asking me, and under other circumstances
I would be very happy to accept, but I have not seen my
parents or my family in over two years and right now that
comes before anything else’,

I bought a ticket for Chicago and retrieved my bag
from the locker. It was now about 4:10. In another 28
minutes I would be on a train headed for home and no one
would know. The thought had hardly entered my mind when I
saw Alma running toward me. She had been at Liberty Loan
Headquarters just minutes after I had left there. When
she learned that I had checked out she came to the station.

I didn't want her to know I was not taking the train
East. I was afraid she might inadvertently mention to her
boss that I was on my way to Chicago instead of going back
to the hospital.

The train announcer said, "Passengers for various cities
between Cleveland and Philadelphia, please go to gate
number three", I tried to say good-bye to Alma, but she
said, "I am going to go to the gate with you to say good-
bye". Now I was concerned and had hoped to say good-bye
here and after she left I could walk away from the gate and
wait for my Chicago train.

As we neared gate number three, I noticed the gate
keeper checking tickets as they were held out by the
passengers. A sailor and his girlfriend embraced just as
they reached the gate. The crowds moved around them and
the gate man did not ask to see the sailor's ticket when
he finally went through. I knew now what I, too, was
going to do.

At the gate I put my good left arm around Alma and
she put her arms around my neck. We kissed and then I
rushed through the gate. Looking back, I saw Alma making
her way toward the station entrance. That was the last
time I saw that delightful girl.

I wandered around in the train shed for a few minutes
and headed for the Chicago train on track number five.

Soon the train was underway. I had a seat to myself and
tried to relax. The clickety-click of the wheels reminded
me that every mile was bringing me closer to home. Mental
pictures of my parents and brothers kept flashing through
my mind, and it seemed to me that we would never get there.
After several stops, a gentleman sat down next to me. We
introduced ourselves and talked about the war., He noticed
the gold chevron on my sleeve and inquired about it. He
mentioned that he travelled to Washington D.C. frequently
on business with the War Department, but that he hadn't
seen a similar gold chevron on the forearm. I explained
that it was given to soldiers that had been wounded in action.

105



When the dining car steward came through the cars
announcing dinner, the man in the next seat insisted that
I join him for dinner. During the meal he explained that
the company he represented sold the government many of
its weapons. After returning to our seats, he opened
the briefcase which I noticed earlier he had taken with hinm
to the dining car. He removed from it a Mills Hand Grenade
and asked, "Have you ever seen one of these?'" This one
was not loaded, he said, as he handed it to me to examine.
I had not used the Mills Hand Grenade and told him so.

The only grenades we had to use up until the time I was
wounded were the French grenades with the metal pin on
the top. You had to hit it on the top of your helmet
and get rid of it quickly. He then showed me how the
Mills grenade worked. They were much safer than the ones
we had been using. He then asked, "Would you like an
unloaded Mills grenade for a souvenir?" When I replied,
"Yes'", he said, "I will have one made up for you with a
metal base so that you can use it as a paper weight." I
still have that grenade paper weight on my desk in my
radio room at home.

My travel companion was interesting and the time
passed rapidly. Before I realized it we were in the North-
western station in Chicago. He checked on a train for
Milwaukee for me, and within ten minutes I was headed for
Milwaukee, one step closer to home.

Chicago to Milwaukee took only about an hour. I
impulsively took a cab to my brother Frank's address and
was welcomed into his home where we talked and visited
until the early morning hours.

It was at Frank's home that I got the first real
inkling of what my parents and brothers had been going
through. Their worry about my not only being in danger
and of having been wounded or still worse of not coming
back at all was very real.

It wasn't until very late when Frank's children and
his wife, Helen, had gone to bed that he brought out a
brown envelope with his return address imprint in the
upper left corner and gave it to me. The envelope was
addressed to Private Quiren Groessl, Co. E., 28th Inf.
A.E.F. via New York. The postmark from the Milwaukee
Post Office was June 21, 1918, at 10:00 PM.

Across the front of the envelope, my name was
stamped in red ink, '"Directory Service Given, Cannot
Be Delivered As Addressed, Central Post Office." Another
red ink stamp said, "Return to Writer", and in two places
were the letters M.C. over what appeared to be a date.
But the real shocker came when I turned the envelope over
and found in bold black print, "Deceased, Verified
Casualty Section", Central Records Office, A.M.E.F,

October 23
This morning after a refreshing sleep and a home
cooked breakfast, I took a cab to the United Coal and
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Dock office where my brother Frank was the Office Manager.
I had an hour to wait for the train to Green Bay. Brother
Frank wanted to call home to tell my folks I would be on
the evening train. I persuaded him not to as I wanted to
surprise them. It was against his better judgment, but
he gave in to my wish.

The ride from Milwaukee to Green Bay seemed endless.
After arriving at the Green Bay § Western station, I was
about to get on the train for Algoma when I ran inte Harry
Walker, the conductor whom I had known for several years.
He was surprised to see me and he remarked, "I'll bet your

folks will be glad to see you step off this train". 1
said, "They don't know I'm coming. I want to surprise
them."

Harry excused himself saying he had to pick up his
orders, and I made my way to a seat in the train. My seat
was on the north side of the train and as we neared Algoma
I could hear the Algo a Plywood Company whistle blowing.

I thought to myself, the 5:00 whistle for quitting time.
Then as we rolled past the plant I saw hundreds of the

plant employees standing along side the tracks, shouting

and waving at the train. Now the train had slowed down,

and we were approaching the station. Harry Walker came over
to my seat, as he had on several occasions to visit. He
picked up my bag and walked at my side between me and the
train windows on the station side, but I thought nothing

of it until we were on the train platform.

I heard someone shout, "There he is". A band started
playing and there on the station platform was a large crowd,
with my mother, dad and the two smaller brothers standing
in the front. I recall my mother giving a quick glance
at my arms before she rushed to meet me. I put my arm
around her and kissed her. We held each other close for
a long moment. I heard her whisper, "Thank God you are
home". A firm hand shake with my dad, and I knew he was
glad to see me.

Jim McGowan, an attorney and the Mayor of Algoma,
approached and said, "Welcome home'". He then directed us
along the platform while I said hello to as many as I could
as we passed. At the end of the platform, cars were waiting
to drive us home. As we drove up the streets of Algoma,
with the band in the lead, I was reminded of the parade in
Mount Vernon, Kentucky. I could not resist asking Mayor
McGowan how he knew I was going to be on the train. He
said Harry Walker telegraphed ahead to the Alg ma station
agent from Green Bay. In his message he said "Let the
people know that Algoma's first returning soldier is
on my train".

I don't know how they were able to get the w rd around
in such a short time so as to have the band and the school
children there, and the flags flying, but they did. Shop
keepers and people who couldn't make it to the station lined
the streets waving and shouting. I was deeply touched and
if I could have gone into a corner by myself, I could have
cried with happiness.
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CHAPTER ELEVEN

DISCHARGED FROM SERVICE - JANUARY S5, 1919

October 25

Many of my relatives and friends came to visit.
They brought me clippings from the Milwaukee Journal,
The Press Gazette, The Manitowoc Herald, The Door County
Advocate, and the local papers from months before con-
cerning my capture by the Germans and my escape though
wounded. The clippings were left with me as a keepsake.

Mother showed me one of the few letters she had re-
ceived written for me on June 3 by a Red Cross aid,
Marjorie Talbot. I was in the hospital in Beauvaix,
France, at the time and had been wounded and unable to use
my right arm at the time. Then she showed me another
letter, one that she had written to me on July 5. It
was numbered 19, In it she said that she had received my
letter of June 3 in which I had mentioned that I was
wounded. In her letter she asked how I was wounded and
why I could not use my arm to write. This letter had
been returned to her without explanation and stamped
"Return to Writer".

It wasn't until July 23 that the War Department,
through the Adjutant General's Office at Washington, D.C.,
sent a telegram addressed to my father and which was
received in Algoma at 5:10 PM stating, '"Deeply regret to
inform you that it is officially reported that Private
Quiren Groessl, Infantry, was severely wounded in action
May 27." signed, McCall, The Adjutant General.

My mother said that after receiving that telegram
they were more worried than before. They knew from my
letter of June 3 that I had been in a hospital on June 3
and now this telegram of July 23 could only mean to them
that I had been returned to the fighting and this time
was seriously wounded. They could not believe the Govern-
ment would hold up information for that length of time.

October 28

Had several wonderful days at home visiting old haunts
and friends. The war seemed many miles and years away.
I still had much pain and discomfort from my wound, but
being home made up for it all. I visited with most of the
mothers and fathers of the boys who had enlisted in Company
F and gave them the word that when I had left them they
were well and getting along fine. I had to tell Urban
Kashik's mother and father that when I left the hospital
at Savaheny, Urban was coming along fine. He might be
shipped back to his Company in a couple of weeks, but I
tried to make it appear that he would not be back in the
lines for some time.
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October 30

Today a delegation from the Liberty Loan Committee
from Kewaunee came to see me. Kewaunee County was having
trouble putting the Loan drive over and the county was
still short of its goal. Hearing that I was home, the
committee came to see me to enlist my aid, A well-
publicized meeting was arranged for October 31 at Rubens
Hall in the Belgian area, and a capacity crowd was on
hand. People came forward willingly and pledged to buy
bonds. It was a pleasure to speak to and visit with these
people and again to feel that I was doing something
worthwhile.

However, that was the last speech I made. There
were two trouble spots in the county where the farmers
were of German descent and these people couldn't understand
why they should be buying bonds to help kill their relatives
in Germany. I could appreciate their feelings to a certain
extent.

When the committee drove into the farmyard of one of
the more influential far ers of that area, I was with them.
The committee was going to try to convince this farmer to
buy bonds, and if he did the others would follow suit.

I wasn't prepared f r what followed or the tactics used.

I was first introduced to the farmer as a wounded soldier
who had just come back from France. I felt that in this
case it was the committee's job to sell bonds and not mine.
The committee got to the point where they began using
threats. They told the farmer he would be run out of the
country, and that his home and barn might be burned to the
ground. It was disgusting and I told the committee members
so. I was ashamed that I had gone with them. To think that
American people would turn on their neighbors in this
manner. This to me was extortion or blackmail, and I
refused to be a part of it. I recalled the letters I had
received from my mother months before, telling me of the
whispering campaign in Algoma, and of the horrible ex-
periences my own father had gone through along with other
people of German ancestry. It was hard to believe when

I read it in mother's letters, but here I was seeing it

at first hand. I knew now that it was true; that neighbor
did turn against neighbor.

Several days later I had another similar experience.
A prominent citizen in the community asked the cashier
of the Citizens State Bank to ask me to come over to the
bank. This man wished to talk to me. Prior to this time
I don't think he hardly knew I existed, and I w ndered
why he wanted to talk to me now.

When I arrived at the bank, Mr. Boedecker, the cashier,
directed me to the director's room in the rear of the
building where this man was waiting for me. He sho k
hands with me and asked me to take a chair. Then he said,
"I know that you were wounded fighting for your country
and mine, and I want to do something for you to show my
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gratitude. When you get discharged from the Army and are
back home I would like to set you up in a business, I
will get a building for you, stock it with furniture,
and send you off to school to be a mortician. You can
run your own funeral establishment. How would you like
that?" It nearly floored me. No one had ever made me an
offer like that for any reason. Because it took me so
much by surprise, I told the man that I would have to
think it over since I was not sure when I would be out of
the hospital or the Army, or what I would be able to do
once I was out.

I should have known that there was something wrong with
the offer, for no one makes an offer like that without
a string attached. My delay in not accepting the offer
immediately was evidently unexpected. His real motive
came out in the discussion when he inadvertently said,
"I'1l get that S.0.B. if it's the last thing I do". He
was trying to use me to get even with the local mortician
whose ancestors were German. I left him, feeling very
disgusted with some of my fellow men.

November 8

The stay at home with family and friends was so
enjoyable that I all but forgot time. I should be thinking
about reporting back to the hospital at Cape May. I told
my parents that on the following morning I was going to
Sturgeon Bay to visit with the wives and parents of some of
the boys of Company F.

November 9

Just before boarding the train for Sturgeon Bay,

Harry Walkor came over and said, "There is something big
happening over in France. The telegraph wires are busy
flashing the news, but the agent in the station can't quite
figure it out. It is something about an armistice." I
don't think I had ever heard the word, armistice, before

so it didn't mean much to me either. I got on the train
and was soon in Sturgeon Bay.

My first stop was at the Haen home on the main street,
and I was greeted with hugs and kisses by the girls who
were married to two of the boys from Company F, We had a
nice visit and were just about to sit down for noon luncheon
when all hell broke loose. Whistles started blowing,
church bells ringing and people rushing out into the streets
shouting, "The war is over, the war is over". Soon a band
was marching down the street followed by workers from the
shipyards and hundreds of townspeople. We rushed out onto
the porch to see the excitement. Attorney Bill Wagner saw
me. The parade was temporarily halted and I was hustled
into a car to go down the street in the parade.

Later that afternoon I spoke with some of the mothers
of Company F boys. By now I had nothing much to tell them.
Their fears were dispelled by the news that the war was
over, and the joy was visible in their faces. Little did

110




some of them realize that their joy would turn to sorrow

as the belated casualties lists continued to come in. (I
had been wounded on May 27 and it was not until July 23 that
my parents received a telegram from the War Department.
Captain Ralph Perry of Algoma was killed just a few hours
before the real armistice was signed.) The following

day we learned that the November 9 armistice news was a
false alarm.

November 11

Because of the false alarm, I had the pleasure of
celebrating the real armistice at home with my own family
and friends on November 11. I had gone up town when the
news broke. The whistles started blowing and the bells
ringing. I soon learned that being up town was the wrong
place to be. Wherever I went or whoever I met insisted
that I have a drink with them. I could have gotten drunk
out on the street. Every man I met had a bottle of liquor,
even though our country was supposed to be dry. So after
one or two drinks, I ducked into an alley and headed through
back yards for home. I didn't want to hurt anyone's
feelings by refusing to drink with them, but I knew that
if T stayed around I would soon be drunk.

November 12
After the excitement of yesterday, it dawned on me
that I had been home for 21 days and during all that time
had not notified the hospital where I was. I was still
in the Army and by now had been A.W.0.L. for three weeks.
I went to the railway station and sent a telegram to the
hospital saying, '"Home with my family. Please send me a
30-day furlough." The same day I received a telegram back
saying, "You have ten days to report back to Hospital #11",.
It was more than I had a right to expect, but I had
hoped that they would permit me to spend Thanksgiving with
my family and possibly Christmas. The ten days they gave
me to report back meant that I had to leave home on the
20th of November to get back in the allotted time. If
I wasn't on my way back by the 22nd, they could throw
an A.W.0.L. charge against me and make it stick, for I
was technically A.W.0.L. right now. I wasn't sure what
was in store for me when I did get back, but wasn't about
to tempt fate any further. Whatever they decided to do
to me, my being home with my parents and family had been
worth it.

November 21

I arrived in Philadelphia about 10:00 in the morning
and my train for Cape May would leave at 2:30 PM. I
called a cab and asked the driver to take me to the address
Marion had given me. We drove out of the city and into
the suburbs. He finally pulled up before an estate surrounded
by a high iron fence. The driver stopped at a large gate
which was closed. I got out of the cab and looked through
the gate at the large mansion, and decided that I didn't
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belong there. It was out of my class and I knew I wouldn't
feel comfortable in these surroundings. I asked the driver
to take me back to the railway station. On the way the
driver told me that the Daugherties were one of the
wealthiest families in Philadelphia.

I made my train connection and arrived at the hospital
after 5:00 PM on November 21. Luckily the office was
closed when I arrived. I checked in with the head nurse
who assigned me to my old room for the night, saying, "I
don't know what the 0ld Man will do with you when you
report to him in the morning". At any rate, I missed what
might have been a pretty rough going over that night.

November 22

An orderly awakened me in the morning with the state-
ment, "The 0ld Man wants to see you right away, and I don't
mind telling you he's in a bad mood". I took the elevator
to the ground floor, walked into the Chief's office, stood
at attention and asked, "You wanted to see me, Sir?'" He
glanced up from his paperwork and gave me a cold look,
which said here comes the whole damn book.,

"Groessl'", he barked, "Where the hell have you been
these past four weeks? You were supposed to be back here
on October 21, When you didn't report back, we started
searching for you. We called every large city hospital
between Cleveland and here, and asked every Police Depart-
ment to be on the lookout for you. We were afraid you
had become ill or something had happened to you.'" My
only reply was, "I'm sorry, Sir. After I finished in
Cleveland, an urge came over me to see my family, and I
went home, I thought my therapy doctor would have told
you that I had home on my mind."

That statement softened him up a bit, for his next
remark was, "I don't blame you for wanting to go home,

I might have done the same thing in your position, but
you should have wired us. We did a lot of worrying about
you.'" I could only reply, "I'm sorry, Sir, but I was so
happy to be home that nothing else seemed to matter".
With that he dismissed me saying, "I will want to see you
again after I have talked with your doctor".

Three days later, on November 25 which was Thanks-
giving day, I was again summoned to the Chief's office,
He was in a much better mood and told me that the doctor
found me in much better condition than I would have been
had I not been away from the hospital. The doctor
apparently was on my side. His next words were really
a surprise to me, when he said, "Groessl, you left here on
September 25 and returned on November 23, so you have 60
days of ration money coming to you. I'l1l see that you get
a check for that amount in the next couple of days."
While I didn't want to push my luck, I did blurt out,
"What about my furlough travel expense?'" He looked at me
and grinned, "I'll see that you get travel pay from
Algoma to Cape May, but going from Cleveland to Algoma was
on your own", I left his office feeling that there were
a lot of fine people in the world.

112



December 17

My condition had improved to the point where I was
declared ready for discharge from the service. I was put
in charge of a dozen other convalescents being sent on to
Camp Grant, Illinois. There we were reassigned to the
3rd Convalescent Unit from which we would eventually be
discharged., Every day we expected to hear the good news,
but Christmas came and went and we were still at Camp
Grant. New Years Eve and New Years Day were just as
cheerless and just another day.

January 5, 1919

This was the big day for me, and I was finally given
my discharge from the Army with a 100% disability.

The bayonet that had pierced my neck damaged the Sth
and 6th cervical vertebr e and cut many of the root nerves,
thereby impairing my ability to turn my head from side to
side. The severed trapezius muscle on the right side
caused the shoulder to droop six to eight inches lower than
the left shoulder. The shoulder drop, in turn, caused my
body to lean to the right putting pressure on the sciatic
nerve. This resulted in considerable pain in the right
leg from the hip to the ankle. There was also involvement
of the right arm with functional loss of use other than
slight flexion of the elbow and slight side and forward
motion. The nerves that controlled arms and legs had been
sutured by the French doctor at the French Field Hospital.
They were mending slowly and in time my disability rating
would be greatly reduced according to my recovery.

The doctors all agreed that I would never again be
the strong person I had once been. I could no longer
indulge in body contact sports, golf, bowl, swim or any
of the things that normal, active persons did. From now on
I would have to sit on the bench, alive but often an
unhappy onlooker.

My first stop was Milwaukee, where I took a cab to
my brother Frank's home. There was no train for Green Bay
in the evening and it was after 9:00 PM, so I decided to
spend the night at Frank's home again.

A light was burning in the house so I paid the cab
driver and rang the door bell. When brother Frank saw me
at the door he informed me that the children had small
pox and the house was quarantined.

My cab had already gone, so I asked Frank to call
another for me. I planned to check in at a hotel for the
night. Frank had a better idea. He called the Charles
Beth home two blocks away. The Beths were distant relatives,
but close friends of Frank and his family.

The Beths were most gracious and made me feel at ho e.
We did a lot of talking that evening. The next morning
after breakfast, I took a cab to the station and caught
the train for Green Bay, and from there another train to
Algoma. Thus ended Yy career in Uncle Sam's Army.
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It might be natural to suppose that my handicap
and my constant companion, pain, have soured and embittered
me and perhaps it has some. I don't know what my life
might have been without the disability. I had what was
left of a life to live, and I tried to make the best
possible use of it. I may have been down at times, but I
was never out.

In the years that followed, I adjusted to a certain
way of life. I learned to live with the pain. I found
hobbies that I could enjoy, and have gotten pleasure and
happiness from the things I know I can do and have avoided
the things I should not do.

For the past 25 years of my life, instead of thinking
about golfing, bowling and other strenuous sports, I have
spent much of my time in my radio room, improving my mind
and learning how the other half of the world lives. During
these years, I have made more than 20,000 amateur radio
contacts and many friends in other parts of the world.

Most of all, I have found love and happiness in my
home, in the loving girl who became my bride and the
mother of our children, and in being able to raise a
fine family of whom I am very proud.
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EPILOGUE

November 11, 1968

My one regret at this late date is that I did not
start this diary at the time I had enlisted, instead of
waiting until we were ready to leave Camp McArthur,

Texas. There were many interesting things that happened
while Company F was at Sturgeon Bay, Camp Douglas and

Camp McArthur., I am no longer sure of the order in which
they happened or that I will be able to recall all of them
or even the dates on which they occurred. I will merely
try to summarize them in the order that they come to mind
and not necessarily in the order in which they occurred.

Company F was organized a short time after war was
declared on Germany on April 7, 1917. I was away at
college at the time and joined an Infantry Company at the
school the day war was declared. Each day after school
we would join our Company for close order drill under the
leadership of Forest Polk, one of our shop instructors.

He was a m mber of the local guard. It was voluntary and
we did it just to get familiar with the drill and to learn
what soldiering was all about. There was also satisfaction
in knowing that we were trying, even in this remote way,

to help win the war. We knew that before very long many

of us would either be enlisting or be called to serve. The
more we knew about it, the quicker we would be ready for
whatever lay ahead.

After school left out for the summer vacation, I
returned to Algo a. Company F was then in the process of
being organized and I enlisted on June 29, 1917. Shortly
after that, all of the enlisted men were ordered to report
to the Sturgeon Bay High School for indoctrination and
drill.

Until that first meeting was called, I had only known
the 31 boys and two officers from the Algoma area. One
hundred twenty-two boys and one officer were from Sturgeon
Bay and the towns and farms in the Door County area. Each
one of us had volunteered our services.

That first morning we were met by Captain Watson,
a sergeant and two corporals, all from the Fond du Lac
National Guard Unit. The officers who were later to
command Co pany F were Captain Reynolds of Sturgeon Bay
and First Lieutenant Ralph Perry and Second Lieutenant
Haney Ihlenfeldt of Algoma, but they were still at Officers'’
Training School.

Captain Watson and his three assistants started us
off with the basics of close order drill. This was done at
Arlee's Ball Park, about a mile west of downtown Sturgeon
Bay. They were very considerate of us the first couple
of day, however, they learned by close association that
we were not the tough bunch of lumberjacks we had reported
to be,.
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We had no equipment, no rifles and no uniforms. In
fact, we had no Company mess hall, barracks or even tents
to sleep in. All of that was taken care of by the good
people of Sturgeon Bay who donated cots, couches, blankets
and whatever other sleeping equipment was needed. All
of this was placed in the high school gymnasium where most
of us slept. The boys from Sturgeon Bay stayed at their
own homes for the nights.

The Congretational Church members set up a mess hall
in their basement and the ladies of the church attempted
to feed us. They did a great job of it, but the quarters
were too small and they could not feed 150 men in the time
allotted for the noon meal. About 50 of us were sent over
to the Moeller Hotel for our meals.

After the first half day at the drill field, we were
marched down to the front of the Moeller Hotel where we
were dismissed for the noon meal. The obvious happened.
We were 150 hot, tired and thirsty men and all made a
mad dash for the Moeller Hotel Bar for a beer before lunch.

It took the bartender and his helper quite a while
to serve us that first time, but from then on there was
no waiting for a beer. One hundred fifty beers were waiting
for us on the bar the next day when we were dismissed,
and every day thereafter. I don't think the bar ever lost
a single dime on the whole bunch,

We were allowed just one hour for our lunch period
which meant that we had to eat and be back inside the
ball park ready to start drilling when the hour was up.

At that time, we had a lot of respect for Captain Watson
and his staff. To us, they were Army men and acted like
Army men. To us green recruits, it meant strict obedience
and no goofing off while drilling. We were, however, still
a bunch of young kids who had no idea of the serious step
we had taken when we enlisted.

All of us were caught up in the frenzied excitement,
the speech-making and we wanted to do as much as the next
one to help win the war. We had no idea of what war was

all about. All we could see were the marching men, the
bands playing martial music, and the flags flying in the
breeze. We were all engulfed in a form of hypnosis. We

believed that we were the ones who would have to win the
war., There was no thought of hardships or long, forced
marches with packs strapped to our backs made heavier by
the never-ending rains. There were no thoughts of sleeping
as best we could in wet clothing night after night, huddled
in the corner of a barn if we were lucky, or in the corner
of a trench, under constant shell fire and the ever

present fear of death.

It didn't occur to us that we might be wounded or
killed by enemy fire, or that perhaps some of us would
never come back. We did not stop to think that the Germans
had been planning for this war for many years before they
started it. And they did not start it until they thought
they were ready to overcome any and every obstacle, to win
even if it meant sinking American ships and engaging us in
that war.
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We knew absolutely nothing about war except the glam-
orous things we had read about in our history books, which
made war seem so simple and easy. We never thought to count
the cost, or that we could not win without sacrifice and
suffering. We just knew that our enthusiasm would bring
us through victorious, and that in a few short months we
would all be coming back home again as heroes.

So it was that each day we lived for the present as a
bunch of very happy boys. Each of us tried to be the first
one back inside the ball park. Not because we were so
anxious to c¢ ntinue drilling, but to grab a paddle which
some of the gang had made, and to whack the others on the
seat of the pants as they came through the gate. The
first ones got only a wha k or two, but the last ones had
to run a gauntlet of about 100 guys.

One day s me of the gang got back to 'the park ahead
of the others. As we came through the gate, we were
grabbed and thrown to the ground and held there while another
fellow with a p ir of cli pers clipped a swath down the
center of the head. The , like a sheared sheep, we were
released and all wed to run. After each one was released
he joined i1n the fun a d helped to hold the next one down
until he, t o, was sh rn of his locks. Eventually, every-
one in the C a y hdd the rest of his head clipped by the
barber downt

Company F tr 1 ed five days a week. Over the weekend
we were allowed to go h me as long as we were back on the
drill field o M day orning. After one of these weekends,
we nearly lost the privilege of going home. On this
particular Mo day orni g, the Company had fallen in and
had been order d to execute a squads right. The entire
Company, with the exception of one squad, went right. This
one squad went half right and half left. Captain Reynolds,
who had return d ro Officers' Training and was now in
charge, quickly called the Company to a halt and briskly
walked over to the squ d that was in disarray. He stood
directly in front of one of the men who was still suffering
from a hangover and barked, "Kinderman, you are drunk". Poor
Gus tried his best to focus his eyes on the Captain and
replied, "Captain, you should have seen me yesterday". Gus
was escorted to th gy nasium where he was permitted to
sleep it off,

On August 15, Co pany F was notified that we would
entrain for C p Douglas, Wisconsin, on August 17. On
the night of A gust 16 the Poulous brothers who operated
a restaurant in Sturgeon Bay, gave a going away banquet for
all of the mem ers of Company F. The banquet was nice and
we all enjoyed it. So e of the boys craved more excite-
ment, however, and wanted to have a last fling before
leaving Sturgeon Bay.

Joseph Jindra, one of the Company F boys, had brought
his dad's new car to Sturgeon Bay for the evening. After
the banquet, he and four of his pals decided to live it up
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before departing for Camp Douglas the next morning. I

am not sure what happened, but can quite accurately guess
it. They stopped at several saloons and had a few drinks
in each place. Most of these were free because they were
with Company F. It was inevitable what happened. Joe was
normally a reliable driver. His mind somewhat fuzzy from
liquor, he listened to the urging of his pals to drive
faster so they could get to the next saloon. This added
up to disaster. The car hit the ditch and rolled over
several times, throwing the five boys out of the once new
car.

The next morning one of the boys who had been with
Joe was carried onto the train on a stretcher and another
made it with the aid of a pair of crutches. The other
three, although bruised and sore, were all able to make it
under their own power. )

The morning of August 17 dawned bright and clear., It
was a beautiful morning, the sun was shining and just about
everyone in Sturgeon Bay and the northern part of Door
County was gathered at the Green Bay § Western station to
see Company F off., We marched briskly behind the Sturgeon
Bay band, from Market Square to the station where a train
of empty coaches awaited us.

It was a time of intense emotion as the Company was
brought to a halt beside the station, Mothers, wives and
sweethearts as well as fathers and brothers were gathered
there to say their jood-bye's. They were looking beyond
the clear skies and flying flags. In their own hearts
they were seeing their loved ones leaving for unknown
places and the horrors of what lay ahead of their boys
on a foreign battlefield.

After the tears, the farewells and the best wishes from
everyone gathered there, the command to entrain was given.
In less than five minutes at 6:15 AM, everyone was on board
and the train, consisting of four coaches and a baggage
car left Sturgeon Bay bound for Algoma. Here the Algoma
boys had to go through the same emotions we had witnessed
at Sturgeon Bay.

Algoma mothers, wives and sweethearts were no different
than those at Sturgeon Bay. Tears were shed and we were
embraced. We were embarrassed for we could only see the
grand adventure ahead, and not the reality our mothers and
families were seeing. After the last good-bye's were said
and the train was again underway, there was a long period
of subdued talk. By the time the train passed through
Casco, all of our troubles and sadness were behind us and
we were the same jolly bunch of kids off on a grand, new
adventure.

At 2:00 PM our train pulled into Camp Douglas. For
the next couple of hours we were busy setting up tents
and trying to make a Company street on a piece of land that
had been a pasture., But, we made it.
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That evening Company F had its first taste of battle.
Several of the other Companies that had arrived at camp
a day or two before us decided to initiate Company F by
cutting tent ropes and laughing at us as the tents fell
in. This was to be our first experience sleeping in tents.
We noticed the activity in some of the neighboring
Companies and decided that something was afoot.
a couple of guards to walk the Company street,
been advised by our Company commander.

After taps had blown and all lights were out, the
Company was supposedly in bed. Our guards spotted slinking
figures between the tents of the other Companies slowly
making their way toward us. The guards quietly opened
the flaps of our tents and warned us as they continued
their patrol. We were ready for them when they made their
dash to our street. A free-for-all ensued and we were
able to drive them off without a single tent rope having
been cut. The next morning we were issued uniforms which
we were mighty proud to wear, especially after the previous
night's battle. From then on we were a part of the
Fighting Fifth,

Our stay at Camp Douglas was uneventful except for the
one Sunday when our mothers, fathers, wives and sweethearts
hired a special train and made an excursion trip to Camp
Douglas to spend the day with us. This was just prior to
our leaving for another camp, and it was the last time
that some of our boys saw their loved ones,.

On October 22 we left Camp Douglas for Camp McArthur,
Texas. Our stay at Camp McArthur saw a big change for us.
Company F was disbanded and many of us went to Company G
to fill up this Company. Some of the other Company F

boys went to a machine gun outfit and one or two went to
the Regimental Band. On February 2 our Batallion left
Camp McArthur, Texas, for Camp Merritt, New Jersey.

There was no question now in any of our minds as to where
the next stop would be.

We posted
as we had
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SEQUEL

On the 10th anniversary of America's entry into
World War I, the American Legion held its 9th annual
convention in Paris, France, during the week of September 19,
1927. This pilgrimage of the American Legion to France
represented the largest movement of people motivated by
a common cause which the world had ever known during time
of peace.

There were good reasons why I was among those attend-
ing this convention. Had I known in advance, however,
what was in store for me, I might never have gone. After
having worked hard during the months of May, June and July,
1927, studying for my Pharmacy License, and after passing
the examination, I was badly in need of a rest. I hadn't
missed a National Legion Convention since 1922 and didn't
want to miss the annual reunion with my old buddy, Floyd
Gibbons. He was now the Foreign Director of the Chicago
Tribune in Paris and Berlin. Our reunion was a one-day
affair held each year during the National Legion Conven-
tion. We used this one day reminiscing about the days we
spent together in old Ward #160 in the American Red Cross
Hospital in Neuilly, outside of Paris. Incidentally,
we also bent a few elbows during the reunion.

There were other good reasons for attending the Con-
vention. During the war I had only seen Paris from a
troop train as we passed through the outskirts of the city
on our way to the front, and a second time from the window
of American Red Cross Hospital #I. Now I wanted to see
Paris under different circumstances, and in my own way.

However, there was another underlying motive. I
wanted to visit the graves of some of the boys I had
served with who hadn't come back, and I also wanted to
visit the battle fields, especially the one where I had
been wounded.

Prior to sailing for France, I had written Floyd
Gibbons telling him I was coming and also sending him the
names of the cemetaries and battle fields I wanted to
visit., He not only had the complete itinerary planned,
but he also had arranged for a car and a driver. Luciene
had been a driver for the French High Command during the
war and knew every road and crossroad along the battle
fronts.

I had promised my youngest brother, Joe, who was in
his senior year in journalism at Marquette University that
I would take him along to the convention. On the boat
to France I met George Carey of Beloit, Wisconsin, Lawrence
Collins of Everette, Washington, and Dr. Bernstein of
Cresson, Pennsylvania. All of them had served in my
batallion, the 28th Infantry Batallion, and had been on
the same fronts. When they heard of my plans to visit
the battle fronts, they all begged to be included. I
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promised to do so if I could get a car large enough to
accomodate all of us, including Luciene Chasseuing, our
driver. This was no problem. Gibbons merely asked for
a larger car and it was ours.

The day the convention ended, Luciene picked us up
at our hotels and by 6:30 AM we were on our way. There
were many places we wanted to visit and we were not able
to cover more than two fronts in a day. This included
villages, battle fields and cemeteries where our boys
were buried.

At each cemetery we checked the rosters of the Com-
panies that each of us had served in and then went to visit
the graves of each of the boys we had known, to say a
silent prayer at each and to take a picture of the graves.

On the last day of our tour, we drove to the village
of Rouquencourt, the last village I had been in before I
was wounded. Our first stop was at the crossroad where
the battle-scarred, life-sized crucifix was still standing,
minus the telephone and signal corps wires that had been
fastened to it during the war., The ravages were still
clearly visible.

We were given a royal welcome by the villagers after
Luciene told them we were Americans who had lived and
fought in their village. I visited my old root cellar
and the old church up on the hill where I had stood
guard on the highway which passed there. Then we went
up the road leading to what had been the front lines.

After about two miles of driving, I asked Luciene
to stop the car and I got out. I told the other guys,
including my brother Joe, that I was near familiar
territory and that I wanted to feel my way across the field
to where I had been wounded ten years before. I asked them
to stay about 100 yards behind, as I wanted to concentrate
on landmarks and I didn't want to be disturbed by their
talking.

After a short walk, I saw the patch of trees I was
looking for and I knew I was getting close to where our
trenches had been and to where I had been wounded. As
I continued to walk across the field toward the trees,

I felt a strange sensation and a sense of excitement come
over me. It was so real, I was trembling. Just as I was
about to walk past the cluster of trees a Frenchman came
dashing out of the trees toward me, waving his arms and
shouting, '"Parte tout suite'" which in any language means
"get out of there fast". He grabbed me by the arm and
tried to pull me into the trees. I knew what he had said,
but could not understand why he wanted me to leave the
field. Before I could shake myself loose, I knew. A
terrific explosion rent the air a short distance in front
of me and even before I felt the ground tremble I was
flat on my belly on the ground. At that moment the war
was still on and the Germans were still shelling us.
While I didn't hear the shrill whistle of approaching
shells, I could hear bees buzzing overhead from flying
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Entrance to root cellar used by my squad, Home zbove was entirely
rebuilt after the war. (Photo taken in 1927)




shrapnel, and a second later I saw and heard something
hit the ground just in front of me. Without stopping to
think, I reached out to pick up the object and burned the
inside of my hand and fingers from the still white, hot
piece of metal.

By then Luciene, my brother Joe, and the other men
were beside us. The Frenchman, through Luciene, told us
that he was a demolition engineer. He and his assistants
had been working this field for some time, searching for
unexploded shells. They had just filled a shell hole
with them, covered them with dirt, set a fuse and 1lit it
as I appeared on the scene. He had dashed from his shelter
in the trees to try to stop me from walking right into
the explosion. Talk about a "big moment". This was it,
nearly getting killed on almost the exact spot where I
had been wounded ten years before.

After dressing my hand with ointment, the Frenchman
accompanied us to what remained of the trenches where we
looked for souvenirs. We were cautioned not to pick up
anything until he had first examined it to make sure it
was not booby trapped.

Each of us managed to find a souvenir, but brother
Joe found one that he might not have lived to show his
friends back home. He saw a small egg-shaped object
lying half buried in the dirt near the trench. In his
excitement, hé forgot the Frenchman's warning, picked it
up and called over to us, "Look what I found". The French-
man was visibly shaken, and when I saw what Joe had in his
hand, I was really frightened. Using Luciene as an in-
terpreter, he told Joe to stand perfectly still and not
to move his arm. From the expression on Joe's face, 1
knew that now he, too, was frightened.

The Frenchman slowly walked up to Joe, gently removed
the object from his hand and told him to walk to where
we were standing, paralyzed with fear. He threw the object
far away from where we were standing and fell flat on the
ground. As the object hit the ground, it exploded. Joe
had picked up a German hand grenade which evidently had
been thrown but had failed to explode.

By now I realized that we had been tempting fate. 1I'd
had enough for one day. I wanted to get out of there as
quickly as possible and said to the others, "Let's get
the hell out of here before one of us does get killed".

We thanked the Frenchman for all he had done and
headed back to Paris. We stopped along the way to get a

picture of my old hospital in Beauvaix, which is now a
school.
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